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Guest | February 21st, 2003, 2:51 am | link | filter

Hello everyone,

Some time ago I began to study The Annotated Erdnase which I found quite
fascinating. However, I soon delayed my study of Erdnase and began
reading the Card College volumes.

Now I'm ready to resume my study of "The Expert". My question is how
does one properly study Erdnase? Should I start with the Legerdemain
section or Card Table Artifice?

Are there certain moves that are best studied from other sources? Are there
sleights that are too inferior? Any help would be greatly appreciated!

Roberto

Lance Pierce | February 21st, 2003, 7:08 am | link | filter

The Expert At The Card Table is a singular book.

Start at page 1; progress to the back cover. Then...start at page 1 again.
Repeat periodically for the rest of your life.

Cheers,

Lance

Jon Racherbaumer | February 21st, 2003, 10:36 am | link | filter

I agree with Lance on this one. Some books must be "lived with" over an
extended period. This being said, I've seldom run across any essays on
WHY Erdnase is a book worth studying--at least none with cogent,
explanatory force.
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THE ANNOTATED ERDNASE, by example, shows the fruits of various
studies, providing interesting and useful marginalia and footnotes. But there
is nothing equivalent to lit-crit books found in Literature.

Are you up for it, Lance? Darwin?

Anybody?

Onward...

Lance Pierce | February 21st, 2003, 11:42 am | link | filter

I'm probably not up to it, Jon. Darwin would indeed do a wonderful job
with it, as would Steve Freeman or Persi. I'm sure Max would also (as is his
usual style!) give us some great insights.

All T can say is that if the book is read and absorbed over a period of time,
and 1f what it says is compared with one's own experience as he grows and
learns, then it will reveal itself to be much more than a collection of
techniques and artifices. Within the pages is embodied an entire philosophy
of conduct and manner, a cogent and complete system of thinking about
magic and its related fields. Far beyond the wonderful moves contained
therein, what the book gives us is an approach, a style, and a guidebook
toward really understanding not only the inner workings and mechanisms of
sleight of hand, but its psychology and practice as well -- and because of
this, much of what it has to say goes way beyond the field of card work
alone. Sometimes it seems almost as though everything every great
magician has said about performance and execution is already there in the
pages of this book, concisely stated and well-phrased.

But of courseyou already knew all this! ;)

I.-
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Richard Kaufman | February 21st, 2003, 2:01 pm | link | filter

mrmagik, don't waste your time with all of the oddball passes in the book. I
have never seen a single person do an invisible SWE Shift or Open Shift.
Never.

Jon Racherbaumer | February 21st, 2003, 2:46 pm | link | filter

I agree with you, Lance, which makes the question of Erdnase's real identity
that much more puzzling; however, I think that David Alexander has taken
this into account and may be closer to finding the REAL Erdnase.

Onward...

Jason England | February 21st, 2003, 4:21 pm | link | filter

Originally posted by Richard Kaufman:

mrmagik, don't waste your time with all of the oddball passes in
the book. I have never seen a single person do an invisible SWE
Shift or Open Shift. Never.

Therefore they have nothing to teach? Hmmmm. I've never seen anyone do
an invisible top change, should we throw that one out as well?

Isaac Newton's PRINCIPIA was shown to be "wrong" by Einstein in the
early 20th century. Does that make studying the PRINCIPIA a worthless
endeavor? Of course not.

Obviously, I heartily disagree with Richard's position. Mrmagik, please,
please spend some time on the SWE shift, and on the Open Shift. They both
have loads of information in them, even if they ultimately never become
"invisible". Erdnase himself admitted that the Open shift is imperfect, and
in the "Artifice" section of the book stated that "The shift has yet to be
invented ...that can be executed with the hands held stationary and not show
that some manuever has taken place, however cleverly it may be
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performed."

But I don't think that these two admissions make the study of the SWE and
the Open shifts a "waste of time". They just mean you have to practice and
study them with goals other than complete invisibility in mind. Like maybe
making a tiny little connection to our past masters, and the struggles they
went through in trying to create the perfect shift? Just a thought.

Jason England

Richard Kaufman | February 21st, 2003, 5:54 pm | link | filter

You'll find a sharp division in our field over whether some of the moves in
Erdnase have any value or not. I have seen the best in the world do the
SWE Shift, and not a single person has ever performed it where it was
deceptive to me. Where, in other words, I didn't SEE, actually see, that a
pass occurred. Why waste time studying sleights that you'll never use? No
one really has enough time to study the sleights you WILL use in the depth
they should be studied and practiced.

I might add that I'm pleased to have Jason England on this Forum. I had the
pleasure of spending a few minutes with him at the Magic Castle last
November (December?) and he did some very fine work. One thing in
particular stands out, which you'll all get to see if the original credit
sequence in the movie "Shade" is retained.

Steve V | February 21st, 2003, 7:23 pm | link | filter

Am I the only one who believes Erdnase was a compilation of idea's put
together by a handful of card workers rather than one super genius?
Steve V

Jason England | February 21st, 2003, 9:24 pm | link | filter

[QUOTE]Originally posted by Richard Kaufman:
[QB]You'll find a sharp division in our field over whether some of the
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moves in Erdnase have any value or not. I have seen the best in the world
do the SWE Shift, and not a single person has ever performed it where it
was deceptive to me.[QB]

Well, I agree with you that the passes are probably never going to be made
fast enough to fool the eyes. But I just think there may be something to gain
by studying them anyway.

I don't always measure the utility of a sleight by whether or not I "use" it in
my work. And, I've learned to be careful about saying that something can't
be done, just because it hasn't been done yet. There was a time when the
center deal was thought impossible by a large segment of the top magicians
of the day. Today, I could probably name at least 10 people that I know that
can do a deceptive center deal.

Who knows, maybe mrmagick will be the one to get the SWE shift down
under a 10th of a second or so. I think at that speed it would be a viable
move indeed, although still an esoteric one.

Thank you for the compliments about my work Richard. You probably don't
know it, but you're partly responsible for me being into magic. The
SECRETS OF BROTHER JOHN HAMMAN was the first book I ever
bought.

Jason

Guest | February 22nd, 2003, 4:33 am | link | filter

Originally posted by Richard Kaufman:

mrmagik, don't waste your time with all of the oddball passes in
the book. I have never seen a single person do an invisible SWE
Shift or Open Shift. Never.

What about Freeman?
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Best,

Geoff

Guest | February 22nd, 2003, 5:41 am | link | filter

Erdnase, hmmmmm.

I recently came upon a use for one of the aforementioned exotic
shifts/passes, at least all those hours practicing weren't completely
squandered. Rather than write of it here, I think I'd rather fool you with it, at
least for a moment or two -- should our paths cross and there's the
opportunity of course.

An unsolicited Tip:

Don't overlook the other top palm, in spite of the fact that Vernon scorned
it, and Ortiz chose silence.

Richard Kaufman | February 22nd, 2003, 8:04 am | link | filter

I didn't say anything about the palms in Erdnase: I know several top notch
guys who use them all the time.

And, I didn't say there were no uses for the SWE Shift, for example. Not
only is Kenner's "SWE Elevator" in Out of Control a good example of that,
but Tom Franks has a lovely move using the SWE shift for a face-up card
revelation.

I have seen Freeman do the move: visible.

I have seen Riser do the move: visible.

I have seen Miller do the move: visible.

I have seen Dingle do the move: less visible, but still visible.

Of course, if we go with the idea that the SWE Shift is a move designed for
standup or platform use, then of course it would be done during a body turn.
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Then it WOULD most likely be invisible, and it's a good shift for platform
work because there's no dip which would be visible from beneath.

David Alexander | February 22nd, 2003, 9:58 am | link | filter

Originally posted by Steve V:
"Am I the only one who believes Erdnase was a compilation of idea's put
together by a handful of card workers rather than one super genius?"

Yes, Steve, probably. The "voice" one reads in the Artifice half of Erdnase
is of a piece and comes from a writer who has had long practice at
expressing himself through writing. The author is also highly skilled at
problem solving and articulating his solutions in a clear and unambiguous
manner. There is no evidence of an editor at work. The work would be quite
different if an editor had had a hand in it.

It is also important to realize that the book was written over a period of
time, doubtless years, as Erdnase worked out the various problems he set
for himself, gathered information from card sharps and hustlers by
observation and trading, and set down his insights as they developed.

See my article in the January 2000 Genii for my take on the Erdnase
mystery. Richard generously gave me the space I needed.

Lance Pierce | February 22nd, 2003, 8:34 pm | link | filter

Yeah, Im with Mr. Alexander. While Erdnase didn't claim that absolutely
everything in the book was his, he did state that he claims "originality for
the particular manner of accomplishing many of the manoeuvres [sic]
described." This implies that while some sleights are cited as wholly
original, those that arent are likely original variations of existing sleights in
his day. Erdnase demonstrated a habit of identifying those methods that
were in common use at the time, such as the information he imparted on
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forcing, back-palming, and top changes. In fact, of the six two-handed
transformations he describes, he unequivocally claims credit for only one.

We have to come to the most reasonable conclusions we can. In the section
on Card Table Artifice, Erdnase writes, "...as certain artifices are first
disclosed in this work, so will others remain private property as long as the
originators are so disposed." This strongly indicates that the material he
gives is for the most part his, but it also leaves open the possibility that
some may have been methods in the public domain (as only certain artifices
are being disclosed for the very first time). Further conviction is lent in the
very next sentence, where he writes, "We betray no confidences in
publishing this book, having only ourselves to thank for what we know." Its
possible that by the words, "this work," and "this book," he means the
section on Artifice, or it may mean the entire book, but either way, if we can
take him at his word (and I'm not sure why we wouldn't), then the material
is indeed original with him or are variations original with him -- with the
exception of those he clearly identifies as being in common use at the time
(i.e. the stock shuffle).

As improbable as it might seem to some, the unified "voice" that David
speaks of...the writing style and manner...the tone of the overall work
combined with the information imparted...it all supports the "super genius"
theory more than others. Im willing to accept the notion that Erdnase was,
like some others before and after him, a prodigy, and one who had both the
talent and insight to not only learn a craft, but change it forever.

Cheers,

Lance

Guest | February 24th, 2003, 11:55 am | link | filter

I realize that the passes in EATCT are not often seen and my comment
regarding them wasn't to be confused with my tip on the top palm.
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While I know of several cardmen that use the top palm number one, I am
not aware of anyone using number two. Some are not even aware that there
are two. [ attribute this to the fact that Vernon in print didn't like it at all,
and Ortiz doesn't give it a so much as a mention. The fact that number two
is at least as good as number one (for my use at least), either the fellas didn't
understand it (highly unlikely perhaps), or, they felt it didn't warrant
additional commentary. I disagree heartily with that second alternative and
in Vernon's case at least, I truly think he misunderstood the move due to his
abhorence of it in comparison to the first.

Richard Kaufman | February 24th, 2003, 7:05 pm | link | filter

If I'm not mistaken, Earl Nelson uses the second top palm and does it
beautifully. Actually, I might be remembering him performing a palm from
the center with the deck is pivoted away from the hand. Can't remember
exactly, but he does it extremely well.

Guest | February 24th, 2003, 9:38 pm | link | filter

During my study of Erdnase I have noticed one issue being tackled a
number of times by the author(s). That being the elimination of space and
movement during a secret action. I think the underlying motivation for the
number and variety of sleights spirals out from that central theme. Every
sleight is a lesson. You don't need to be able to perform an invisble SWE
shift for the lesson to be valuable. It speaks of accomplishing the action in a
small space. The one handed shift is the same lesson approached from a
different angle. Each for an entirely different purpose. The one handed shift
is decribed in the Card-table artifice section and the SWE in the
Legerdemain section. Erdnase seems plauged by wasted movements the
majority of sleights incorporated at that time.

He is searching for answers, the same answers we seek today.

Asking the question is the most important part.

Charlie Chang | February 25th, 2003, 1:36 am | link | filter
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SW Erdnase's book is more than a rite of passage for aspiring card workers.
Almost every item in the book has been thoroughly thought out and
presented in a clear, concise manner.

Every sleight is mechanically beautiful by design and, more often than not,
thoroughly practical and deceptive in practise.

There are exceptions, the most commonly mentioned being the SWE shift.
There are very few places for this shift in modern conjuring but that does
not mean that it should not be studied and its lessons learned.

Richard Kaufman is an advocate of invisible shifts. He is also one of the
world's finest exponent of this branch of our art. That said, an invisible shift
is often quite different to an IMPERCEPTIBLE shift.

A pass, like a top change, was not originally conceived as a move to be
stared at during is execution. Personally, I feel that the audience's attention
should never be directed towards the deck during a sleight.

Often an invivsible pass is made under cover of another action - a cover.
While the audience does not see the shift, they see the covering action. I am
not saying this is bad I simply believe that a silent pass under proper
misdirection is much, much better. Here the audience is aware of nothing.
Strangely, this is the pass advocated by Malini, Vernon, Liepzig, Walton,
Ramsay, Galloway and Hofzinser to name just a few.

The SWE Shift is not a cheating move. It is a conjuror's shift (as clearly
stated in the opening paragraph). It could easily be argued that this shift was
designed for parlour magic rather than close up.

In actual fact, once the shift has been mastered, the shift has several uses,
one of which is mentioned in Vernon's Revelations.

Most important is the lesson to be learned from this shift. Perfecting its
actions teaches a great deal. Performing this sleight well (either slowly or at
speed) takes more than mere skill, it requires the student to UNDERSTAND



the shift and learn it properly.

Erdnase is packed with great material for the card magician. The palms are
excellent, the shifts intriguing and the effects are timeless.

Every time I return to this book I am drawn back into it's pages like a miser
opening his money box.

I say every student of card magic should have this book on his agenda (after
Royal Road, Vernon's Inner Secrets and Card College). As Lance Pierce
stated, Erdnase is a life-long commitment.

Back to the SWE shift. RK says he has never seen this performed invisibly.
I have. I watched this performed and never saw the packets exchange. This
was during a lengthy session with a friend (a session stretched over several
months as we explored Erdnase together). He got the action just right and it
was great. Dare I say I even hit it a few times myself but damn if it isn't
elusive.

RK mentions several people who he saw do the shift and none were
completely invisible. I too have seen many people attempt the shift and
none were completely invisible unless they used a cover action (raising the
hands, spreading the cards as the shift is made or ending with a different
shaped deck at a different angle - all of which were great to see).

That said, I would like to point out that almost no one I have seen has
performed the shift correctly - as described in the book. Everyone
(including Steve Freeman on the Vernon tapes) has made some sort of
adjustment and almost everyone STARTS IN THE WRONG POSITION.

So the chances are that while you may not have seen this shift performed
invisibly you probably haven't even seen it executed properly. All of which
is moot since I believe it was never intended to be invisible, simply fast,
silent and performed at the correct MOMENT.

End Rant.



Richard Kaufman | February 25th, 2003, 8:24 am | link | filter

A fine essay from Mr. Wilson, who demonstrated a very mean Spread Pass
in Ohio.

What I really want to add is that there is no reason to waste time learning
sleights that you will probably never use. Few of us have enough time to
practice the sleights we will use!

Spending time learning the SWE Shift and the Open Shift is not the BEST
way you can spend your practice time: spending that same time learning a
Riffle or Classic Pass, or The Diagonal Palm Shift, is time MUCH
BETTER SPENT because you WILL use those sleights a LOT once you've
mastered them.

End of MY rant. :)

Pete Biro | February 25th, 2003, 9:48 am | link | filter

Being a "shiftless" soul... I like crimps, corner shorts and resin
(Koornwinder Kard Kontrol). Not to say that I don't admire those shiftier
than I, it is just something I never really got into.

It's a whole different sport.

Fine sleight-of-hand card magic is like baseball is to football.

Bill Duncan | February 25th, 2003, 6:18 pm | link | filter

Is there anything in Erdnase to rival the Diagonal Palm Shift? In my
(admittedly limited) time with EATCT I have not found anything so
profoundly well constructed.

It almost defies understanding at first and is almost completely counter
intuitive yet it is the most amazingly direct way to get a card out of the deck
without tipping the steal.
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An engineering marvel...

Also, does anyone use the Arthur Finley variant from the Vernon
Chronicles?

Richard Kaufman | February 25th, 2003, 6:36 pm | link | filter

Vernon taught me the Finley Variant--Vernon did it superbly. If I recall, the
end result is entirely different since the card ends up in Gambler's Palm in
the right hand rather than full palm in the left hand.

Lance Pierce | February 25th, 2003, 7:34 pm | link | filter

Actually, according to Volume I of The Lost Inner Secrets, the card goes
into a full classic palm rather than a gamblers palm. In looking at the
mechanics, Im not sure how one would get the card into gamblers palmthis
will make an interesting exercise to try and solve

Many thanks to RP and Jay for their observations (as well as the rest, of
course).

Cheers!

Lance :D

Richard Kaufman | February 25th, 2003, 8:57 pm | link | filter

Lance, after that volume of the Vernon book appeared, I explained to Minch
that the description did not jibe with what Vernon had shown me. I believe
Stephen then described it with the gambler's palm (NOT COP!) in a
subsequent volume in the series.

Ah--I now recall that the sleight put the card into right-hand gambler's palm
and that the right hand immediately moved to the left inner elbow to tug
upward at the sleeve.
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Bill Duncan | February 25th, 2003, 9:24 pm | link | filter

Richard, does this sound right?

I seem to recall Minch telling me that Mr. Finley had used a full classic
palm but that Vernon used the Gambler's palm which he considered a better
concealment.

Another minor example of "The Vernon Touch" making a very good thing
into a very great thing.

Sean Piper | February 26th, 2003, 12:50 am | link | filter

Speaking of the SWE Shift...

Has anyone tried the Block Cover variation as mentioned by Chris Kenner
in Out of Control?

Sound as though it would shade the move well, but having trouble figuring
out the best finger positions. Any ideas?

Lance Pierce | February 26th, 2003, 4:57 am | link | filter

Hi, Richard,

Well, I was having trouble figuring out how to avoid flashing the outer right
corner of the card as it was taken into gambler's palm, but I see where it can
be done now. Knowing that in many circumstances where one is seated at a
table Vernon preferred the gambler's palm over the classic palm, this bit of
finesse doesn't surprise me!

Thanks,

Lance
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Richard Kaufman | February 26th, 2003, 7:30 am | link | filter

Incidentally, I saw Vernon do this when he was about 84. He fumbled he
first few times since he hadn't done it in many years, however he hit it the
third or fourth time and it looked perfect. He did it perfectly several times
after that.

Finley's handling is invisible and utterly disarming.

Lance Pierce | February 26th, 2003, 8:03 am | link | filter

Regarding Erdnase, Richard Hatch pointed out to me once that many of the
illustrations in the book carry Erdnase's copyright statement right beneath
the drawing, but many of them don't. There doesn't seem to be a discernable
pattern as to why some do and some don't, but all the drawings appear to be
pretty close in style.

Coupling this with the information gleaned from the interview with the
person who did the artwork for the book and how he expressed his surprise
because he didn't remember drawing so many, does anyone have any
theories to explain this? Did the artist draw all the pictures that don't bear
the copyright statement, and was Erdnase also an excellent mimic with the
pen who drew the remaining pictures and put his copyright claim on them?

Lance

Bill Mullins | February 26th, 2003, 10:18 pm | link | filter

Has anyone tried to look up the copyright registrations for either the book
or the illustrations at the Library of Congress? Might be some interesting
information there (these forms were, for example, the first hard evidence
that "Richard Bachman" was in fact Stephen King.

David Alexander | February 26th, 2003, 11:40 pm | link | filter
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Originally posted by Lance Pierce:

[QB]Regarding Erdnase, Richard Hatch pointed out to me once that many
of the illustrations in the book carry Erdnase's copyright statement right
beneath the drawing, but many of them don't. There doesn't seem to be a
discernable pattern as to why some do and some don't, but all the drawings
appear to be pretty close in style.

Coupling this with the information gleaned from the interview with the
person who did the artwork for the book and how he expressed his surprise
because he didn't remember drawing so many, does anyone have any
theories to explain this? Did the artist draw all the pictures that don't bear
the copyright statement, and was Erdnase also an excellent mimic with the
pen who drew the remaining pictures and put his copyright claim on them?

Lance

My article covers this in one of the footnotes. All of the illustrations were
traced from photographs, a job that would have taken a day or so.
Otherwise, Marshall Smith (the artist) would have been with Erdnase for at
least two weeks if he actually drew from life...assuming that Erdnase had all
101 poses planned out and that there were no errors or corrections.
Otherwise, it would have taken longer... Smith remembered one meeting on
a particularly cold day which I managed to pinpoint in December, 1901.

The cost of printing over 100 photographs was prohibitive and would have
required a more expensive paper. The use of "cuts" or line drawings
facilitated a much cheaper production.

My wife, a professional artist, agrees with this assement as does Jim
Steranko who has a bit of experience in the art business.

By the way, I've enlarged the drawings and discovered the cards to be both
of poker and bridge-sized.



David Alexander | February 26th, 2003, 11:44 pm | link | filter

[QUOTE]Originally posted by Bill Mullins:

[QB]Has anyone tried to look up the copyright registrations for either the
book or the illustrations at the Library of Congress? Might be some
interesting information there (these forms were, for example, the first hard
evidence that "Richard Bachman" was in fact Stephen King.[/QB-------------

The copyright has been published and the pseudonym was used. The
illustrations were not separately copyrighted.

The entire copyright business is significant for a number of reasons which I
may reveal in a follow-up article once a bit more research has been
completed.

Richard Hatch | February 27th, 2003, 7:38 am | link | filter

Last March I spent several days at the Copyright Office in Washington
researching this and other related things. It took more than a month after
that and about $80 or so in fees to finally get a copy of all four pages of the
original copyright application. The Whaley/Busby book only reproduces
half of one page. Nothing earthshattering in the other pages, but you never
know till you look! The front page identifies the author as being of
"American" nationality and gives his address care of James McKinney, as
does the page Busby reproduced. McKinney was a Chicago printer, so
presumably did the printing for the author (this is an assumption. I happen
to think it is pretty good one, however!). The copyright was filled out on
February 15, 1902 and reached the copyright office just two days later on
the 17th (they had good postal service in those days!). Since the application
included a printed copy of the titlepage (this is the third page of the
application), the book was clearly "in production" in mid-February. Two
deposit copies (not one as stated by Whaley, who chides John Booth for
saying there were two) were received at the copyright office on March 8th,
so the book was coming back from the bindery by March 6th. "S. W.


https://forums.geniimagazine.com/memberlist.php?mode=viewprofile&u=136
https://forums.geniimagazine.com/viewtopic.php?p=12479#p12479
https://forums.geniimagazine.com/memberlist.php?mode=viewprofile&u=181
https://forums.geniimagazine.com/viewtopic.php?p=12480#p12480

Erdnase" is not identified as a pseudonym on the application, nor in the
copyright offices files. One mystery to me is how the author sold the book
initially. He obviously had copies to sell in early March and his stated
purpose in writing the book was that he "needed the money" (David
Alexander believes this is purely literary irony. I don't read it that way.) The
earliest known advertisement for it is in the Sphinx in November 1902. (It
is briefly mentioned in the September issue.) What was he doing with
copies in the meantime? The first edition copy in the Houdini collection at
the Library of Congress had been Adrian Plate's copy, and written in Plate's
handwriting (at least I believe it to be Plate's handwriting!) at the bottom of
the titlepage it says "Sold by James McKinney and Company" and gives
their Chicago address. How did Plate, in New York, know this? I assume he
might have seen an advertisement for it in the non-magical press. I'm
looking for such an ad. If anyone spots it, please let me know!

Incidentally, Jim Steranko does agree that the illustrations "could" have
been traced from photos, but has not put all his "eggs" in that basket. He
also sees evidence in the illustrations that they "could" have been the work
of two different artists (or one who got better!). So I'd say the field is still
open on that issue... The titlepage states that the illustrations were "drawn
from life" by M. D. Smith, and Smith recalled doing so. That he was
surprised that there were so many illustrations (101) is intriguing (he'd have
guessed he did 20 or 30). But Gardner was interviewing him more than 40
years after the fact and it was clearly not an important job from his point of
view. His grand-niece and nephew are going to be digging a box of his stuff
out of storage this week to see what "Erdnase" materials he still had when
he died. My guess is that he had the letters Martin Gardner wrote him and
not much else, if that. But again, you don't know till you check, so I'm
looking forward to their report...

I did check to see if there had been a seperate copyright application on the
illustrations (about half bear a copyright statement, half don't), but there
was none...

Richard Kaufman | February 27th, 2003, 7:54 am | link | filter
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Having drawn many thousands of illustrations by "tracing" from
photographs, I can say that it would have been nearly impossible for Smith
to have done 110 drawings in one day.

Guest | February 27th, 2003, 8:10 am | link | filter

I love the Erdnase info coming out. I hope this thread stays alive.

This may be an odd thought, but...

Maybe Erdnase took some of Smith's illustrations, traced them, and
combined them with some of Smith's other illustrations, and voila(!) had a
new illustration for the book that he didn't have to pay for.

I think RK may have mentioned that Frank Garcia did something like this in
his day, or was that A.I. Cragknarf?

David Alexander | February 27th, 2003, 8:26 am | link | filter

[QUOTE]Originally posted by Richard Hatch:

He obviously had copies to sell in early March and his stated purpose in
writing the book was that he "needed the money" (David Alexander
believes this is purely literary irony. I don't read it that way.) The earliest
known advertisement for it is in the Sphinx in November 1902. (It is briefly
mentioned in the September issue.) What was he doing with copies in the
meantime? The first edition copy in the Houdini collection at the Library of
Congress had been Adrian Plate's copy, and written in Plate's handwriting
(at least I believe it to be Plate's handwriting!) at the bottom of the titlepage
it says "Sold by James McKinney and Company" and gives their Chicago
address. How did Plate, in New York, know this? I assume he might have
seen an advertisement for it in the non-magical press. I'm looking for such
an ad. If anyone spots it, please let me know!

Incidentally, Jim Steranko does agree that the illustrations "could" have
been traced from photos, but has not put all his "eggs" in that basket. He
also sees evidence in the illustrations that they "could" have been the work
of two different artists (or one who got better!). So I'd say the field is still
open on that issue... The titlepage states that the illustrations were "drawn
from life" by M. D. Smith, and Smith recalled doing so. That he was
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surprised that there were so many illustrations (101) is intriguing (he'd have
guessed he did 20 or 30). But Gardner was interviewing him more than 40
years after the fact and it was clearly not an important job from his point of
view. ...[/QB][/QUOTE

The printing end of project took several months, in the middle of winter,
beginning early in December and concluding when the books were
available to sell, apparently late February or early March. Since McKinney
was not the publisher, his printing services were bought and paid for which
meant the bill was paid in full before Erdnase took possession of the first
run.

A three-month process to obtain a product that must then be advertised
(possibly), sold and distributed, that must be paid for by the author is not a
project someone undertakes because "they need the money." Publishing
books, especially those with a niche market, is not a quick way to make
money.

Erdnse, presumably with the requisite skills, could have found a game and
made money. His comment is ironic, as in keeping with the persona evident
in the Artifice section.

Plate could have found out about the book a number of ways, other than a
magazine ad. People traveled, people talked to one another, etc. The book
was not a secret, but was probably sold and distributed quietly before it was
advertised to magicians.

The tracing of photos, at 5 minutes each, would have taken over 8 hours of
continuous work. Given that Smith would have done these at his studio near
McKinney's plant, the project could have done these over two or three days,
with Smith delivering them either to Erdnase at his hotel (for approval) to
McKinney's office where the work was approved. Smith did not remember
prolonged contact with Erdnase, which drawing "from life" would have
required.



What he remembered was meeting Erdnase in an unheated hotel room,
"auditioning" for him by making some quick sketches. The photos were not
"drawn from life," unless you stretch the definition to include photographs
taken from life. That he got a bit better at the process as he progressed
through the 101 illustrations should be readily apparent.

Lance Pierce | February 27th, 2003, 8:37 am | link | filter

It is all very intriguing, isn't it, John? And many thanks to Richard and
David for adding their work here.

If Erdnase could replicate Marshall Smith's drawing style, then perhaps he
did add his own illustrations to Smith's, and claim copyright only on those.
On the other hand, as David stated, it's possible that Smith was able to
quickly trace all the requisite drawings. If so, though, then why only attach
a copyright statement to some and not others? Hmmm

Does anyone know how many copies of the book Erdnase ran in the first
printing and perhaps subsequent others? Are there printer's records that
would reveal this?

I don't have my copy of Expert with me at this moment, but I distinctly
remember the copyright statement originating from Canada (The
Department of Agriculture, to be exact, in London, Ontario). Does this
precede or succeed the copyright filed in the U.S.? What do the Canadian
records reveal?

Cheers,

Lance

David Alexander | February 27th, 2003, 9:52 am | link | filter

The copyright statement is misleading and somewhat nonsensical. The
claim of copyright is made by "S.W. Erdnase," and then "Enterted at
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Stationers' Hall, London."
At least one British researcher has looked and found nothing there.

Then, "Entered according to the Act of the Parliament of Congress.....in the
Office of the Minister of Agriculture." It says nothing about "London,
Ontario."

"Parliament of Congress" is nonsense. It is either "Act of Parliament,"
which would be in keeping with a British copyright, or "Act of Congress,"
which would be appropriate to an US copyright. What it says doesn't mean
anything.

This suggests either someone who didn't know what they were doing - an
amateur publisher as Erdnase was - an incompetent at McKinney who
typeset this after Erdnase had left and wasn't available to proof it (which
also explains the technical errors in the text) - or someone trying to confuse
the issue.

The book was copyrighted in the US, as Hatch and others have clearly
shown...but the copyright page does not announce that. Since the US
copyright forms were filled out using the pseudonym, there was no need for
additional obfuscation.

As I have said before, had anyone tracked "Erdnase" back to McKinney, all
they would have found, had McKinney talked at all, was their belief that it
was a man named Andrews (an additional pseudonym I believe my
candidate would have used) wrote the book. Sorry, we don't have a
forwarding address for him.

It should also be pointed out that the Preface contradicts what Erdnase
supposedly told Smith...that he was a "reformed gambler who had decided
to go straight."

In his Preface Erdnase writes, "The hypocritical cant of reformed (?)
gamblers, or whining, mealy-mouthed pretensions of piety, are not foisted



as a justification for imparting the knowledge it contains." His
"justification" for writing the book, his "primary motive" as he describes it,
is "he needs the money."

This is highly unlikely as anyone who had ever been involved in the
publishing business well knows. The book took years to research and write
and the actual publishing process took several months, with all publishing
services paid for in advance by Erdnase, to be followed by distribution and
sales (details currently unknown) before any money would be realized. A
minimum of four months if he had customers ready and waiting. Longer if
he had to develop the market after the book was available. Hardly the
actions of a someone who "needed the money."

There is no evidence that I am aware of that gives the number of copies
printed in the first print run, or if the first run was the only print run. The
plates were at McKinney and available for addition print runs, should the
demand be there.

Common printing/publishing custom suggests for economy and a
reasonable cost per unit, the first run was probably 250 to 500, but we don't
know with any certainty. It could have been more...or less. Then there are
the six or seven months between when the book was available to Erdnase
and when it was made known publicly in the magic press of the day,
another two before an ad appeared.

It may be that Erdnase sold/distributed the books he had planned on, that
the book served whatever purpose he had in mind and that what was left
could be sold to magicians. Part of the purpose of the magic section -
written without the persona seen in the Artifice section - was camouflage,
disguising the book's true purpose as a primer for cheating with cards.
Indeed, years later, print run was seized by a vigorous sheriff for exactly
that reason. In Erdnase's day, the First Amendment was not interpreted as it
is today and a pure primer on card cheating would be seen as an offense to
public morals. Possibly the book was sold "under the counter" for a period
of time before people saw that it was not going to attract much heat.



The book was equivalent to a $40 or $50 book today, so it wasn't
cheap....and we do not know if Erdnase sold them at list price or for more.

Lance Pierce | February 27th, 2003, 10:43 am | link | filter

I knew I shouldn't have opened my trap until I went home and pulled down
my copy. Thanks, David. At the risk of abusing the wonderful resource that
is yourself, one more question for now...

Vernon told the story several times of how he first came to know of the
book. He stated that his father, who worked in the patent & copyright office
in Canada, came home one day and told him that they'd received a book on
gambling (the Erdnase book), but that he felt Dai was too young to read
such as yet. Vernon said that he badgered his father about the book to no
avail, but that shortly after, he saw the book on display in a local store and
acquired it.

I hope I've remembered this with some accuracy; I'm going back some
years here from when I heard the story. It does imply that the book was
indeed submitted for copyright in Canada and that it wasn't so much "sold

under the counter" (at least not where Vernon found it), but that it was
carried rather openly.

In trying to piece together the mosaic of the book's history, where does this
information fit in?

Thanks,

Lance

Richard Kaufman | February 27th, 2003, 11:17 am | link | filter

David, I don't believe the illustrations could have been drawn/traced in the
brief time you've mentioned of five minutes each. Considering the detail
and careful adherence to the anatomy of the hand, I would say at least 20 to
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45 minutes each. And we're assuming that he simply put ink to paper, rather
than using pencil first and inking afterward. Or having to REdraw as many
as 20% (or more!) because Smith wasn't a magician and didn't understand
the importance of the exact position of every muscle, etc.

Earle Oakes also "traces" from photographs. He only produces five
drawings a day!

Lance Pierce | February 27th, 2003, 11:28 am | link | filter

I do have to say that in looking at the illustrations, they don't appear as if
they were traced, but have the look more of a freehand style...although
Smith may have done his work freehand from photographs. Just conjecture,
though...

Lance

CHRIS | February 27th, 2003, 11:28 am | link | filter

David,

there is one wrong reasoning in your post. If we assume that Erdnase was
unexperienced in publishing, if it was his first book, then why is that
inconsistent with his statement of "doing it for the money"?

To me it makes perfect sense. There are many who think that they can get
rich writing a book. And then they find out that is far more difficult. So I
can fully believe that Erdnase thought he could make a good amount of
money doing the book, particularly if he had no prior experience in the
publishing world.

Chris Wasshuber
preserving magic one book at a time.

Chris Aguilar | February 27th, 2003, 11:31 am | link | filter
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Originally posted by Richard Kaufman:
He only produces five drawings a day![/QB]

Richard,
Out of curiosity, how many Illustrations can you pump out a day?

When you're in "the zone" of course. :)

Richard Hatch | February 27th, 2003, 11:44 am | link | filter

Originally posted by David Alexander:

The copyright statement is misleading and somewhat nonsensical. The
claim of copyright is made by "S.W. Erdnase," and then "Enterted at
Stationers' Hall, London."

At least one British researcher has looked and found nothing there.

Then, "Entered according to the Act of the Parliament of Congress.....in the
Office of the Minister of Agriculture." It says nothing about "London,
Ontario."

"Parliament of Congress" is nonsense. It is either "Act of Parliament,"
which would be in keeping with a British copyright, or "Act of Congress,"
which would be appropriate to an US copyright. What it says doesn't mean
anything.

This suggests either someone who didn't know what they were doing - an
amateur publisher as Erdnase was - an incompetent at McKinney who
typeset this after Erdnase had left and wasn't available to proof it (which
also explains the technical errors in the text) - or someone trying to confuse
the issue.

I hate to admit that Busby is right about something on this topic, but he was
right when he pointed out that the copyright statement in the first edition of
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Erdnase is an unusual triple copyright statement. The first line says:
"Copyright, 1902, by S. W. Erdnase."

This is, in fact, the US Copyright statement.

Under this is a seperating line and then the statement:

"Entered at Stationer's Hall, London."

This 1s the British copyright statement. Under this is another seperating line,
then it says:

"Entered According to the Act of Parliament of Canada in the Year One
Hundred Thousand and Two, by S. W. Erdnase, in the Office of the Minister
of Agriculture."

This 1s the Canadian Copyright statement. Even in the first edition, the word
Canada is in broken type. Sometime, much, much later (possibly not till the
1930s), Frederick J. Drake and Company replaced the broken type for
"Canada" with the word "Congress". This was not a mistake the author
made. Whoever he was, he knew quite a bit about copyright law, as all three
statements are correctly formatted. I know of no other book from the
period, magic or otherwise, with this feature. He did follow through with
the US Copyright (why?). He apparently did not follow through with the
Canadian or British Copyrights (why not?). I think these facts tell us some
important things about the author, though it is not clear exactly what.

The exact nature of the author's relationship with the printer McKinney is
not known. McKinney was an alcoholic and one of his partners was a
known gambler. To me it is not impossible to imagine that they undertook
the project without requiring up front financing from a struggling author for
a project they may have believed in themselves. We know now that they
were selling copies themselves. Was this at the author's request, or to pay
off his debt? We just don't know at this point. The fact that the author
bothered to follow through with the US Copyright application, to me
weakens his conjectured need for absolute anonymity, as does his use of the
artist's true name ("M. D. Smith") on the title page. Anyone with sufficient
interest in 1902 could have gotten the copyright information, tracked down
McKinney, tracked down Smith, and learned a great deal that is now lost to
us. Certainly we would have learned exactly what he looked like, when and
how often he met the artist (he had vivid recollection only of their initial
meeting, but agreed that they must have met more than once. Indeed, he
claimed that after making the sketches "from life" he would go to his studio



to ink them in, returning them to the author for his approval...). How much
Smith was paid, what bank was used for the check, what hotel they met in,
what name he was registered under there, how many illustrations he did
(and how), the exact nature of the author's "relationship" to Louis
Dalrymple, the political cartoonist, etc. etc. Enough I would think, for a
clever detective quickly to pinpoint the author, even if the latter was dealing
with McKinney and Smith under a second pseudonym (I don't happen to
believe he was, but I admit I don't really know!). I really don't understand
why someone demanding (as conjectured by David Alexander) total
anonymity would bother with the copyright application or place Smith's
true name on the title page. I happen to think the author likely did not
require that high a degree of anonymity, and that a simple reversal of his
true name sufficed for his purposes. Indeed, he may have been disappointed
not only with poor sales on the first edition (I am guessing about 1,000 were
done as they are much more common that the two hardback edition Drake
put out in 1905 and were available from Chicago magic shops as late as
1911 at half the original price (which was still double Drake's hardback
price, triple the Sear's catalog price!), but with the fact that no one tracked
him down. I really think we won't understand all the known facts until we
know for sure who the author was...

Incidentally, for those interested, the facsimile of the first edition offered by
bookseller Michael Canick is finally out and is quite lovely. At $52 it is also
rather expensive, but I'm happy to have one (limited to 750 copies). Copies
of the 1975 Powner edition, which retains all the typographical features of
the first edition, except for the title page, are still widely available for under
$10 at most dealers...

Guest | February 27th, 2003, 11:44 am | link | filter

One of the aspects about the illustrations that always concerned me is the
fact that Smith's recollections were offered many years after he did the
work. It seems too many suppositions & conclusions are based on these
recollections, which could be entirely erroneous. Consider this: the memory
scientist & psychologist Jean Piaget had vivid recollections of being
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kidnapped when he was 2. It turns out that this never happened & was a
story fabricated by his nurse. Even after Piaget learned the truth, he still had
distinct images of the supposed event.

This thread was started by someone asking about how to study Erdnase.
While I'll post a commercial message elsewhere, I'd like to encourage
serious students to purchase the facsimile edition that I'm distributing, if for
no other reason than that the type & illustrations were painstakingly
restored & everything is 100% legible.

Best,

Michael
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* Michael Canick Booksellers, L.L.C.

* 200 East 82nd Street, #3B

* New York, NY 10028

* Phone: (212) 585-2990

* Fax: (212) 585-2986

* E-Mail: canick @panix.com

* Website: http://www.canick.com

* By Appointment.

* Specializing in Rare, Used & New Magic.

* Book Search Service & Appraisals in All Fields.

* Catalogs Issued.
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Richard Kaufman | February 27th, 2003, 2:04 pm | link | filter

I have just received the facsimile first edition of Expert at the Card Table
which is being distributed by Michael Canick and it is THE edition to have
if you love this book. I do have a first edition and it looks virtually identical.

David Alexander | February 27th, 2003, 3:52 pm | link | filter
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I stand corrected on the first page...the copy I was looking at I thought to be
a replication of the first edition, but it wasn't.

About McKinney "publishing" the book. There is no evidence for that. The
book was "Published by the Author," which means to me that it was bought
and paid for by Erdnase. Otherwise, McKinney's name would be on it for
re-orders, credit, etc.

I've addressed the other questions in other locations and don't need to take
up bandwidth covering old ground again.

It makes no sense to posit that Smith did some of the illustrations and
Erdnase did others. If Erdnase had the ability, why bring Smith into the
picture at all? Why didn't he do all the illustrations himself?

On speed, some artists are painstakingly slow while others aren't. We have a
friend who is a highly successful wildlife artist. He won the national duck
stamp contest a few years ago. He was trained as an anatomical artist and is
incredibly slow. My wife isn't. See www.thealexanderstuido.com for my
examples of her work. Click on the painting at the opening screen to see
examples. The large oil painting of the pretty girl, which is not completely
illustrated, is 36" x 72" and was completed in 40 hours of painting. The
dress is velvet and looks like velvet in the painting.

The male head and shoulders was done in two 6 hour days, in time for his
funeral. This is all freehand work. Pastels are faster..a few hours each.

Using a light table and a good photograph should take a a lot less time, a
few minutes each.

My wife did the illustrations of James Randi's public magic book. The line
drawings did not take long at all, especially given good photographic
reference, and the pencil portraits (poorly reproduced by the publisher) took
about 45 minutes each, but they were done freehand, not traced.


http://www.thealexanderstudio.com/

If Smith had produced 5 drawings a day, he would have been on the project
for 20 days...hardly a financially viable assignment to accept.

Guest | February 27th, 2003, 3:52 pm | link | filter

Thank you Richard Kaufman & Dick Hatch for your kind words about the
Erdnase facsimile I'm distributing. One word about the price: since the
books were so carefully crafted & indeed had to be returned & rebound (for
additional cost) and since both the publisher & myself have put large
resources into the project (both time & money), it is doubtful that either of
us will make a profit even if the complete print run of 750 copies sells out.

Best,
Michael
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* Michael Canick Booksellers, L.L.C.

* 200 East 82nd Street, #3B

* New York, NY 10028

* Phone: (212) 585-2990

* Fax: (212) 585-2986

* E-Mail: canick @panix.com

* Website: http://www.canick.com

* By Appointment.

* Specializing in Rare, Used & New Magic.

* Book Search Service & Appraisals in All Fields.

* Catalogs Issued.
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Richard Hatch | February 27th, 2003, 8:17 pm | link | filter

One other aspect of the illustrations might be worth mentioning here.
According to Mike Perovich, Vernon felt that the number of illustrations,
101, was not accidental. It was a popular way to advertise things (101 ways
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to clean house, 101 Dalmations, etc) and in fact, the author uses it on his
title page to allow him to say "With over 100 drawings from life by M. D.
Smith". Yeah, there are more than one hundred: one more! So Vernon's
thinking was that the author needed to get to that magic number for
marketing reasons. It would be more likely he would get there by adding
illustrations than by deleting them. If he went to Chicago with his
manuscript and some of the illustrations, he would only need Smith to add
the "20 or 30" he later recalled to get to the magic 101. Smith recalled that
the author was not concerned with the drawing's artistic merits, just their
accuracy. One way of interpreting this 40 year old memory would be the
author telling Smith: "Make your illustrations match these." Of the 101
illustrations, 50 have a copyright statement as a caption. Roughly 2/3 of
those in the card table artifice section are so captioned, only 11 of the 35 in
the legerdemain section are. If one believe the copyright captions
differentiate between two artists and those bearing it are the earlier ones,
this makes sense if -- as many have speculated -- the legerdemain section
was expanded later to facilitate marketing the book. All of this is merely
conjecture at this point, of course. The author told Smith that he was
somehow "related" to Louis Dalrymple, a famous political cartoonist of the
day. My current favorite two artist theory has Dalrymple doing the
"copyrighted" illustrations, but bailing out on the job before finishing it (he
was wanted on spousal support charges. His first wife had not only divorced
him with alimony, but he was not allowed to remarry or leave NY. He both
left and remarried, so was pretty much on the run until his death apparently
from venereal disease related delirium a few years later (1905). Anywayj, it
turns out Dalrymple was in Chicago at about the same time the book was
nearing completion, though I haven't pinned down the dates, so this is not
as outrageous a theory as it might first seem. But it does beggar the question
of why Smith's name (which had no commercial value) and not Dalrymple's
(in this scenario) was on the title page. Which brings us back to the degree
that the author needed anonymity... Why not just make up an artist's name
on the titlepage?

On the size of the job for Smith: We don't know how much he was paid, but
it was enough for the author to have paid him by check, rather than cash,
and for Smith to be hesitant about accepting the check from a relative



stranger. Especially since it was the first (or one of the first) checks on the
account (consistent with the author having only recently arrived in
Chicago). But he did take the check, it did clear, and he never saw the
author again. To my way of thinking, the use of a check implies a fairly
sizeable job...

Nathan | February 27th, 2003, 9:23 pm | link | filter

Thanks to all you experts for some very interesting Erdnase discussion. I've
become increasingly obsessed with this book over the past year. I have two
comments that I hope you'll find intriguing.

First of all, here is some evidence that I've never seen mentioned before that
the number of illustrations is somehow important. In the discussion of the
second deal Erdnase says, "He need not bother about acquiring skill at blind
shuffling, cutting stocking, or any of the other hundred and one ruses
known to the profession." This is certainly a bit of irony.

Second, with regard to the comment that the author needs the money: Has
anyone considered the possibility that Erdnase expected to receive money
from a source other than the sales of the book? Perhaps Erdnase made a bet
that he could pull of the greatest book publishing scam in magic history. He
was certainly arrogant enough to believe he could pull something like this
off. Furthermore, if he really was a gambler at heart then the bet itself
would have been much more exciting than any actual money he made
which explains why Erdnase wouldn't just go find a game if he needed
money. Consider this line from the intoduction: "He knows little of the real
value of money, and as a rule is generous, careless and improvident. He
loves the hazard rather than the stakes." When Erdnase says he needed the
money, he might mean that he couldn't resist such a preposterous wager.

David Alexander | February 28th, 2003, 8:05 am | link | filter

I'm afraid this discussion is becoming rife with fantasy. Now Dalrymple is
being brought in as a possible artistic contributor. This is in the same vein
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as the suggestion that Mark Twain was the ghost writer.

Best to remember Occam's Razor and adhere to it.

David Alexander | February 28th, 2003, 9:15 am | link | filter

Originally posted by Richard Hatch:

On the size of the job for Smith: We don't know how much he was
paid, but it was enough for the author to have paid him by check,
rather than cash, and for Smith to be hesitant about accepting the
check from a relative stranger. Especially since it was the first (or
one of the first) checks on the account (consistent with the author
having only recently arrived in Chicago). But he did take the
check, it did clear, and he never saw the author again. To my way
of thinking, the use of a check implies a fairly sizeable job...

The use of a check indicates the publisher (Erdnase) wanted proof of title,
clear ownership of the material he was paying for. Establishing clear title is
important for what happened later and a check is the best evidence.

It is also indirect evidence that McKinney had nothing to do with
"publishing" the book since, as an established printer, they could have
ordered the illustrations and paid for them directly. McKinney would have
been known to Smith.

As it was, McKinney probably recommended Smith and Smith accepted the
job on that referral. That it was a short job is also implied because Smith
would not have accepted a long job, from a stranger, without some sort of
downpayment. Who is going to work for a couple of weeks for a stranger -
a reformed gambler who was met in a cheap hotel - without a deposit?
Please....

The job took a day or so - tracing the photos - the material was delivered
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and approved - the job paid for by a check which could be verified quickly
by Smith by walking over to the bank and cashing it. If there was a
problem, it could be resolved quickly since the book was in the early stages
of production and the author/publisher was still around.

Bill Mullins | February 28th, 2003, 9:20 am | link | filter

If the book wasn't published for money, then why was it published?

Not for vanity or to establish a name for the author, the pseudonym
precludes that.

Not as a public service to protect the sheep from being fleeced -- it isn't
written from that perspective, nor does it seem to have been marketed that
way.

Perhaps Erdnase lost a bet to McKinney, and the manuscript was payment?
Any other ideas?

Also, Hatch says above that copyright wasn't followed up in Canada -- has
someone researched the Canadian copyright records? Are there significant
early editions in other languages (and other countries whose copyright
records should be checked)?

As far as Dalrymple doing some of the drawings -- can anyone say whether
or not the style of Dalrymple is similar to that in the book? Samples of

Dalrymple artwork:

http://www.relativelyyours.com/dalrympl ... rymple.htm

http://bugpowder.com/andy/e.dalrymple.html

http://www.graphicwitness.org/group/pksail.jpg
http://www.graphicwitness .org/group/pktower.jpg
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http://www.bu.edu/ah/ah208/lecture4/1-40.jpg
http://www.theodore-roosevelt.com/trm44 .html

I don't think their styles are so similar that a claim that Dalrymple was a co-
illustrator of EATCT makes sense.

Guest | February 28th, 2003, 9:31 am | link | filter

I think it is a bit unfair to lump the Louis Dalrymple theory with the Mark
Twain theory. The illustrator, Marshall D. Smith, recalls the author telling
him that he (the author) was related to Dalrymple. I thought the Mark Twain
theory came from Martin Gardner as it related to Milton Franklin Andrews.
Gardner speculated that M.F. Andrews and Twain were friends for several
reasons including the fact that they both lived in Hartford at the same time.
According to Busby, even Gardner thought his own Mark Twain theory to
be extremely unlikely.

If Marshall Smith is to be believed, then I don't think discussing
Dalrymple's possible involvement with the book is rife with fantasy.

This is a very interesting thread, and I greatly enjoy reading the
observations of Richard Hatch and David Alexander.

Richard Hatch | February 28th, 2003, 9:35 am | link | filter

I agree with David's comment that the Dalrymple as second artist is as
fantastic (and unlikely) an hypothesis as Martin Gardner's "Mark Twain as
ghostwriter" theory (and I flattered to be in Gardner's company!).

I suspect I'm having as much fun exploring it as Gardner did with the Twain
theory. These things are fun to fantasize about, and one never knows where
they might lead.

I also agree wholeheartedly that Occam's razor is a useful guide. As I apply
it, Occam's razor would lead us to look first for an "E. S. Andrews" about
40 years old, possibly related to Louis Dalrymple, slight in stature, who had
lived in Chicago in the 1890s, went back to Chicago in the late fall of 1901
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(to have the book published), and left not much later (likely about when the
book dropped from $2 to $1 in February 1903: the explanation being that he
dumped copies when he moved). Such a candidate exists:

Edwin Sumner Andrews, born 1859, lived in Chicago from 1888 to 1895,
moved back (from Denver, another gambling center) in October 1901,
departed (for San Francisco, yet another gambling center)in February 1903,
the very month that the Atlas Novelty Company at 295 Austin Ave dropped
the price from $2 to $1 (only the second time the book was advertised in the
Sphinx). E. S. Andrews' address in Chicago (actually Oak Park): 195 Austin
Ave, 8 blocks due south. Coincidence? Perhaps, but I think not. He wife's
maiden name was Seely, the same maiden name as Dalrymple's mother.
Coincidence? Perhaps. His nearest neighber growing up in rural Minnesota
was an Irish immigrant farmer named Patrick McKinney who had a son
named James. The book's printer was a James McKinney, the son of
immigrant Irish whose older brother (whom he employed) was named
Patrick. Coincidence? Almost certainly, but intriguing enough for me to
want to explore further. Edwin Sumner Andrews as a "travelling agent" for
the Chicago & Northwestern Railroad, which would have given him ample
opportunity to observe (and participate in, if so inclined) card play. The one
photo I have of him shows him to be the proper height range (judged
relative to those around him...). Can I place a deck of cards in his hands.
No. But he makes a heck of a circumstantial case, in my opinion...

Richard Hatch | February 28th, 2003, 9:48 am | link | filter

Dalrymple's style does not look anything like the illustrations in Erdnase,
but I have five other books illustrated by Marshall D. Smith that don't look
anything like the technical drawings he did for Erdnase either, so I don't
discount the Dalrymple theory on those grounds. But I don't take it too
seriously myself, either, just trying not to miss any possible clues by
ignoring him entirely...

The Canadian copyright has been exhaustively researched, most recently by
David Ben. The copyright was not applied for (it would have left a record
even if the application was rejected, on moral grounds, for example). The
British copyright has also been researched without bearing fruit. Possibly
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the author intended to file these applications, but never followed though.
British copyright at that time required 5 deposit copies (for each of the
national libraries). As far as I can tell, none of them currently has a first
edition (most can be searched online), making it extremely unlikely he
followed through with that application (owing perhaps to lack of funds).
Possibly the triple copyright statement was just a bluff to scare off pirates,
but then why bother even with the US Copyright?

Frederick J. Drake began selling first edition copies in 1903 and continued
to sell them until he reprinted the book beginning in 1905 and continuing at
least as late as 1934 (possibly 1937, when the plates were transfered to
Frost Publishing Company). I have done extensive research on Drake and
he appears extremely scrupulous in following the letter of the law. He had
almost all his publication, regardless of subject matter or author,
copyrighted in the name of "Frederick J. Drake and Company". I have
examined the records of some of these in the copyright offices in
Washington. He clearly knew and apparently followed the letter of the law.
Erdnase is one of the few books (the are others, but not many, especially
from this period) that he published without obtaining a transfer of the
copyright. To me, that implies that he had made a financial arrangement
with the author, either buying the book outright (then why not obtain the
copyright, as was his practice?) or paying royalties. And it as Drake who
first broke the news that the "S. W. Erdnase" read in reverse yields the
author's name. In my application of Occam's razor, that carries some
weight..

Randy DiMarco | February 28th, 2003, 10:10 am | link | filter

If a copyright was never applied for in Canada, then the Vernon story about
his father telling him that the book had been received at the copyright office
would have to be false.

Richard Hatch | February 28th, 2003, 10:13 am | link | filter

The Vernon story is a "false memory". David Ben has been able to identify
the book his father brought home. It was not Erdnase, but another book on
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gambling from the period and is illustrated with photos. We may have to
wait for David's Vernon biography to learn the details...

David Alexander | February 28th, 2003, 11:09 am | link | filter

There are plenty of people who "remember" the annoucement of the attack
on Pearl Harbor coming in the middle of a baseball game when the season
was over months earlier.

David Alexander | February 28th, 2003, 11:59 am | link | filter

The evidence shows the book was author published. That's what it says in
the front of the book. Author published means everything done to produce
the book would have been bought and paid for by the author prior to the
book appearing in printed form. McKinney was not a publisher. McKinney
was a printer and binder. (Even Martin Gardner was confused on this point.)

The illustrations were paid for with a check, which suggests the printing
and binding were also paid the same way. This is important if the
author/publisher is traveling and needs copies sent here or there as
instructions and a check could be mailed to McKinney and the orders
fulfilled with minimal fuss. Checks also provided a paper trail for
ownership should the need arise, which I believe it did.

My thoughts on this, which Ive previously shared with Dick Hatch, follow:

McKinney was going down the drain, but continued to have the
responsibility for Erdnases printing plates and excess stock, material they
couldnt legally dispose of. They had no way of contacting Erdnase, so what
to do with his property as the business was deteriorating?

Without a shred of supporting evidence, Busby claims that in 1903 William
J. Hilliar brokered a deal between M.F. Andrews and Frederick J. Drake, a
Chicago publisher, for the rights, plates and unsold stock. However, if the
real Erdnase was involved in the deal, as Busby claims, then Drake, like
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any prudent publisher, would have purchased or had the copyright
transferred to his name. That didnt happen, which in and of itself is not a
problem as royalties could have been paid by contract, but the actions by
Drake subsequent to obtaining the Erdnase material suggest Drake had a
less than benign motive, for, once in possession of the plates, he then
advertised an edited version of Expert of 204 pages and 45 illustrations by
Samuel Robert Erdnase in the United States Catalog: Books in America.
Clearly, he did not own or have legal rights to the copyright because he
listed the book under another authors name. He would not have done this if
he owned the copyrights or had legal entitlement to the material. However,
this book never was released. The conclusion one must make is that some
how Erdnase learned of Drakes plan and forestalled it.

My conjecture is that the real Erdnase may have contacted McKinney for
more books or somehow learned that the company was failing and that his
material had been transferred to Drakes care, with Drake continuing to sell
Erdnases book.

Erdnase hired a lawyer, to whom he presented the various cancelled checks,
copyright forms, original manuscript, etc., easily proving his bona fides as
the author and owner of the copyright.

A letter from the lawyer to Drake stops the whole Samuel Robert Erdnase
business in its tracks. Drake was in possession of and selling material that
wasnt his. This could lead to trouble, but the whole thing is put off as a
misunderstandinga favor to McKinneymisrepresentation by Hilliar,
whatever, and the matter settled out of court. A lease agreement to use the
plates and a royalty contract was signed with Drake paying monies to
Erdnase/Andrews, probably through the same Chicago bank account set up
to pay for the book.

Drake had dozens of titles and Expert would have been one of many, not
worth any legal hassle especially when he was in violation of several state

and federal statutes, with no way to win. Settling was the only solution.

Drake reprints the book with the copyright remaining in the name of



Erdnase, royalties are paid and life goes on.

Then one day, the royalty checks are returned by the bankaccount closedno
forwarding address. It isnt Drakes responsibility to chase authors and pay
them royalties, so he just keeps tabs on what he owes and waits to hear
from the author. He never does.

The year 1930 rolls around, important because that is the year the copyright
comes up for renewal. No one renews it. Drake cant because he doesnt own
it or have legal rights to it, otherwise he would have. Erdnase doesnt,
because my candidate has, years earlier, dropped any interest he has in the
project. It has served his psychological purposes and he has moved on with
his lifeand to renew the copyright may risk exposure. There is no benefit for
him to resurface.

So,1in 1930, the book passes into public domainand, apparently, no one
notices or cares because the market is handled by Drake and the production
of another edition probably isnt financially viable, should anyone have
taken notice of the books now public status.

Drake continues to sell the book until 1937, a period of time when Drake
could argue that their author is legally dead seven years being the standard
back then. Drake, for whatever reasons, sells the plates to Frost who
probably assumed responsibility for paying the author or his heirs back
royalties. Certainly it would have been prudent for Drake to have Frost
assume liability.

This is, of course, conjecture, but it does explain the facts as we know them
without complication.

Richard Hatch | March 1st, 2003, 10:12 am | link | filter

For anyone interested, here's an original Marshall D. Smith painting you
can pick up for just $20,000:
http://showcase.goantiques.com/search/i ... p?1d=92899
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Personally, I don't think it looks anymore like the work of the artist of
Erdnase than the Darlymple cartoons posted earlier. My feeling (as a non-
artist) is that the technical illustrations required by the artist could easily
have been rendered to his satisfaction by any competent artist. Smith
specifically recalled that the author was not interested in "artistic" qualities,
just accuracy, leaving little room for artistic expression.

David Alexander, in his excellent post says:

"The evidence shows the book was author published. That's what it says in
the front of the book."

True enough, and I agree with it, but it does raise the question of how much
of what the mysterious author tells us we should take at face value. For
example, on that same title page he tells us his name is "S. W. Erdnase"
which we now know not to be true (it was, however, not obvious to readers
at the time of publication). He also tells us that the illustration were drawn
"from life" while Alexander claims they were traced from photographs. The
copyright page claims copyright in Canada and the UK. Not true. The
preface claims he wrote the book because he "needs the money". Alexander
tells us this is simply irony, and that he was a man of independent means.
My understanding is the Alexander's candidate's motive for writing the
book was to exact private revenge on the gambling fraternity that had
cheated him in his youth, but the author tells us he has "neither greivance
against the fraternity nor sympathy for so called 'victims' (p. 10). I'm sure
other examples of such contradictions could be found. In fact, some people
feel his statements that he both betrays "no confidences" yet proffers "the
sum of our present knowledge" (p. 14) are inherently contradictory. I'm not
so sure. My feeling is we should believe the author and other "witnesses"
until forced by facts to do otherwise. I see no compelling reason not to
believe that "S. W. Erdnase" is a lightly disguised version of his real name,
that he was the publisher of his own book (I'm not sure anyone on the forum
has challenged this claim, but since we don't know who the author was, it
doesn't tell us a great deal about him. He gave his address on the copyright
application c/o McKinney who, it turns out, was selling copies of the book,
so the thought that McKinney himself might have authored the book is not
entirely outrageous...), that the illustrations were drawn from life by M. D.
Smith, and that he needed the money. Perhaps this post will be useful it
points out that what we don't yet know about the author and his book



greatly outweighs what we do know.

We don't know when, where and under what circumstances the book was
written. Some believe it to have been written many years before it was
finally published. I'm not among those, but it is possible. We don't know
when the book was illustrated by Smith (Alexander's pinpointing of the date
by comparing weather records with Smith's recollection that he met the
author on a bitter cold day is an ingenious approach, but it does assume that
Smith met the author shortly before publication, i.e., in the winter of 1901.
While that assumption is reasonable and one that I share, it is an
assumption. Smith told Gardner he was about 25 when he did the job. He
turned 29 in the winter of 1901.). We don't know exactly where they met or
how long the illustrating took or how much Smith was paid. We don't know
the nature of the author/publisher's relation with McKinney, whom we
assume printed the book (a reasonable assumption, but an assumption,
nonetheless), so we don't know the terms they worked out. Nor do we know
the nature of the relationship between the author and Frederick J. Drake,
who began selling first editions at half price in 1903 and printing the book
himself in 1905. We don't know how many first editions were printed or
how they were distributed. We therefore don't know how well it sold and
whether is satisfied the author's need for money or not. We don't know why
the price was dropped from $2 to $1 in February 1903, less than a year after
the book came of the presses. We don't know why the copyright was not
transfered to Drake nor why it was not renewed in 1930. Finally, we don't
know who wrote the book. Likely many of these questions will not be
answerable until we do.

Richard Kaufman | March 1st, 2003, 10:31 am | link | filter

I'm afraid I must disagree with statements regarding the illustrations in
"Expert at the Card Table" made by both my friends David and Richard.
First, the drawings are extremely exacting, and almost perfectly reproduce
the anatomy of the hand. These drawings simply could not have been done
as quickly as David assumes. Each one looks as if it would have taken a
minimum of 15 to 30 minutes. That's a minimum, and frankly I think and
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underestimate.

Second, Richard states that any competant artist could have done the work.
I must strongly dispute this: Even great artists often fail miserably when it
comes to the hands. Here, we are not even talking about great art, and it has
nothing to do with whether the artist is "reputable" or not. It has to do with
someone who understands the anatomy of the hands and how it relates to
the objects they hold. The illustrations in Erdnase are among the clearest
ever drawn in our field. VERY FEW artists are capable of that.

Richard Hatch | March 1st, 2003, 11:41 am | Link | filter

Richard, thanks for pointing this out.

On the question of whether the illustrations were drawn "from life" or
traced from photos, let me throw in the following, for others to correct me
on as well:

The final illustration, Fig. 101, shows the face of the Ace of Spades from a
Bee brand deck. Thinking that this might help date the illustrations (since
the designs change over time), I obtained a photocopy of the Bee design
from that period (which turns out to have been stable over that period, so
only set a lower bound on the illustrations). The actual design is
significantly different from the one shown in the illustration, suggesting to
me that this illustration, at least (or that portion of it) was not traced, but
rendered free hand...

Fig. 16 (page 47) shows two edges of the square board that Smith recalled
the author demonstrated the moves on. The front edge of the deck runs
parallel to the front of the board, so a traced photo should show the end of
the deck parallel to the side of the board. It does not, again suggesting this
was drawn freehand, and rather quickly at that. I asked Steranko to take a
close look at the illustrations, to see if he could determine whether they
showed evidence of having been traced from photos, rendered by two or
more artists, and whether the author's hands were large or small. His
conclusions to all three issues were ambiguous. In the case of the size of the
hand, some (fig. 79 for example) make the hand appear small while others
(fig. 61) make it appear huge. I don't believe these discrepencies could be
explained merely by saying that some poses used bridge sized cards and
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others poker size. It could be explained if they were drawn from life as
stated on the titlepage by the author and later recalled by the illustrator. I
don't know anything about the history of photography, so hope someone
who does might see fit to comment on this, but my naive belief is that it
would have been both much more expensive and much more time
consuming to pose for the photographs (to get 101 usuable ones would
likely have required a fair number of more shots). Many of the poses would
be awkward to hold for the cameras of the period (shots from below, above,
etc. which required setting up a tripod, etc. etc.) If the author took the time
and expense to have the photos taken and (as Alexander contents) was not
concerned about turning a profit from the project, why not use them for the
book, rather than spending additional time and expense to turn them into
illustrations? Lang Neil's photo illustrated book came out later in 1902 at
the same price as Erdnase (of course, it was not self-published either!). Any
experts on turn of the century photography care to enlighten us?

Bob Coyne | March 1st, 2003, 1:40 pm | link | filter

The sleeves in the illustrations seem stylized rather than realistic. For
example, many of them have a little curved line with a gap to indicate the
connection between the length of the sleeve and the end of the sleeve (hard
to explain verbally). Plus, the shirt extended out from the coat sleeve seems
more uniform than it would be in real life. So my guess is that Smith either
drew the sleeves from life in a quick stylized way, or alternatively, he
fabricated them after the fact in the process of finishing/refining the
illustrations.

Either way, that seems to me to be an argument against tracing. If he traced
the pictures, I'd expect to see less stylized, more varied sleeves. And a
similar argument for the hands themselves. I'd expect to see more profile of
knuckles, for example, if it was traced (e.g., left hand in fig. 85).

Though I guess he could draw from pictures rather than tracing them which
would account better for the reduction/simplification.
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Richard Hatch | March 1st, 2003, 3:02 pm | link | filter

As something to look at when considering a "two artist" or "one artist who
got better" theory, Steranko pointed out discepencies in the rendition of the
fingernails. Some are ovals and others are more realistically squared off.
Naturally, one must compare the same fingers on the same hands for this to
be relevant. Again, this seems like the kind of discrepency more likely to
occur if being drawn from life than traced from photos. Of course, it could
also be explained by two different people posing for the illustrations, or one
who got a serious manicure between sessions...

For a fascinating example of photos that were turned into illustrations,
several incredible photos of Robert-Houdin performing cups and balls, card
sleights, etc. are in the fantastic new books by Christian Fechner. Robert-
Houdin had these taken and then turned into illustrations for his seminal
text, Secrets of Conjuring and Magic. This was in the late 1860s, so perhaps
the mysterious Erdnase did the same some 30 odd years later...

Richard Hatch | March 2nd, 2003, 9:45 am | link | filter

Originally posted by Nathan Becker:

First of all, here is some evidence that I've never seen mentioned
before that the number of illustrations is somehow important. In
the discussion of the second deal Erdnase says, "He need not
bother about acquiring skill at blind shuffling, cutting stocking, or
any of the other hundred and one ruses known to the profession."
This is certainly a bit of irony.

Nathan is correct is citing the above reference to the term "one hundred and
one" in the text as never having been mentioned in print prior to his posting.
I had done a text search on a number of key words some months ago, using
Chris Wasshuber's eBook version. My search on the word "hundred" turned
up one other use of the phrase. In his discussion of ways to present the pre-
arranged deck (p. 181) he says: "There are a hundred and one variations..." I
think these two examples show the author's fondness for the phrase and
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strengthen Vernon's contention that the number of illustrations (101) was
not accidental.

Richard Kaufman | March 2nd, 2003, 5:42 pm | link | filter

I had the opportunity of spending a good deal of the day in my car with
Earle Oakes, and we discussed the issue of the drawings in Erdnase. His
contention is similar to mine: they must have taken a minimum of at least
20 minutes each to draw, if not much longer.

I have several other observations to make:

1) The illustrations almost uniformly depict someone with small chubby
hands. Unless someone can find evidence that Smith always drew peoples'
hands looking small and chubby, we MUST assume Erdnase's hands were
small and chubby. (Note that Vernon had a smaller than average size hand;
Steve Freeman has small hands; Howard Schwarzman has small hands: all
three men could/can do virtually every sleight in the book.)

2) These illustrations could not have been sketched from life. It seems
impossible to me that this degree of anatomical accuracy could have
reproduced from quick sketches made from looking at Erdnase's hands. My
own experience forces me to assume that they have been traced from
photographs.

3) The fact that there are two different "groups" of illustrations does not
indicate to me that there are two different artists involved. It more strongly
suggests that Smith did the drawings in two different batches, at least six
months apart but as long as several years apart. I say this from experience: I
illustrated "The Card Classics of Ken Krenzel" over a period of a year. The
first batch of drawings differs substantially from the second batch, for
which the photographs were taken about six months later. Very simple: my
style changed. The style of every artist changes over time, even over just a
few months, depending upon what is influencing his or her work. With a
book that has as many extremely complex drawings as this ("complex" in
the sense that the positions of the fingers and cards are vital), it would not
be at all surprising if Smith did it in two batches.

4) The fact that "The Modern Conjuror" was one of the few (though not the
only) books to use photographs during that period would suggest not just


https://forums.geniimagazine.com/memberlist.php?mode=viewprofile&u=4
https://forums.geniimagazine.com/viewtopic.php?p=12514#p12514

that it was more expensive to use photographs, but the prevailing opinion
(which persists to this day) that illustrations are simply a BETTER way to
explain this type of material. Besides, Erdnase may have felt that actual
photographs of his hands might betray his identity. Either way, just because
photos do not appear in the book is no reason to presume that the
illustrations were not drawn from photographs.

5) The points about the sleeves and cuffs and table edges having nothing to
do with anything. When making a drawing like this, frequently the edges of
the table and the sleeves are not in view, or only partially in view, in the
photograph. They can, and frequently are, "made up" by the artist. And you
can see the difference in the line work when something has been traced
from a photo and when it hasn't--frankly, the fact that the cuffs or sleeves
sometimes look spontaneously drawn strengthens, NOT weakens, the
arguement that the illustrations were traced from photographs.

Richard Hatch | March 2nd, 2003, 7:32 pm | link | filter

Originally posted by Richard Kaufman:

1) The illustrations almost uniformly depict someone with small
chubby hands. Unless someone can find evidence that Smith
always drew peoples' hands looking small and chubby, we MUST
assume Erdnase's hands were small and chubby.

Smith recalled the author as having small, soft hands (softer than a
woman's), consistent with the above. This is important in the identity
search, since Milton Franklin Andrews was known to have large hands.
And, of course, he was 6' 1.5" in his stocking feet, taller than Smith, who
recalled looking down on the author, whom he recalled as being 5'6",
perhaps smaller, not taller than 5'7" (Smith himself appears to be about 6'
from a photo of him standing beside Paul Rosini and Martin Gardner which
can be see in Chuck Romano's Paul Rosini book, HOUSE OF CARDS.
Gardner was about 57" at that time. In fact, Smith told Gardner he was
about the same size as Erdnase when Gardner first interviewed him.
Gardner was unable to convince Smith that he might have met Milton
Franklin Andrews, due to the height discrepency.)
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Erdnase himself refers to the sizes of hands in several places. For example,
after describing the difficult one-handed Erdnase shift (p. 101), he says:
"We presume that the larger or longer the hand, the easier it will be for a
beginner to accomplish this shift, but a very small hand can perform the
action when the knack is once acquired." He seems to "know" about small
hands, but must "presume" when it comes to large hands, suggesting his
own hands are small, though this is open to interpretation. Vernon in
REVELATIONS says of Erdnase's description of the classic pass (p. 96):
"Erdnase's method for the two-handed shift is the only one in which tip of
thumb is held at side of pack and it is decidedly more efficient especially if
operator's hand is small." Suggesting again that Erdnase likely had small
hands...

Thanks to David Alexander for pointing these passages and their
significance out to me.

Guest | March 2nd, 2003, 8:23 pm | link | filter

I've thoroughly enjoyed reading this thread, the contributions have been
varied and well thought-through/informed. Fascinating stuff.

Thanks.

Guest | March 2nd, 2003, 9:14 pm | link | filter

I'd like to echo Eric's words. I started by asking on the proper way of
studying Erdnase and got a whole lot more. Although the emphasis of this
thread has been somewhat diluted, in reading these wonderful responses, I
have found them to be inspirational and very interesting to say the least.
Thanks everyone and keep 'em coming!

Roberto

Pete Biro | March 3rd, 2003, 10:25 am | link | filter
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Does ANYONE have proof that Expert at the Card Table was NOT written
by Walter B. Gibson? <GRD>

Richard Hatch | March 3rd, 2003, 10:53 am | link | filter

Originally posted by Pete Biro:
Does ANYONE have proof that Expert at the Card Table was
NOT written by Walter B. Gibson? <GRD>

It's very hard to prove a negative! That what gives Santa Claus, the Easter
Bunny and Milton Franklin Andrews such staying power... ;)

Richard Kaufman | March 3rd, 2003, 11:13 am | link | filter

How old was Gibson when Expert came out? Two?

Guest | March 3rd, 2003, 11:20 am | link | filter

Erdnase was actually Charlier.

Richard Hatch | March 3rd, 2003, 11:23 am | link | filter

Originally posted by Richard Kaufman:
How old was Gibson when Expert came out? Two?

Hey, according to the new Fechner biography, Robert-Houdin was baptised
several days before he was born (not a typo in Fechner's text, he points it
out himself in an endnote), so I wouldn't eliminate Gibson from the
growing candidate list on age alone (though you'd think Smith would
remember needing to change diapers between sketches!). Actually, Gibson
was seven at the time. Probably not quite 5'6", though his hands likely
would have been "small and soft". And he was from the East Coast. Oh
wait, it was Gibson who told Gardner in 1947 to contact Edgar Pratt, which
led to the Milton Franklin Andrews theory. And Gibson, ghost-writing for
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Radner, who gave the author's true name as "James Andrews". Clever
smokescreens to hide his own involvement?

Richard Hatch | March 3rd, 2003, 11:45 am | link | filter

Originally posted by Hen Kvetch:
Erdnase was actually Charlier.

Ironically, Charlier is the only magician mentioned by name in Erdnase, and
his name is misspelled at that: "This is known to conjurers as the "Charlies
[sic] pass" and we presume was invented by the famous magician of that
name." (p. 128). The move is used in a later trick and spelled properly, so
this is just a typo, but could be used both to argue that Erdnase was not an
active member of the magic fraternity (the whole legerdemain section has
him standing outside it: Why do conjurers always use the pass instead of
blind shuffles? He is clearly well read on magic and probably came up with
some of his great moves because he was not fraternising with magicians...)
and that the book did not have an editor (who would have caught the
discrepency) as David Alexander argues persuasively. I also don't think the
book had an editor, but I think it not so much due to his need for anonymity,
but due to his need for money: he couldn't afford one. This is consistent
with the cheap paper and binding, and the cheap hotel in which he met the
artist.

Jonathan Townsend | March 3rd, 2003, 2:04 pm | link | filter

Originally posted by Richard Hatch:

...not so much due to his need for anonymity, but due to his need
for money: he couldn't afford one. This is consistent with the
cheap paper and binding, and the cheap hotel in which he met the
artist.

Hi Rich,

I'm trying to read this thread and glean the back story as you and some
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others collect evidence. The money issue itself begs some questions.

Is E@CT to be interpreted like Nicolo Machavelli's work as intended to
regain favor at some court or clique?

Did the author claim to be reformed? If so, why not get a church involved?
If the work had a different tone and focus it might be framed as a 'how to
save your money from evil people' type work.

If not, then there is money to be taken from the card table and not much
motivation to write a compromising book. Even if one had students one
might wish to protect the material by coding the text and limiting the
illustrations to just what the student might have forgotten from the lessons
given.

More puzzled than usual

-Jon

Guest | March 3rd, 2003, 2:15 pm | link | filter

The publisher of the Erdnase facsimile I'm distributing asked me to post his
theory here concerning the illustrations in Erdnase. BTW, because the
illustrations are so clear in this facsimile, the point he makes is more easily
seen.

His theory is basically this: there were at least 3 artists illustrating Erdnase.
Possibly Erdnase (to save money) or Smith (to save time) had a colleague
or student do some of the work. The publisher cites 3 illustrations for his
theory: On page 29, Fig. 1, the hands look anatomically correct and
professionally rendered. On page 132, Fig. 68, the hands look awkward &
amateurishly rendered (compare especially how the base of the fingers meet
the hand). Finally, on the facing page (p. 133, Fig. 69), the hands & cuffs
seem quite different again. Also, a heart can clearly be seen drawn on the
back of the lower hand! This apparently is a device that students use to get
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the proportions & shape of the hand correct. It is the only illustration in the
whole book that has this heart shape visible.

Michael Canick

Richard Hatch | March 3rd, 2003, 2:25 pm | link | filter

Originally posted by Michael Canick:

Finally, on the facing page (p. 133, Fig. 69), the hands & cuffs seem
quite different again. Also, a heart can clearly be seen drawn on
the back of the lower hand! This apparently is a device that
students use to get the proportions & shape of the hand correct. It
is the only illustration in the whole book that has this heart shape
visible.

Gazzo seems to think the heart shape (which is edited out of some later
reprints) is a significant clue to the author's identity. He also thinks the fact
that it occurs in Fig. 69 might be of importance. I don't know how to
interpret any of this. Gazzo also thinks that the final words of the book "no
hocus pocus" are important. He first suggested to me the idea of using the
Bee Ace design to try to date the book, but as noted earlier, it only put a
lower bound of 1892 (when Bee brand was introduced, I believe, working
from memory here) on that particular illustration. He thinks the book could
have been written decades before being published and that the relative
popularity of the games mentioned could also be used to date it...

Guest | March 4th, 2003, 12:46 am | link | filter

The really great thing about this thread is that 'm READING Erdnase
again. Believe it or not, there are many among us who haven't even read it!
As Darwin Ortiz mentioned, "The work of art is always more important
than the artist" (I'm quoting by memory, but its a good point.) It would be
nice to see a discussion on the book itself, but really, what else could be
said, other than: READ IT! It is a wonderful experience.

Anyway, can't John Edward find out who he was? Ha ha.
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Seriously, if I was in a position to do so, I would gladly see to it that
Richard Hatch and David Alexander receive a grant to continue their
research. We're getting close and clsoer it seems. Remember years ago (in
The Phoenix?), it was mentioned triumphantly "They mystery of Erdnase
has been solved!" If they only knew...

And if Erdnase himself only knew the lasting influence he'd have!

Go forth now and read the book, if you haven't done so, you'll thank me.

Charlie Chang | March 4th, 2003, 2:24 am | link | filter

I just caught up on this thread and have just spent an hour going through it.
Wow. I hope someone is recording a lot of this - it's one of the best Internet
threads I have ever seen on a magic site.

I am not qualified to offer a theory on Erdnase's identity. I happen to
subscribe to Richard Hatch's excellent candidate but have been fascinated
by all the potential Erdnase suspects put forward by David Alexander and
Mr Hatch. I think we are very fortunate to have two passionate historians
researching this mystery from different perspectives.

I have a theory that may answer a lot of questions about the drawings in
Erdnase.

First of all, I think it would be important to learn the details of obtaining
101 photographs in the late 19th century. I assume it would be extremely
expensive and quite difficult in itself. Not like buying a roll of film and
dropping it at the one hour photo booth.

Assuming that obtaining 101 photographs would not prove to be prohibitive
we should also consider the idea of someone going to such an expense only
to have the photographs converted into drawings. At this stage in the life
span of photography such an idea might seem extremely fanciful if not
downright stupid.

Experts in the history of photography might be able to clarify this.
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Now, if I was Mr Smith and I was required to draw from life, I find it quite
unlikely that I would sit with my subject and complete each illustration in
front of him.

It would be much smarter to perform quick sketches, outlining the position
and size of the hands and cards. Such sketches can be completed in a matter
of SECONDS.

Before you dismiss this, consider that such preliminary sketches were an
accepted tool of the pre-photography artist.

Now look at the drawings in Erdnase. These are not real hands. Yes, they
may accurately reflect the size and shape of the subject BUT these hands
are fanciful - they are drawn, in my opinion, from the illustrator's mind.

I think Smith sat with Erdnase and made dozens of quick sketches. Then,
later, he used those sketches to create the illustrations, applying his
understanding of the human hand to the positions shown in his initial
drawings.

He could then return them to his employer by mail.

While I do not have Richard or Earl Oaks' experience, I have illustrated
several small books and studied anatomy and life drawing at the Glasgow

School Of Art.

I think that both Richard and Earl are approaching the problem from their
position as excellent draughtsmen.

I believe Smith approached the task as an artist.

Richard Hatch | March 4th, 2003, 6:43 am | link | filter



https://forums.geniimagazine.com/memberlist.php?mode=viewprofile&u=181
https://forums.geniimagazine.com/viewtopic.php?p=12529#p12529

Originally posted by R P Wilson:

It would be much smarter to perform quick sketches, outlining the
position and size of the hands and cards. Such sketches can be
completed in a matter of SECONDS.

Before you dismiss this, consider that such preliminary sketches
were an accepted tool of the pre-photography artist....

I think Smith sat with Erdnase and made dozens of quick sketches.
Then, later, he used those sketches to create the illustrations,
applying his understanding of the human hand to the positions
shown in his initial drawings.

In fact, this i1s EXACTLY the process described by Smith when interviewed
by Martin Gardner in December 1946, some 45 years after the fact. He told
Gardner he made sketches which the author approved. He then left the hotel
room in which they met to return to his studio to ink them in. He did not
recall tracing them from photographs, which I think he would have
remembered. He was trained at the Chicago Art institute and doing
extensive illustrating at this time (he later gave up this line of work in favor
or oil painting, which paid him better). He recalled that his work at the time
was for "cheap magazines", indicating that he likely did not command a
high price for his services, consistent with the book's author having a profit
motive (i.e., "'needing the money"). What is strange about his recollection is
that he was both surprised by the large number of illustrations (he'd have
guessed he did 20-30 not 101) and that he did not recognize them. He
claimed he did recognize the handwriting beneath them, i.e., "Fig. 1", "Fig.
2" etc. I find that very strange. Apparently Vernon was so disappointed with
the artist's recollection (when interviewed in May 1947 at the SAM
convention in Chicago some months after Gardner found him) that he
expressed some doubt as to whether Smith had actually illustrated the book
at all...

Charlie Chang | March 4th, 2003, 7:13 am | link | filter
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This method for producing the illustrations could feasibly explain many
things.

If Smith were working from sketches the quality of each drawing is bound
to vary. Lets say he did five drawings in each session. It is entirely likely
that the quality of the drawings will not be constant. This could also be
explained by the quality of his preliminary sketches.

There is 1s also no way to determine the order in which he did the drawings.
He may have started with illustration 69 - then 25 then 101 and so on.

It is also possible that the illustrations were not numbered by Smith at all.
As an illustrator, I think it best to mark an illustration at the lower left
corner of the paper. The drawing can then be labelled later when the book is
being laid out. I seriously doubt that the illustrations were numbered by
Smith the way they are in the book. This ma be the work of McKinney or
even Erdnase himself.

As to Smith's surprise that he did so many drawings - I think we can
consider this as a minor issue. How many times have you mis-remembered
an event or even a period from your past? This was no-doubt a novel job for
Smith but by no means the highlight of his career. Why should he recall
every detail 45 years later?

Maybe he was surprised that he had done so many drawings. This does not
mean he did not do them.

Bob Coyne | March 4th, 2003, 7:43 am | link | filter

I think the point relayed by Michael Canick, that there might have been
multiple artists is plausible. Looking through them, a few groups jump out
(to my eye). Specifically, I think figures 84, 85, 86, 87, and especially 88
seem of inferior quality. And 92, 93, 94, 97 also. Others look very well
drawn with correct proportions.


https://forums.geniimagazine.com/memberlist.php?mode=viewprofile&u=545
https://forums.geniimagazine.com/viewtopic.php?p=12531#p12531

Multiple artists would fit with Smith's recollection that there were many
more than he remembered. It would also fit with Erdnase needing money.
Perhaps he could only afford to have a limited number professionally
illustrated (by Smith). For others he found less competent (and cheaper)
help.

diagonalpalmshift | March 4th, 2003, 3:40 pm | link | filter

I know very little about drawing, and, honestly, when I looked at the
illustrations I thought they were all better than I could do, and therefore
thought all of them were good. However, maybe Mr. Erdnase only had Mr.
Smith do the drawings he could not do himself because they were too
difficult, or he wanted them to be very accurate. Perhaps he had worked on
them prior to meeting or hiring Smith. Are the more difficult drawings
consistently the better ones?

Also, I think Erdnase would have mentioned if he had additional artists
work on the book, unless he put Mr. Smith's name in the book for purposes
other than giving credit. Further, in the book he seems like a man who
wanted to at least appear modest, since, after he named the S.W.E. Shift, he
kind of downplays the use of his name in the title. This, in my mind, makes
it possible that he might have worked on some of the illustrations himself
without mentioning it. What would the price difference be if you had all the
drawings done or just the ones that have been perceived as not as
exceptional?

Regards,

Ricky Smith

Pete McCabe | March 4th, 2003, 4:03 pm | link | filter

Sorry if I missed this in this long and wonderful thread, but do some of our
resident experts have any thoughts on the significance of the name of the
S.W.E. Shift?
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I'm thinking, for example, that if S.W. Erdnase were really E.S. Andrews,
he might have chosen a different title that would reflect his real name better.

Just a thought. Thanks to everyone for posting the results of their labor here
for all to share.

Pete

Bob Coyne | March 4th, 2003, 7:49 pm | link | filter

Pete McCabe asks: Sorry if I missed this in this long and wonderful
thread, but do some of our resident experts have any thoughts on the
significance of the name of the S.W.E. Shift?

David Alexander's fascinating and tantalizing theory (printed in Genii or
Magic a couple years ago) is that S.W. Erdnase is really an anagram of real
person named W.E. Sanders. Regarding the S.W.E. shift, "W.E.S." (Sander's
initials) is what you get when you perform a shift on "S.W.E" (Erdnase's
initials). The "S" packet gets shifted from the top (beginning) to the bottom
(end).

David also points out that Erdnase means "Earth nose" in German. Sanders
was a mining engineer. Maybe a coincidence, or maybe a clever pseudonym
that functions both as an anagram and a description. Anyway, it's been a
while since I read it, but there were various other things that would link
Sanders and Erdnase, but nothing conclusive I think. Apparently there are
also diaries of Sanders in existence, but I don't know if anything in them
supports the theory or not.

Pete McCabe | March 4th, 2003, 10:27 pm | link | filter

Thanks Bob, and by extension, David. And everybody else on this thread.
This is just another of those things that would have been utterly impossible
just 11 years ago, before the World Wide Web was invented.
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Todd Karr | March 4th, 2003, 10:39 pm | link | filter

Hi, everyone

First of all, stay tuned for Martin Breese's upcoming CD-ROM release of
the entire file of The Magic Wand. The very first issue (1910) begins a
series by Professor Hoffmann analyzing moves in Erdnase (the
Fleming/Gambler's Book CLub edition has this material, too).

Richard Hatch and I have been discussing Erdnase in-depth recently and he
suggested I share a few thoughts. I do NOT want to get into an endless
debate and quibble about details...I'm just sharing some ideas.

I also do think it's important to check out as many avenues as possible, so
Richard and everyone else should continue their leads and see what turns

up.

One of my first comments to Richard, whose historical wisdom I greatly
respect, was that my background is in investigative journalism and in
historical research (plus 12 years as a full-time magician). A few rules I
follow: 1. Use common sense and get the facts correct. 2. Without proof,
theories are just speculation. 3. People's memories are not facts (just look
how people inaccurately recall your magic feats to their friends).

The artwork: Erdnase most likely made many of the changes himself to
Smith's artwork, altering some and perhaps composing others by tracing
Smith's drawings and making necessary changes when he saw Smith got
certain details wrong. Erdnase probably didn't have the money to have
Smith redo them: he states up front he was publishing the book for the
money and Smith said he met the guy in a cheap hotel room. If he did hire a
second artist, it does look like the work of an amateur as pointed out.

Copyright notices: It looks like Erdnase inserted the notices mainly where
he had room to do so. It appears that the layout was typeset, after which a
paranoid Erdnase decided to insert copyright notices under the artwork,
perhaps thinking the drawings weren't covered by the copyright at the
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beginning of the book. (This makes me think this man did not know much
about the law.)

Erdnase's character: I would say this was a very bright fellow, a good,
detailed writer. I believe he used a pseudonym because he feared retribution
by crooked gamblers. (This was probably a rough time to mess with the
livelihood of card sharps. Look how peeved the magic community was with
the Masked Magician and multiply exponentially.) I think this paranoia is
reflected in the overkill with the book's copyrights.

Magician or gambler: The book feels like it was written by a magician. |
believe this person was an incredibly skillful and knowledgeable gambler
but I think his knowledge of magic is just too great for a non-magician.
Secondly, I feel that the text is TOO careful to point out shortcomings of
"those conjurers"...it really feels to me like the author was taking great
pains to pose as a gambler. His prose also feels like someone trying hard to
give the impression of being erudite but amusing.

Publishing: I checked the first ad in The Sphinx, 1902 (as Richard Hatch

points out below, it's mainly the text from the book's forward, ending with
the author saying he's in it for the money...not a great way to lure buyers).
My feeling is that sales were awful for the first few months, so he decided
to sell some other way (as Richard indicates, through Vernelo, then Atlas).

Residence: I don't think it's easy to pinpoint anything about where this man
lived. These were not the pioneer days of horse-pulled wagons. Look at the
traveling schedules of performers in those days (Germain did 45 shows in
45 cities in 46 days): people were mobile and New York to Chicago trips
were not impossible. The fact that he met Smith in a hotel room was
probably not just for privacy, but because he was in fact from out of town.

The pseudonym: Erdnase was clever, but I don't think the name was too far
from whatever name he started with. Andrew or Andrews was probably part
of it. (I keep wondering about E.S. Burns, who owned Atlas...that E.S. is
spooky.)



Smith's memory: I think it's not a good idea to put too much weight on
Smith's recollections. This is very flimsy proof, and without an exact record
of his conversations with Erdnase, I feel one must be very careful chasing
leads or making assumptions based mainly on what Smith said.

Where to look: I would check anyone in magic who was a card expert at
that time, as well as anything written about gambling. The only smoking
gun I think we will find at this point are more writings by this person, who
was an excellent writer and probably wrote more somewhere. A careful
comparison of texts with the same phrasing and words would be a very
convincing development.

Now, who's going to help me find out who Elbiquet was? If you read his
book Supplementary Magic, you'll see that his presentational theories had a
huge influence on Al Baker. (And he is probably not Louis Branson, who
had a totally different writing style and an opposite outlook on magic, and
was much, much less insightful.)

Bill Palmer | March 4th, 2003, 10:54 pm | link | filter

Originally posted by Richard Kaufman:

mrmagik, don't waste your time with all of the oddball passes in
the book. I have never seen a single person do an invisible SWE
Shift or Open Shift. Never.

I have the advantage of Mr. Kaufman, then, for I have actually SEEN Harry
Riser do an invisible SWE shift. It was a long time ago. I saw him do it
about a half dozen times. I didn't believe he had actually done anything.

Richard Hatch | March 4th, 2003, 11:36 pm | link | filter

Originally posted by Todd Karr:

Publishing: I checked the first ad in The Sphinx, 1902, and the
author did not write very good copy, not focusing on the work's
value to magicians, trying to be very florally about its contents,
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and then concluding by saying he's in it for the money...not a great
way to lure buyers. My feeling is that sales were awful for the first
few months, so he decided to sell through dealers, first Vernelo,
then Atlas.

The first advertisement in THE SPHINX was in the November 1902 issue.
It was simply the preface to the book, minus his statement about "needing
the money". I agree that the advertisement was not a good one, but would
blame that on the Vernelos, who were doing advertising, not the author of
the book they were selling.

I read the evidence very differently than Todd, but perhaps that is what
makes the book a classic: we each see what we want to see in it!

Todd Karr | March 4th, 2003, 11:42 pm | link | filter

The November 1902 ad ends with:

"But whatever the result may be, if it sells it will accomplish the primary
motive of the author."

Richard Hatch | March 5th, 2003, 1:19 am | link | filter

The original last sentence of his preface to the book is:

"But it will not make the innocent vicious, or transform the pastime player
into a professional; or make the fool wise, or curtail the annual crop of
suckers; but whatever the result may be, if it sells it will accomplish the
primary motive of the author, as he needs the money."

The Vernelo ad in the Sphinx is just his preface, minus the last phrase. I
don't think the author intended his preface to be used as a stand-alone ad for
the book, as the Vernelos used it. He would probably have used something
along the lines of his titlepage summary of the contents which may be
viewed as his ad for the book:
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"Embracing the whole calendar of slights [sic] that are employed by the
gambler and conjurer, describing with detail and illustration every known
expedient, manoevre and strategem [sic] of the expert card handler, with
over one hundred drawings from life by M. D. Smith. Price $2.00"

I also happen to think the preface is a truly fine piece of writing.
And I think the author "needed the money"!

Nathan | March 5th, 2003, 11:16 pm | link | filter

Since the discussion has somewhat turned to the writing style in the book,
here are some comments I have. Has anyone else considering these before?

The only blatant grammatically incorrect sentence I've found is in the Cull
Shuffling section: "Lightning don't strike in the same place often..." This
sentence sounds so out of place that everytime I read it I wonder if Erdnase
really wrote it.

I have heard about people comparing writing samples from diaries of
suspected authors in a search for a match. Has anyone looked into the
phrase "quick as a flash." It seems that Erdnase likes to use it to the point
where it is almost overused. It may just be a common expression of the
period, but given the elegance of Erdnase's style I find it somewhat hard to
believe that he would succumb to overuse of a catch-phrase of the day.
Perhaps it could be a clue to his hometown (or region) dialect?

Richard Hatch | March 6th, 2003, 2:13 am | link | filter

I had hoped to get Shakespearean scholar Don Foster interested in the
Erdnase problem. He's the fellow who unmasked Joe Klein as the
anonymous author of PRIMARY COLORS. I sent him an email several
years ago, never heard back. Then I read his terrific book, AUTHOR
UNKNOWN: IN SEARCH OF ANONYMOUS and learned he gets
hundreds of such requests each week... I had also falsely assumed (as many
do) that he had some kind of computer program to compare styles and you
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could just dump in two samples and check for a match. But that is not what
he does. I do recommend his book as it is highly entertaining and parallels
the Erdnase identity search in many ways. Foster's reputation suffered a
slight setback recently as his early reputation was based on convincing
scholars that an obscure 16th century funeral elegy by "W.S." was a
previously unattributed work of William Shakespeare. Recent scholarhip
has shown someone else wrote it...

Bart Whaley when researching THE MAN WHO WAS ERDNASE took
some kind of style matching software and compared the "style" of Erdnase
to that of Milton Franklin Andrews' confession/alibi letters and found a
"match". He also compared the style of Erdnase to that of William Hilliar,
their candidate as Milton's ghostwriter, and also found a match. To my way
of thinking, that shows Hilliar could have "ghosted" the confession/alibi
letters, which is patently ridiculous, and so the excercise proves nothing. In
fairness to Whaley, this was done when such programs were light years
removed from what they would be today. So he deserves credit for having
made the attempt.

Jeff Eline | March 6th, 2003, 10:36 am | link | filter

I have nothing to add to this conversation, except to say that it is
fascinating! Thank you!

Guest | March 6th, 2003, 2:46 pm | link | filter

Regarding Nathan Becker's observation of an obviously ungrammatical
phrase in Erdnase, I feel that this might have been an intentionally used
colloquialism.

Regarding Dick Hatch's discussion of style-matching computer software,
my understanding is that these programs are quite sophisticated. They look
for grammatical patterns (e.g., how often does an author use adverbs?
Where in a sentence do adverbs tend to occur? How many words apart (in
range) are the adverb from the verb? Etc.) and compare these patterns in
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two or more writing samples.

Many years ago, I had a professor who used such a program to confirm his
suspicion that Hemingway wrote one of his books earlier in his career than
he claimed.

Is there someone on the Genii Forum who has access to such a program?

Michael Canick

Guest | March 7th, 2003, 9:42 pm | link | filter

Hi Michael Canick,

Are you suppling dealers with this edition of Erdnase? Just curious. And do
you accept Paypal? It sounds like a nice thing to own, even for a minimalist
like me.

Guest | March 8th, 2003, 8:22 am | link | filter

Hi John (and any other interested party):

My agreement with the publisher prohibits me from selling discounted
copies to dealers (although they may buy as many as they want for retail
<g>) or from offering discounts to anyone. Sorry.

We accept any type of payment (except shells) including major credit cards
& PayPal, which can be sent to my e-mail addy below.

The price again is $52 + $5 P&H for domestic orders. For multiple copies
& international orders, please contact me privately. In fact, I think it would
be respectiful to this topic discussion if any commercial inquiries be
directed to me privately at my contact info below. You can find out more
info on the book at our site or on the Genii Collector's Forum.

Best,
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Michael
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* Michael Canick Booksellers, L.L.C.

* 200 East 82nd Street, #3B

* New York, NY 10028
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* E-Mail: canick @panix.com

* Website: http://www.canick.com

* By Appointment.
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Guest | March 8th, 2003, 8:32 am | link | filter

Hi John (and any other interested party):

My agreement with the publisher prohibits me from selling discounted
copies to dealers (although they may buy as many as they want for retail
<g>) or from offering discounts to anyone. Sorry.

We accept any type of payment (except shells) including major credit cards
& PayPal, which can be sent to my e-mail addy below.

The price again is $52 + $5 P&H for domestic orders. For multiple copies
& international orders, please contact me privately. In fact, I think it would
be respectiful to this topic discussion if any commercial inquiries be
directed to me privately at my contact info below. You can find out more
info on the book at our site or on the Genii Collector's Forum.

Best,
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NCMarsh | March 8th, 2003, 1:57 pm | link | filter

I'd like to first talk a bit about the question of the extent to which Erdnase
was genuinely interested in magic, then the question of using computers to
pinpoint authorship....

some comments on Erdnase:

Magician v. Gambler:
Some Observations:

e Erdnase cares about how magicians perform. He has thought,
carefully, about how magic should be performed and passionately
exhorts the learner to adopt certain practices.

e The sleights in his "Legerdemain" section are just as carefully and
thoughtfully conceived as those designed primarily for the card table.
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e He is familiar with the practices and methods of contemporary
conjurers.

e The Exclusive Coterie is an highly entertaining presentation for an
assembly. When delivered by someone who interprets the words well,
it is an extremely entertaining piece for contemporary audiences (as
Ricky Jay very convincingly proved in his first off-broadway show). I
have seen very many magicians (including myself at one time) who
have put little thought into the presentation of an assembly; Erdnase
presents a polished and interesting script carefully coordinated to the
performer's actions.

If he were merely tacking on a section on conjuring to increase the sales of
his work, why put more thought into the content than many conjurers
would? Why spend the time developing and finessing such powerful,
groundbreaking sleights when they are utterly useless to one who's
exclusive interest is in card artifice at the gaming table?

Was Erdnase a Magician? I think that Erdnase was, primarily, a lover of
artistic card handling. I believe that he began as a gambler, but that a love
for his tools outpaced in him the love of wager; he began to thouroughly
explore the manipulation of playing cards...and this led him to experiment
with the sleights and methods of conjurers and, perhaps, to begin to perform
himself.

I think Erdnase was a sort of inverse Dai Vernon. Vernon was a magician
whose love of deceptive and artistic card handling led him to explore and
think about the methods of gamblers. Erdnase, to my mind, was a gambler
whose love of deceptive and artistic card handling led him to explore and
think about the methods of magicians... What think the experts?

some comments about attempts to quantify style:
The use of computer software to determine authorship seems highly suspect

to me. Any such software depends upon postulates that are neither self-
evident nor demonstrable, namely that:



e published works by the same author, in the same period, will always
feature the same characteristics
e multiple authors will not have the same stylistic profile.

if the second postulate is false, and we can't prove it's not, then a mere
stylistic match proves nothing. In a case like that of Primary Colors further
verification is possible because the writer is a contemporary. With Erdnase,
because no one is alive to admit authorship and the evidence of the act of
writing the work are largely buried by time, we are dealing with a much
more difficult proposition. In order to verify the results of any philological
analysis we would need some new evidence external to the text; of course if
we had such new evidence, then philological work would be moot...either
way we see that without some new evidence external to the text itself, we
will never be able to definitively assert that any candidate was Erdnase...we
are engaging in an endeavor that will probably always remain speculative --
and I, for one, really love mystery...

best,

nate.

Guest | March 9th, 2003, 10:33 pm | link | filter

I remember Jon Racherbaumer writing something, somewhere (Magic
Magazine?) about an annotated Erdnase by Marlo. He was emphatic about
saying that the book DID NOT exist. Would have been nice though. And
BIG. Anyway, who among us today, would be qualified for the job of a
third annotated Erdnase? Is there any such project in the works?

Another thing...Erdnase is a great book, and Vernon was a great magician.
The book, all by itself is indeed wonderful. But for Vernon, it really spoke
to him. He worked at getting it, and he just GOT it. We all have books that
speak to us, better than others. For me, CLOSE-UP CARD MAGIC, is one
such. Perhaps if any of us took the time to be as THOROUGH with our
"speaking volumes" (Sorry David!), as Vernon was with his, we'd each have
a better understanding of magic, as we see it, as what it is to us individually.
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Yeah, [ know: as it happened Vernon "got" a really good one! Does this
makes sense? Or is it a non point? I had good intentions when I started!

Guest | March 10th, 2003, 5:22 pm | link | filter

Actually, the book was "Revelations". It was given to Marlo,he wrote
comments in the book, then the book was given to Vernon,where he too
wrote comments. The person who was suppose to have the book passed
away many years ago. The search for the holy grail continues..............

Richard Kaufman | March 10th, 2003, 6:34 pm | link | filter

Here's the story: a guy by the name of Chuck (think his last name was
Stanfield--a nice guy) worked at Magic Inc. and had a huge collection of
signed first editions. He bought a copy of "Revelations" when it was
published and gave it to Marlo so he could write some comments in it,
based upon Vernon's annotations. Marlo did this, belittling Vernon's
additions. Chuck then gave the book to Vernon to sign, and to get his
reaction to Marlo's jealous scribblings. Vernon wrote, "Ed, keep striving,"
or something along those lines.

Chuck died of AIDS years ago and Jay Marshall inherited his library. So,
Jay Marshall now has the book.

Dustin Stinett | March 10th, 2003, 8:20 pm | link | filter

Originally posted by John Blaze:
Anyway, who among us today, would be qualified for the job of a
third annotated Erdnase?

Off the top of my head I can think of four men who are eminently qualified.
However, another quality these men share in common is that they would
never, ever, consider it.

Dustin
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Max Maven | March 10th, 2003, 8:33 pm | link | filter

Originally posted by Richard Kaufman:

Here's the story: a guy by the name of Chuck (think his last name
was Stanfield--a nice guy) worked at Magic Inc. and had a huge
collection of signed first editions. He bought a copy of
"Revelations" when it was published and gave it to Marlo so he
could write some comments in it, based upon Vernon's
annotations. Marlo did this, belittling Vernon's additions. Chuck
then gave the book to Vernon to sign, and to get his reaction to
Marlo's jealous scribblings. Vernon wrote, "Ed, keep striving," or
something along those lines.

Chuck died of AIDS years ago and Jay Marshall inherited his
library. So, Jay Marshall now has the book.

Chuck's last name was indeed Stanfield.

Vernon wrote addenda to several of Marlo's comments. I believe the
punchline was closer to, "Ed, keep up the good work."

The Standfield collection was sold, most of it piecemeal, so the owner of
that double-annotated copy of Revelations 1s not necessarily Jay.

Jon Racherbaumer | March 10th, 2003, 11:31 pm | link | filter

I have a COPY of the Marlo comments re REVELATIONS, comments
which were not really annotations but short, negative remarks more
accurately resembling snide marginalia.

REVELATIONS of course is better than the knee-jerk demeaning reactions
that circulated when the book appeared. They more accurately reflected an
almost unanimous disappointment of the book they imagined rather than
sage or informed appraisals of the book that actually exists. This often
happens when expectations are too unrealistically high in the first place.

I DO have a scattered collection of Marlo's true annotations, which would
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now make an interesting and very personal book. Right now it is not in
book form, though.

EXPERT AT THE CARD TABLE, to me, is a curious book and the current
interest in this work and its mysterious author or authors is even more
curious. I also find it interesting that nobody talks about McDougal's "take"
or his Erdnasian book anymore?

Comments?

El Mystico | March 11th, 2003, 11:17 am | link | filter

Wonderful thread!

One point not touched on is Erdnase as teacher. Certainly the whole book
demonstrates his ability in this area - but specifically in describing the
Three Card Stock within Card Table Artifice, he says "Certain players
whom we have instructed, can execute the stock with the greatest facility".
And the three card stock has far more purpose for gambling than for magic.
Whereas I can see no equivalent indication of teaching in the legerdemain
section. So - he gave lessons in gambling technique, it would seem.

Does this lend weight to the argument he was a gambler? In the
introduction to the artifice section, he says "some techniques will remain
private property as long as the originators are so disposed" - highlighting
that some gamblers were sharing their private techniques with him. Yet in
the introduction to the Legerdemain section, he says "...as far as we can
learn from the exhibitions and literature of conjurers, not one of them
knows of" (a substitute for the pass), suggesting, if, he is reliant on
literature, he is not so well aquainted with magicians - but then later, when
talking about the diagonal palm shift, he does refer to a move as being "well
known to most conjurers" - which could indicate a familiarity with our
breed...

Dave Egleston | March 14th, 2003, 8:31 pm | link | filter
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To all contributers:

Thank you very much - This thread is conclusive proof - Best magic board
on the net

Dave

(By the way Mr Alexander, I checked out your wife's drawings - She draws
real good!!)

John Bodine | March 19th, 2003, 12:05 pm | link | filter

Regarding the illustrations, isn't it probably that Erdnase had already
penned the majority if not entire contents of hte book and was seeking
illustrations to clarify or strengthen certain points? If you agree that this
was the case, isn't it possible that the description of a sleight or move could
have been given to Smith for reference while he was illustrating.
Alternatively, Smith could have done quick sketches and later inked them
in. Upon receiving the final illustrations Erdnase accepted the work but then
while laying up the art noticed that the illustrations did not exactly match
the accompanying text. It wouldn't have been too difficult for him to trace
an existing image with only minor adjustments.

This might explain why some of the images don't seem quite right while
others are very perfect. It may also provide some clue as to why some
images contain copyright statements while others do not.

Fantastic thread - thank you all.

John Bodine

P.S. Richard, I know I still owe you some pictures of potential residences
for Edwin Sumner. I'll put the activity a bit higher on my list.

Richard Hatch | March 20th, 2003, 7:00 am | link | filter
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Originally posted by John Bodine:

P.S. Richard, I know I still owe you some pictures of potential
residences for Edwin Sumner. I'll put the activity a bit higher on
my list.

Thanks, John. Looking forward to it. With luck this may allow us to get a
better grip on E. S. Andrews' height, should the one known photograph
show him in front of a residence that still exists. It's a longshot, but you
never know. (Clearly he is "short" relative to the rest of his family in the
photo, including his two adolescent children...)

Is anyone interested in a post about Martin Gardner's pursuit of "James

Andrews"? His correspondence with the Library of Congress on this topic
in early 1947 has at least one surprising "revelation"...

Frank Yuen | March 20th, 2003, 8:54 am | link | filter

Yes, please post it. This thread has probably been the one that I've enjoyed
the most.

Frank Yuen

Richard Hatch | March 20th, 2003, 10:53 am | link | filter

I'll try to dig out Gardner's correspondence later today and post this, rather
than work from memory and get things wrong...

Richard Hatch | March 25th, 2003, 1:11 pm | link | filter

On December 10, 1946, Martin Gardner in Chicago wrote letters to
Marshall D. Smith, Richard W. Hood (son of and successor to Edwin C.
Hood, founder of H. C. Evans & Company, the Chicago based gambling
supplier since 1892) and the Canadian Copyright office, asking all of them
specific questions about S. W. Erdnase and his book. All responded
promptly and only the Canadian copyright office yielded no information,
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other than the fact that they could find no record of copyright there. Smith
responded just two days later and in his reply letter he wrote: I did the
drawings for Mr. Erdnase whose name I had forgotten. When Gardner met
Smith the very next day, Gardners notes tell us: Before I [Gardner]
mentioned Andrews as the name, he said that Erdnase didnt sound right,
and he recalled it as a name with a W. When I said Andrews his face lighted
up and he was sure that was it. Does not recall first name or initials. I think
it worth noting that Smith did not independently recall the name as
Andrews, though he strongly supported Gardners suggestion. Gardners
interview with Smith and his subsequent correspondence yielded quite a bit
of specific information regarding the books author, including a detailed
physical description and the fact that he was somehow related to Louis
Dalrymple, the famous political cartoonist of the period. He also recalled
that he made pencil sketches of the authors hands, then took them home to
ink them in after the author had OKd each sketch. He thought the job took
him about two weeks, though he had specific memories of only their initial
meeting

Just a month later, on July 16th, 1947, Gardner wrote the Librarian of
Congress for the first time about the book. In that letter he says: The authors
real name was James Andrews. He obtained the pseudonym of S. W.
Erdnase by spelling his real name backwards, including the last two letters
of James.

In his reply some two months later (March 17th, 1947), Robert C. Gooch,
Chief of the General Reference and Bibliography Division, after supplying
the bibliographic information Gardner requested, writes: We are very
interested to note that you have discovered evidence that this authors real
name is James Andrews. Our Processing Department would be pleased to
learn in what source this information may be found, in order to complete its
records. In his detailed response of March 20, 1947, Gardner writes:
Regarding the authors real name: In my research on Erdnase I located M. D.
Smith, the artist who did the illustrations. He lives in Chicago, a hale and
hearty man of about 80 [in fact, he 74 at the time -rh]. He remembered
Erdnases real name (I.e. James Andrews). With this as a lead, I found a
magazine article by James Andrews in Harpers Weekly, June 26, 1909,
titled Confessions of a Fakir, which contains intrinsic material that
establishes it beyond doubt as by the same author as the book on gambling



methods. This article was reprinted in Conjurers Magazine in August 1949.
Just two months later, in October 1949, Gardner found articles from 1905
detailing the lurid life and death of card cheat Milton Franklin Andrews,
who had been described to him as Erdnase (without revealing his name) by
Philadelphia magician, E. L. Pratt. Within a short period of time, Gardner
abandoned the James Andrews theory in favor of Milton Franklin Andrews.
What surprised me in Gardners correspondence was the claim that he was
led to the James Andrews theory by Marshall Smiths recollection. He met
Smith in December 1946 and makes this claim in March 1947, though
mentions the James Andrews name just one month after meeting Smith. He
made no mention of James Andrews in his article THE MYSTERY OF
ERDNASE published in the SAM Convention program in May 1947. James
Andrews is mentioned in Vincent Starretts weekly Books Alive column in
the Chicago Sunday Tribune of June 15th, 1947: For nearly half a century
the identity of Erdnase remained a mystery; then the ingenious Mr. Gardner
read the name backwards and produced E. S. Andrews. But who was E. S.
Andrews? A later discovery by Mr. Gardner revealed him as James
Andrews; the initials obtained by spelling the name in reverse were the last
two letters of James. This final revelation came too late for inclusion in Mr.
Gardners article, The Mystery of Erdnase, and were revealed to me in a
letter supplementing the printed revelation The same article mentions
Smith, but without crediting him with this revelation. It does credit Smith
with the Louis Dalrymple clue, noting that Dalrymple was then [1902] a
cartoonist and comic artist for the Chicago Tribune. (Incidentally, Smith
acknowledged receiving a copy of the Tribune article from Gardner in his
letter of June 24, 1947).

Alas, Gardners own recollection of this episode is now pretty dim (he is
more than a decade older than Smith was back then and it was 55 years
ago!). He now thinks it likely that he first found the article in Harpers
Weekly, then asked Smith about the name James Andrews and got some
kind of encouragement, though this is, of course, not what Gardner wrote to
the Library of Congress at the time. And why did he omit the reference to
James in the SAM Program? Surely not, as the Tribune article states,
because he obtained it too late for inclusion. He had the information in
January, the convention wasnt till May

Some of you may recall that I was once enthusiastic about a James Andrews



candidate myself, specifically, James DeWitt Andrews, a Chicago attorney
and writer of legal treatises. I remain interested in James DeWitt Andrews,
but in trying to link him to Dalrymple, I stumbled across Edwin Sumner
Andrews, whom I consider a more likely fit on circumstantial grounds. The
most intriguing response to the MAGIC article (December 1999) I wrote on
this topic (which included considerable information on James DeWitt
Andrews) came from reader Michael DeMarco. He found the circumstantial
case I made for JDA sufficiently compelling to search the first edition title
page (which seems to be the Rosetta stone of this mystery) for the other
missing letters of his name. Sure enough, there they are: the first letters of
each line of the inverted pyramid subtitle are JAM DEWTT, missing only
the letter I (no, they are not in that order!).

Pete McCabe | March 25th, 2003, 3:32 pm | link | filter

If, as Dick suggests, the first edition title page is the Rosetta stone of this
mystery, can someone post a link to a scan of this page?

Richard Hatch | March 25th, 2003, 9:47 pm | link | filter

Michael Canick includes an image of the first edition titlepage in his write
up of his facsimile edition:

http://www.canick.com/erdnase.html

The second line of the title:

"Ruse And Subterfuge"

has been the source of much speculation. Steve Burton, Thomas Sawyer
and more recently David Alexander have all considered it significant that
reversing the first two words yields "And Ruse" = Andrews. Sawyer (and
possibly Burton) pointed out that the first and last letters of "Subterfuge",
when also reversed yield "E. S."

David Alexander's reading of the titlepage "clues" is given in his excellent
cover story feature in the January 2000 GENII.
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Nathan | March 25th, 2003, 10:48 pm | link | filter

Since I have access to a University library, I couldn't resist the temptation to
look up the article by James Andrews in Harper's Weekly.

There are some interesting circumstantial similarities between Erdnase and
James Andrews. They both seem to be interested in making money and they
both have little sympathy for the victims. Also they both wrote literature
exposing the detailed workings of their artifice. There is also a brief
mention of card sharps in James Andrew's article which is either an
indication of his lack of knowledge of card cheating or as a tease to all
those card workers who might have tried to find Erdnase.

Somehow I doubt the card expert ended up as a fakir on Coney Island, but
one thing is sort of intriguing. James Andrews claims to have made between
$150 and $200 per night telling fortunes. I'm not sure what Erdnase would
have been able to make in a card game in one night in those days, but I
wonder if it might have been comparable money. It certainly involves
significantly less risk. Might Erdnase have lost his nerve and turned towards
a safer and equally profitable profession?

Richard Hatch | March 26th, 2003, 6:55 am | link | filter

Nathan, thanks for looking this up! Is the original a single oversized page? I
assume Harper's does not include an "about the authors" page! In the
CONJURORS' MAGAZINE reprint (August 1949), it is a single page,
spread sideways across two of the magazine's 8.5x11 pages. Gardner's one
page introductory piece accompanying the reprint points out that the James
Andrews in the article described himself as a "blonde, blue-eyed, thin
nervous American" which agreed with Marshall Smith's description. James
Andrews also says "the spur of poverty drove me into prophecy" which
agrees with Erdnase's "need for money" motivation for publishing THE
EXPERT. Gardner says the writing style of the James Andrews story is
"somewhat different" from THE EXPERT, but points out that this could be
explained by the different audience being addressed or the possibility that
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THE EXPERT was ghostwritten. He does note the mention of the cardsharp
and that both use the terms "patter" and "chicanery", and the device of a
question mark in parenthesis. Gardner found a James J. Andrews listed as a
clairvoyant in the 1909 New York directory, but no way of determining
whether he was the author of the Harper's story. I would add that we don't
know if the Harper's story was written as fact or fiction, or whether its
author's true name is James Andrews. I personally don't think the story
sounds anything like Erdnase.

Gardner also says in his introductory remarks that, while Marshall Smith
"confirmed" that Erdnase's real name was Andrews, "Smith does not,
however, recall Andrews' real name." This, of course, directly contradicts
what he wrote to the Library of Congress just four months after meeting
Smith.

If Smith did indeed independently recall the author's first name as "James",
I would consider that extremely significant. Gardner would then have
recognized that it explained the "E. S." and begun his search, leading to the
Harper's article as claimed in the letter to the Library of Congress. But other
than that letter, there is no suggestion that Smith did so. If Gardner was
simply led to look for a James because the name ends in "ES", then one
should also look for candidates named Charles, Wes, Les, Soames, Ames,
etc. The same logic could extend the search to middle names ending in
those letters, leading to an impossibly large field of candidates.

Based on the US population of the time, the artist's description, the
frequency of the last name Andrews, the popularity of male first names
beginning with E (these statistics can be found online associated with the
1900 census) and an assumption regarding the frequency of middle names
beginning with S, I at one time estimated there were no more than 24 white
adult males named E. S. Andrews at the time of the book's publication. I
have found a half dozen of them by searching census records. That one of
them is the age and size (approximate) remembered by the author, possibly
related to Dalrymple (which is how I found him), moved to Chicago late in
1901, left in February 1903 and was living just 9 blocks south of Atlas
Novelty Co. which began distributing first edition copies at half price in
February 1903 strikes me as rather remarkable if it is just a coincidence (as
it may, indeed, be).



Richard Hatch | March 26th, 2003, 9:12 pm | link | filter

If anyone wants a piece of original artwork by Erdnase's "relative" Louis
Dalrymple, there is currently a drawing of his from Puck on ebay at the
following link:

http://cgi.ebay.com/ws/eBayISAPI.dII?Vi ... 70138&rd=1

Guest | March 27th, 2003, 2:18 pm | link | filter

For you hunters the 1880 US Census, which was, I believe, the first
showing names, jobs, family members, etc. is on line. The British census

from around the same time is also on line.
Steve V
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Nathan | March 27th, 2003, 10:02 pm | link | filter

Richard,

To answer your question, the Harper's Weekly that I looked at was an
enormous poster size. It is being stored in the library's special collections so
I had to have a librarian go back and pull it up for me. She was quite out
breath when she lugged the bound 1909 volume back with her! I felt a little
guilty when she then showed me how I could just pull it up online.

Todd Karr | March 29th, 2003, 5:39 pm | link | filter

Richard Hatch was kind enough to send a copy of the Harper's article to me
and so far I see no significant similarity of style or usage that would
indicate that Erdnase wrote it. As Gardner noted, though, this could simply
mean that his article was heavily edited by the Harper's editors.

Richard Hatch | April 10th, 2003, 11:25 pm | link | filter

I was searching the web for uses of the expression "mealymouthed
pretensions" and only came up with two matches, both Erdnase's preface.
But one of them is on a site that describes itself as "a collection of primary
texts of american anti-authoritarianism" and includes links to quotes by
Mencken, Patrick Henry, Sam Adams, Abby Hoffman, Tecumsah, etc. I was
surprised to see Erdnase in their company!

Here's the site:

http://www.crispinsartwell.com/americanliberties.htm

Dustin Stinett | April 10th, 2003, 11:49 pm | link | filter

That is a fascinating view of Erdnase's words. Obviously he was not a fan
of those behind the reform movement of the late 19th & early 20th centuries
(whose design, for those of you out there not familiar with the movement,
was to rid cities of the evils of gambling and the other vices normally
associated with it) but to call that single sentence a "primary text" of anti-
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authoritarianism is quite a stretch indeed.

Dustin

Guest | April 13th, 2003, 6:22 pm | link | filter

Wow, to be mentioned in the same sentence as any of the abovementioned
social activists would be quite an honor for most people. Abby Hoffman
was one of my heros during the early 70's, and tecumseh makes one heck of
an engine (just kidding about that last one)

Nathan | April 22nd, 2003, 12:01 am | link | filter

At the risk of polluting this thread with another "crazy theory", I want to
suggest the following research tactic that to my knowledge has not yet been
attempted. Regardless of how insane you think my idea is, the saving grace
is the fact that it is completely testable by someone who has access to the
appropriate resources (which I unfortunately do not).

Suppose for a moment that Erdnase's motive for disguising his identity was
because he wanted to pull off the greatest trick in magic/gambling
publishing history, but he wanted to eventually be discovered. Perhaps this
i1s why he revealed the illustrator's real name. Maybe there is another clue
that leads to additional information. Another really cryptic thing in the book
is the copyright "Entered at Stationer's Hall, London..." According to what
I've read in "Annotated Erdnase", the book was never copyrighted there so
it seems strange to cite this copyright since the book actually was
copyrighted in the US.

Perhaps, and I know this is pretty crazy, Erdnase wrote some
autobiographical material and copyrighted it in England but never published
it with the hopes that it would be discovered after "The Expert at the Card
Table" reached its present day mysterious status. Thus, the thing to search
for in Stationer's Hall is a book that was copyrighted in 1902 but never
actually published. The US copyright office apparently received a couple of
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copies of Expert (at least according to what I've read in Annotated Erdnase),
so presumably the office in London would have received a preprint of
whatever informational book Erdnase might have submitted. Clearly
Erdnase would not copyright such autobiographical material under the
name S.W. Erdnase because he wouldn't want someone to accidentally
stumble on it without solving the copyright page puzzle (if such a puzzle
exists).

Temperance | April 30th, 2003, 4:00 pm | link | filter

Originally posted by R P Wilson:

That said, I would like to point out that almost no one I have seen
has performed the shift correctly - as described in the book.
Everyone (including Steve Freeman on the Vernon tapes) has
made some sort of adjustment and almost everyone STARTS IN
THE WRONG POSITION.

This is true, however as so much of the explanations in Erdnase have errors
and a lot of the descriptions are somewhat ambiguous, who is to say that the
method given for the S.W.E shift is actually correct?

Just a thought.

--Euan

Leonard Hevia | May 11th, 2003, 9:03 pm | link | filter

This is a wonderful thread worthy of repeated study. I just received my
copy of Expert at the Card Tablefrom Michael Canick and will compare the
information from these postings with my facsimile copy.

I believe only a serious historian of this text can answer Lance's question.
I'm currently wondering if Mike Caveney will republish Vernon's
Revelations. Since Mr. Caveney is reviving out of print books from his
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catalog--and since this year is the 100th anniversary of this wonderful text-
well-it's just a thought. :)

Guest | May 12th, 2003, 1:39 pm | link | filter

Uh Oh, it looks like Erdnase is catching up with the five page three fly
thread!

Charlie Chang | May 12th, 2003, 3:39 pm | link | filter

I would like to correct Euan's above post. There are VERY FEW errors or
ommissions in the Erdnase text. It is my experience that everything is both
well described and VERY WELL thought out.

While the descriptions are "economic" they include everything needed by
the serious student to learn the moves.

As Dai Vernon wrote in his introduction to Revelations:

"Erdnase is at once logical and practical. Surely no one, before or since, has
written so lucidly on the subject of card table artifice."

As someone once observed, students of Erdnase usually blame their
difficulties on the text, rather than their inability to understand it.

Temperance | May 12th, 2003, 4:04 pm | link | filter

Very few? Hrmm.

The slip cut is wrong, completely. Interestingly the same wrong technique is
described in more card manipulations. Actually it's just the image in more
card manipulations but it's still wrong.

There are several errors in the bottom deal description in that he changes
which finger are meant to be doing the push out several times.
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The over hand shuffle cull descriptions are ambiguous as to which cards are
meant to be jogged.

The open shift is less than clear.

The first method for top palming is clearly wrong. Does anyone do this
move with the left pinky in the position described in the text? ( ie against
the middle of the inner short edge ).

That's just off the top of my head.

However I still think it's a brilliant book and well worth studying. In fact
next to Roy Walton, Alex Elmsley and Bob Hummers works it's my

favourite book.

--Euan

Charlie Chang | May 12th, 2003, 5:17 pm | link | filter

Euan,

I'm trying not to slam you here but what follows may read that way. I figure
it's best to just say it and be done. Just my opinion on a subject close to my
heart.

To begin with, you are correct about the bottom deal - partly. There is ONE
error which mentions the second finger pushing out the bottom card instead
of the third. Vernon mentions another paragraph earlier in the description
which states that the second finger and thumb "do the work". Vernon
believed that Erdnase meant to say "third finger and thumb", assuming he
referred to the dealing action. The sentence immediately before this one,
however, talks about the little finger and it's part in HOLDING the deck. I
believe that he goes on to say that the second finger and thumb do all the
work with regards to supporting the pack, NOT the dealing action. This is
moot but either way it does not detract from the excellent description of the
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sleight. Hardly "several" errors as you suggest.

The Open Shift is VERY clear. You simply haven't read it clearly. To quote
Vernon again:"This is an exceedingly difficult pass but its acquisition can
be greatly facilitated by following Erdnase's EXACT instructions”. I
learned it from the book. It wasn't easy but the work is all there.

I have no problem with the overhand shuffle culls. They're complex but
correct. Better methods have since appeared but I learned all of these for
completeness. Never, ever, used them.

Erdnase's Top Palm (version one) is a perfect sleight. It is rarely used and
has been varied to death but the original is still extremely well described
and thought out. Mechanically, it's brilliant. Just because people don't do it,
doesn't make it any less perfect.

The Slip Cut is completely CORRECT. The illustration exaggerates the
middle part of the sleight but, in doing so, correctly conveys the action.
Carrying the lower half forward under the top card is a DIFFERENT tabled
slip cut. I have used the Erdnase cut for many years with no difficulty. In
Revelations, Vernon mentions a complete blind that is worth looking up
(also correctly described). He also discusses the now standard version of the
tabled slip-cut (where the lower packet is carried forward).

Euan, you need to understand that, when I first started visiting Roy Walton
in his shop (almost twenty years ago) , I took his advice and bought a
paperback of Erdnase, had it trimmed to the edge of the text and have
carried it in my pocket ever since. I have lived with this book, studied it,
loved it, hated it and devoured it.

I still dont understand it like Roy Walton does. Or Gordon Bruce. Or Bruce
Cervon. Or Howie Schwarzman (who I could spend hours discussing the

book with). But I keep reading and keep getting rewarded.

Thinking the text is wrong simply because it is either alien (like the top



palm) or difficult (like the open shift) suggests you need to reconsider
whether it is really a favourite book after all.

Temperance | May 12th, 2003, 5:41 pm | link | filter

Hi Paul
Your post didn't come across as slamming me, just so's you know.

You really think the slip cut is correct? In the text you are told to hold the
deck off the table by the ends. Slip the top card to the left as your right hand
takes the top half to the right then drop the left portion on the table followed
by the right. At least in the Dover reprint, perhaps it is different in the
original text?

I've never seen anyone handle a slip cut this way.

Usually you have the deck on the table the bottom half is moved forward
onto which the top card is slipped using the right index finger (if you're
right handed). then the right hand comes back and picks up the remaining
half and slaps it on top of the other half.

Or am I missing something?

I'm not trying to attack you or Erdnase here I'm just trying to point out that
as there are some errors in the text. There is a distinct possibility that the
description of the SWE shift is perhaps incorrect.

--Euan

PS Vernon also said that you shouldn't treat sleight descriptions as biblical
but that you should try to understand what is going on and then adapt the
technique so that it fits how you handle cards (all hand sizes are different
etc). I'm paraphrasing but you get the idea.
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Charlie Chang | May 12th, 2003, 7:15 pm | link | filter

Euan,
the slip cut is a different action - follow the text and perform it with a
distinct slapping action. straight to the table, no forward action.

Matthew Field | May 13th, 2003, 4:37 am | link | filter

Originally posted by R P Wilson:

when I first started visiting Roy Walton in his shop (almost twenty
years ago) , I took his advice and bought a paperback of Erdnase,
had it trimmed to the edge of the text and have carried it in my
pocket ever since. I have lived with this book, studied it, loved it,
hated it and devoured it.

This thread is wonderful, and the small quote above from Paul Wilson is
well worthy of any serious student's consideration.

Along with Michael Canick's new facsimile of Erdnase, and among other
versions of the book in my library, I have two copies of the inexpensive
Dover paperback edition. One looks nice and neat. The other looks like it's
been in the washing machine.

That's the copy I fold in half and stuff in the back pocket of my jeans when
I'm going somewhere like a beach outing. While I find it difficult to actually
work with a deck of cards on the beach, reading Erdnase is something I
very much enjoy.

So reading that Roy Walton had suggested something like this to Paul, who
took it to heart, resonated within me, and I post this to stir some students
out there to do likewise.

Thanks, Paul.

Matt Field
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CHRIS | May 13th, 2003, 8:06 am | link | filter

Originally posted by Matthew Field:
That's the copy I fold in half and stuff in the back pocket of my
jeans when I'm going somewhere like a beach outing.

Another idea is to get the electronic version and print it out in small fonts.
With a little tool like ClickBook one can even print out a small booklet (4
or 8 pages per sheet). And when it's torn up, just print out another one. Or
print chapters separately. Then it might fit in your breast pocket.

I don't need to tell you where to get the electronic version ;)

Chris Wasshuber
preserving magic one book at a time.

Dave Egleston | May 13th, 2003, 3:19 pm | link | filter

Dave

CHRIS | May 13th, 2003, 3:46 pm | link | filter

Originally posted by Dave Egleston:

Dave, I wrote 'print out'. When you print the ebook there is no glare. ;)

Chris Wasshuber
preserving magic one book at a time.

Temperance | May 14th, 2003, 7:26 pm | link | filter
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Originally posted by R P Wilson:

Euan,

the slip cut is a different action - follow the text and perform it
with a distinct slapping action. straight to the table, no forward
action.

Yes it's bad technique though. You do that in a game and you're liable to get
your kneecaps blown off.

Re the open shift. Can anyone actually do this? There doesn't seem to be
any conceivable angle from which it can be viewed to make it even

remotely deceptive.

--Euan

Charlie Chang | May 15th, 2003, 4:06 am | link | filter

I have no idea how to reply to this. I'm stunned.

Euan clearly thinks he knows more about it than the rest of us - including
Erdnase.

Personally, I feel like I just tried to explain quantum mechanics to my dog.

For the record, I think the slip cut is excellent and the Open Shift is an
excellent lesson in shift mechanics.

Temperance | May 15th, 2003, 6:40 am | link | filter

Paul, the fact that I have an opinion outside of your own does not warrant
your personal attacks. I would very much appreciate it if you did not refer
to me as a 'dog' again. Thank you!

The open shift is impractical and unnatural in handling. There is no
conceivable reason to hold the deck in the manner needed to execute it. Out
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of interest, how do you justify the unnatural grip when you perform this?
Also where is the focus of viewing; perhaps from the right side using the
back of the right hand as cover?

--Euan

Guest | May 15th, 2003, 9:53 am | link | filter

Euan, come on, man, Mr. Wilson didn't refer to you as a dog.

Teaching quantum physics to a dog would be a very frustrating experience.
Mr. Wilson was simply using an analogy to voice his frustrations. Have a
nice day! :)

Earle Oakes | June 9th, 2003, 3:36 pm | link | filter

Regarding the illustrations of THE EXPERT AT THE CARD
TABLE.Because there are so many intricate finger positions and specific
breaks in the deck,I believe M.D.Smith must have worked over photographs
and not from life as I understand the term.While purely conjecture,
Erdnase,in stating on the title page that the drawings were done "from life" I
believe he could have been referring to photographs that were taken for
Smith's use.

No matter, whether from life or photos the outstanding feature of Smith's
drawings is that the hands and fingers express the action as well as the
proper finger positions to accomplish the sleight described. Fig.5, riffle
shuffling and Fig.10, squaring up the deck are just two handsome examples
of Smith's accurate and expressive drawings. I don't mean style or
technique.

The original drawings had to have been done at least 60% larger than the
published work. All the cards have rounded corners and the lined card
indications on the sides of the talons and deck are all there and accurately
drawn which could only have been done at a much larger size than shown in
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the book.

To do 101 drawings (over photos) with the clean accurate detail that the
Smith drawings have in less than 20 minutes per drawing would be
difficult.I think working 8 hours a day for four days would be a reasonable
estimate as to the time it would havetaken Smith to do that number of
drawings.

Technique aside, Smith, did wonderful expressive drawings for Erdnase. To
draw hands so that they show the grace of the fingers and the beauty of the
sleight is always the challenge to the illustrator of magic. M.D.Smith did an
admirable job, no matter the time it may have taken to do the work or
whether he worked from life or photographs.

This has been one of the most interesting threads to make the Forum.

Earle

Richard Hatch | September 16th, 2003, 10:42 pm | link | filter

I have recently been encouraged to post publicly some previously
unpublished critiques of THE MAN WHO WAS ERDNASE (TMWWE).
Let me begin by saying that I truly consider TMWWE to be a fantastic
book which every student of Erdnase should own and study. This discussion
assumes you have the book and can look up the references in it. It may
make little sense if you do not have access to a copy. The good news is that
it is still in print and available at a reasonable price from several dealers
including the publisher.

TMWWE is basically a chronicle of the life of Milton Franklin Andrews
(MFA, 1872-1905) and a history of Erdnase (the book and the author),
arguing persuasively that MFA was Erdnase. This theory was first published
by Martin Gardner, who developed information supplied to him by Edgar
Pratt, a magician originally from Providence, Rhode Island, but living in
Philadelphia when Gardner corresponded with him (at the suggestion of
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Walter Gibson) beginning in 1947. Gardner later met him several times.
Gardners evidence (on this and other Erdnase theories) was further
developed by Jeff Busby and then Bart Whaley. Thus the book is credited to
Bart Whaley (who did most of the writing and much of the background
research) with Jeff Busby and Martin Gardner. In addition to his research,
Gardner contributed a foreword and Busby, who published the book in
1991, contributed not only research but several important chapters.

Let me begin with one of the very first artifacts presented in the book: a
frontispiece photo opposite the title page of a handsome young man from
the turn of the century. The photo is captioned Milton Franklin Andrews.
When Martin Gardner received his first copy of the book, he was struck by
the photo, which he had never seen. His initial response was Thats not
Milton! as it was so unlike the photos of MFA with which he was familiar.
Indeed, Thomas Sawyer in his critique ERDNASE: ANOTHER VIEW
(possibly still available from Aladdin Books in Fullerton California) makes
the same point. The morgue photo of MFA (p. 37) is clearly not the same
man shown in the frontispiece photo (compare the shape of the noses: one is
convex, one 1s concave, check the relative distances between the chin and
lips, lips and eyes etc. Not the same man.). If the frontispiece photo is not
MFA, who is it? One of the wonderful things about TMWWE is the
extensive endnoting of source material. The first endnote in the book (p.
383) tells us that this photo, now in the collection of Howard Flint, is
unique and still in the original photographers studio frame (Rose & Sands
of Providence RI and NY) and that pencilled lightly on the back, likely in
Edgar Pratts handwriting, it says Age 24 [corrected from 23], August 7,
1900. The photograph was purchased by Flint from Bob Little, who
obtained it from Philadelphia magic dealer Mitchell (Mike) Kanter, who
had obtained it, along with several other materials supposedly relating to
MFA and Erdnase, from Pratt.

The first thing worth noting is that the photo is not unique. This was pointed
out in T. A. Waters review of TMWWE 1n GENII, as he knew of the
existence of at least one other copy. Flint had sold that copy to a well
known magic personality and close friend of Waters, and Waters review
implies that Busby/Whaley had knowledge of this. Bob Little did not know



that he had sold Flint two photos stuck together, and it is likely that neither
Kanter nor Pratt realized it as well. Since MFA was 27 on the date pencilled
in on the photo, Whaley conjectures that it is likely a photo of MFA at age
24, given to Pratt when MFA was 27. Now Pratts correspondence and
interviews with Gardner never claim that he knew MFA well, only that
MFA was on friendly terms with Pratts childhood friends, the Taylor
brothers and that what MFA showed them, the Taylor boys would share
with Pratt (Pratts 4 letters to Gardner are reprinted in Darwin Ortizs
wonderful ANNOTATED ERDNASE, also still in print and highly
recommended to all interested in this topic). Why would Pratt even have a
photo of MFA, whom he barely knew, and why would he keep it for nearly
50 years? Intrigued by this mystery, I went through the Providence city
directories (available on microfilm at the Family History Library of the
Mormon Church in Salt Lake City) covering a period of about 30 years
researching Pratt, the Taylor brothers and, relevant to the case at hand, the
Rose & Sands photography studio. Philip Rose founded the studio in the
1870s, at which time it was simply The Rose Studio. For one year, and one
year only --1900-- he partnered with an ex-employee named Sands who had
moved to NY and together they operated under the name Rose & Sands. By
1901, the partnership had broken up and The Rose Studio was back in
business (Sands eventually moved back to Providence and opened a
competing studio under his own name). This allows us to date the photos
frame with some certainty as from 1900, and it seems most reasonable that
the photo itself also dates from that period, as indicated by the pencilled
notation. So who is it?

As it turns out, Edgar Pratt had an older brother William Pratt who turned
24 (from 23!) on August 6, 1900. I cannot prove, but would be willing to
bet that the frontispiece photo of TMWWE is a photo of William Pratt,
taken to commerate his 24th birthday. Pratt told Gardner that his brother
died a few years later, and it makes sense to me that he would both have and
hold onto a photo of his deceased brother for many years, selling it to
Kanter only when poverty forced him to do so (Gardner tells us that Pratt
was living in empoverished circumstances when they met).

One of the things Pratt sold Kanter, apparently on the same occasion (along



with two letters from Gardner) was the copy of the AMERICAN WEEKLY
article, THE MALTED MILK MURDERER published on May 20, 1945.
This is reproduced on page 264 of TMWWE. Even with a strong
magnifying glass, the article (which is missing several pieces) is difficult to
read, but I have since been able to purchase several copies online.
Everything Pratt told Gardner about MFA that can be verified is in that
article, as are several things he told Gardner about MFA that are incorrect.
Pratt, at that time, would not tell Gardner who Erdnase was. Later, when
Gardner found the MFA murder/suicide story by following up on Pratts
leads, and told Pratt that MFAs story had seen print several times (Pratt
claimed to be protecting his friends identity to avoid scandalizing the
Andrews family), Pratt claimed he did not know anything had ever been
published on this topic--this just a few years after THE MALTED MILK
MURDERER article. It is my belief that Pratt, whatever his relationship
with MFA (I am inclinded to believe he did not know him at all, from the
many mistatements he made regarding him), knew about the
Andrews=Erdnases real name theory (which was published in THE
SPHINX by Leo Rullman in February 1929 as though it was already well
known at that time) and conjectured that MFA was Erdnase based on the
MALTED MILK MURDERER article. And perhaps he was correct in
doing so: MFA remains the only candidate named Andrews who is known
to have had some of the skills required of the books author (knowledge of
card cheating methods and card tricks). The fact that he died in 1905
conveniently explains why the author who clearly took pride in his work
never came forward to identify himself, once the book became a
commercial success.

Gardner, even after cracking the MFA theory, remained skeptical because of
Pratts strange behavior. But he followed up Pratts lead that James Harto had
collaborated with the author and found independent evidence of this, which
he found compelling. I have done considerable research on Harto, as well as
on Hugh Johnston and Del Aldephia, who, along with Albertie Minkley,
MFAs sister-in-law, are cited in TMWWE in support of the MFA theory.
Should there be sufficient interest, I would be happy to post some of my
findings on this board as time permits.



Dave Egleston | September 16th, 2003, 11:22 pm | link | filter

Thanks Mr Hatch,

This is the stuff that fascinates - I don't believe there will ever be a time
when this isn't interesting.

I'm ready for you to put out a book - I'll be one of the first to buy it

Dave

Bob Coyne | September 17th, 2003, 6:20 am | link | filter

Yes, thanks to Richard Hatch!! This is fascinating information and research.
I'd always wondered about the veracity of Pratt's claims that he knew
Erdnase and that Erdnase = MFA. If Pratt's statements are suspect (as RH
reserach indicates), then the whole MFA theory becomes less credible. I'd
love to hear about the new research on Harto (the hypothesized writer of the
magic section).

Chris Gillett | September 17th, 2003, 4:18 pm | link | filter

It is especially nice of Dick to say that "I truly consider TMWWE to be a
fantastic book which every student of Erdnase should own and study"
considering the things that Busby has been saying about Dick in his
occasional e-mail screed. It demonstrates what a gentleman Dick is. BTW, I
like TMWWE too.

This post does not necessarily reflect the opinions of Genii Magazine or
Richard Hatch.

Guest | September 18th, 2003, 4:28 pm | link | filter

Hatch strikes again......thanks.
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Brad Henderson | September 18th, 2003, 6:11 pm | link | filter

Wow, amazing stuff. Thanks for the post.

Brad "speaks without moving his lips" Henderson

Richard Hatch | September 20th, 2003, 9:59 am | link | filter

Thanks, guys, I'll try to post some more information on this topic here soon.
I think the information on Harto, Hugh Johnston, and Bertie Minkley
should be of interest.

As far as a book goes, I don't yet feel there is sufficient compelling evidence
for closure on this topic. Milton Franklin Andrews remains a "person of
interest" to me, despite the glaring discrepencies between what we know
about him and what we believe about the author. Other persons of interest
are Wilbur Edgerton Sanders (see David Alexander's excellent GENII
article, January 2000), Robert Frederick Foster (Jerry Sadowitz's proposed
ghostwriter of the book), James DeWitt Andrews (see my MAGIC article,
December 1999), and my favorite for the past 3 years, Edwin Sumner
Andrews (mentioned in passing at the end of the MAGIC article and in
some earlier posts here). I have pretty much lost interest in a Canadian
riverboat captain named E. S. Andrews, a Michigan newspaper publisher
named E. S. Andrews, and a British engineer named E. S. Andrews (first
noted by Mike Perovich, who called his attention to Dai Vernon, who was
enthusiastic...). I have recently become interested in William Symes
Andrews (1847-1929), a American electrical engineer who wrote a book on
Magic Squares, published in Chicago in 1908 by the Open Court publishing
company, who also published Evans OLD AND NEW MAGIC. I had lost
interest in him (he's much older than recalled by Marshall Smith, for one
thing), but it was recently brought to my attention that Al Flosso seemed to
think that he was Erdnase, which has made him worth another look, in my
estimation...

At this point, I think I'd have to call my book, THE MEN WHO WERE
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NOT ERDNASE (and a couple who might have been)!

Chris, not sure what Busby e-mail references you're talking about, but
regardless, TMWWE is still THE essential book on this topic.

Chris Gillett | September 20th, 2003, 2:15 pm | link | filter

"Chris, not sure what Busby e-mail references you're talking about"

Good.

Matthew Field | September 20th, 2003, 2:35 pm | link | filter

Dick Hatch's research on Erdnase is absolutely fascinating -- many thanks,
Dick, for posting it here.

As more tangible thanks, I'll be visiting www.magicbookshop.com to check
out the great selection of new and used books you've got at H& R magic
Books. I might recommend Pit Hartling's new "Card Fictions." He's one of
the Flicking Fingers, and H&R is bringing the book to U.S. audiences. See
the rave review by Eric Mead in the October Genii.

Matt Field

Richard Hatch | October 15th, 2003, 11:59 pm | link | filter

Apologies for the delayed posting of more information relevant to
TMWWE and its thesis that Milton Franklin Andrews (MFA) was Erdnase.
Here's another installment:

Once Gardner had deduced that Edgar Pratt had been talking about Milton
Franklin Andrews, he sought independent confirmation that MFA really was
Erdnase. Unfortunately, Alvin Andrews, MFAs older brother whom
Gardner tracked down and interviewed in Hartford in 1949, knew nothing
about the book, and had never heard of Pratt, the Taylor brothers or any
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possible relationship with cartoonist Louis Dalrymple. Gardner wrote
Marshall Smith regarding MFA and found that virtually nothing the artist
recalled about the author corresponded to what was known about MFA
(wrong age, wrong height, etc etc. See earlier posts and the December 1999
MAGIC article). So Gardner returned to Philadelphia to press Pratt for
more details. When Gardner showed Pratt the photostats of the newspaper
accounts of MFAs dramatic demise, Pratt finally opened up to Gardner and
admitted that he had been talking about MFA. Significantly, he said that he
never heard MFA mention the book, and had only heard his high school
chum George Taylor mention it once, in connection with a sleight Pratt had
asked Taylor about, to which he responded, Thatll be in Andrews book.
Pratt claimed subsequently to have recognized the move in Erdnase when
the book came out, though he did not identify the move for Gardner. On this
visit he told Gardner that he had heard (though he couldnt recall where) that
Harto of Indianapolis supplied the magic section. Pratt thought Harto
[James S. Harto a performer and magic dealer] hadnt known Andrews, but
that the printer got in touch with Harto about adding this section. A few
things are worth noting at this point: First, Pratt did not claim that Harto
told him about his involvement with Erdnase, and second, Pratt claimed that
Hartos involvement was at the publishers insistence. Since the book was
originally published by the author the latter claim seems suspect at worst
and schizophrenic at best. In any case, Gardner pursued the Harto claim
hoping to find the independent confirmation he sought. Unfortunately, Harto
had died in 1933 and had apparently spent several years prior to that in a
sanitarium. But Gardner was able to track down two Harto associates,
Audley Dunham and Charles Maly, both of whom confirmed that Harto and
Erdnase had some kind of relationship. Dunham had been an assistent to
Harto and had worked in his magic shop. In response to a letter from
Gardner, Dunham wrote: Yes, I have heard Jim Harto speak of Andrews he
was referred to Jim by another magician the name of which I cannot recall
at the present time [sic]. I spent many hours with Jim... and Jim referred to
some part he helped on Erdnase. Dunham then talks about an auction of
Hartos estate that he organized at which Waldo Logan of Chicago was the
major purchaser. ...if I am not mistaken there was a letter in Waldos
purchases from this magician to Jim in which some mention is made of Jim
helping on Erdnase. Erdnase has never interested me much as I am not



primarily a card man, there was however an original Erdnase in the effects
and I also believe Waldo has that or may[be] J. Elder Blackledge got it I do
not remember. He later goes on to say that Roltare Eggleston said
something about Harto being connected with Erdnase. The rest of Dunhams
letter does not mention Erdnase.

Maly, another close friend of Harto, was first contacted at Gardners request
by Francis Marshall. Marshall wrote Gardner that Maly told her that he had
seen the Andrews notes and notebooks, etc. in Hartos possesssion, and that
Harto and Andrews planned a 2nd volume to Expert at Cd Tble [sic].
Gardner wrote Maly care of Frances Marshall on March 28, 1951, outlining
Pratts claims, though refering to MFA simply as a gambler named Andrews
and asking if Maly could confirm them. Malys handwritten response was in
the margins of Gardners letter: Your informer is correct - Jim Harto did
have contact with Andrews (Erdnase) or vice versa regarding a magic sectin
in Erdnases book, but I do not remember any of the details. In fact, Harto
showed me two letters, as I recall, from Andrews. However, since that was
over 25 years ago - yes, probably closer to 32 years ago, I cannot remember
any part of the letters. I am quite sure though that up to the time of Hartos
death these letters were in Hartos file. Maly apologized for not being able to
provide more information and suggested that Gardner contact Audley
Dunham...

These two confirmations of Hartos association with Erdnase bolstered
Gardners confidence in Pratt as a reliable source, leading him to reject
Marshall Smiths conflicting testimony as mistaken. But I think it worth
noting that neither Maly nor Dunham makes any reference to Milton
Franklin Andrews, nor does either state that Harto authored the legerdemain
section of Erdnase. Both confirm that Harto told many folks that he had
collaborated with Andrews (Erdnase) on a project of some kind, a claim
worthy of serious consideration. Time and interest permitting, 111 post some
background next time on Harto that may have a bearing on this question.

Frank Yuen | October 16th, 2003, 6:22 am | link | filter

Hopefully you have the time because I'm certain you have the interest.
Thanks for the update.
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Frank Yuen

Grant McSorley | October 16th, 2003, 10:06 am | link | filter

Richard,

This has to be the best discussion on the forum. Everyone even slightly
interested in Erdnase owes you a huge debt of gratitude for putting all this
information here for us.

Did anyone ever get to look at the letters that Waldo Logan won at auction?

Thanks,
Grant

Richard Hatch | October 16th, 2003, 1:47 pm | link | filter

Thanks, guys. I'm having fun finally organizing this material, but it does
take time so your patience (and encouragement) is appreciated...

Originally posted by Grant McSorley:

Did anyone ever get to look at the letters that Waldo Logan won at
auction?

Alas, Gardner was unsuccessful tracking them down. Waldo Logan, whom
Gardner had known in Chicago (as had Marshall Smith. In fact, Logan's
mother had awarded Smith a prize for one of his paintings...) had moved by
then, apparently to Florida, and Gardner was unsuccessful in his attempts to
follow up. There is a chance the letters survive in someone's archive
somewhere... I would also be very keen on examining the "original
Erdnase" that Dunham refers to. I assume he means a first edition copy. If
Harto did collaborate with Erdnase, one would think Harto's personal copy
might give an indication of this... But Gardner's attempts to follow up leads
to Blackledge did not bring results either. Also, it should be mentioned that
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Dunham destroyed many of Harto's documents before the auction,
including original letters to Harto from Houdini, Kellar and others. Dunham
was afraid he would catch some of Harto's lingering "Syph" germs from
them, even though this was more than a decade after the latter's death!

Richard Hatch | October 16th, 2003, 1:54 pm | link | filter

As a follow up to the above, I try to examine ANY copy I find out about of
the first edition. Some have, in fact, yielded new information (for example,
Houdini's copy, which is mentioned earlier in this forum). I currently know
the whereabouts of nearly 50 first edition copies (including the exceptional
one currently being auctioned on eBay!), and have had a chance to examine
about a dozen of them. But I am anxious to learn the whereabouts of others
(and examine them, when possible), so if you have or know the
whereabouts of copies, feel free to email me privately at
richard@magicbookshop.com

Surprisingly, the first edition seems to be the most common of the early
hardback editions, more seeming to have survived than of the Drake
hardbacks. Extrapolating backward, my current guess is that the print run of
the first edition was likely close to 1,000 copies, of which probably about
100 survive today. But that's just a guess at this point...

Dustin Stinett | October 16th, 2003, 11:39 pm | link | filter

This is a most incredible thread, and I hope it continues in earnest! Richards
enthusiasm for this subject comes through in his writing, but folks, you
should have seen him in action at the 2001 L.A. History Conference! He
was a site to see!

For those of you who might be interested in discussing the contents of this
amazing book, Forum member Philippe Noel has started a thread on it in
the Book of the Month Forum. You can join in by clicking below!

Thanks!
Dustin
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Richard Hatch | December 1st, 2003, 9:50 am | link | filter

A painting by Marshall D. Smith, illustrator of Erdnase, is set to be sold at
live auction by Treadway Galleries of Oak Park, Illinois next Sunday,
December 7th. The painting can be viewed online at
http://cgi.liveauctions.ebay.com/ws/eBa ... 2204907987

(if that doesn't work, do a search on www.ebay.com for "Marshall D
Smith").

They think it will sell for between $2,000 and $3,000, with an opening bid
of $750. Another Illinois art dealer has one of his paintings offered on sale
for more than $20,000, so maybe it will!

Bill Mullins | December 1st, 2003, 10:34 am | link | filter

I've seen it mentioned a couple of times that Martin Gardner speculated that
Mark Twain might have written Erdnase -- due to connections with
Dalrymple??

Is this an anecdotal speculation? Where does it appear in print? In some of
Gardner's writings? or was another writing quoting a statement made by
Gardner?

Richard Hatch | December 1st, 2003, 11:13 am | Link | filter

Originally posted by Bill Mullins:

I've seen it mentioned a couple of times that Martin Gardner
speculated that Mark Twain might have written Erdnase -- due to
connections with Dalrymple??

Is this an anecdotal speculation? Where does it appear in print? In
some of Gardner's writings? or was another writing quoting a
statement made by Gardner?
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Once the hints dropped by Edgar Pratt led Gardner to Milton Franklin
Andrews (MFA), Bill Woodfield got copies of the Bay Area coverage of the
latter's lurid end, which seemed like the OJ Simpson story of the day
(November 1905). Included in this coverage were transcripts of two lengthy
"confession/alibi" letters written by MFA to local newspapers (he confesses
to having attempted to murder his Australian gambling partner, with whom
he was caught attempting to perform "the spread" while sailing from
Hawaii to San Francisco, but gives alibis regarding the other 3 murders
police wanted to pin on him). Because these letters sounded so little like the
prose of Erdnase, Woodfield suggested to Gardner that MFA (assumed now
to be the author), must have had an editor or ghostwriter. Gardner, knowing
that MFA had been raised in Hartford, made the connection to Mark Twain,
a prominent Hartford resident after he achieved literary fame. Gardner
found some stylistic similarities with Twain (the "club room" anecdote, for
example), evidence that Twain had ghosted other works, and the fact that
Twain was fond of billiards, at which MFA was a known hustler. He even
got confirmation from a relative of Twain's named Cyril Clemens who
edited a "Mark Twain Journal" saying that one of Twain's friends had told
him (Cyril) that Twain had known MFA. But established Twain scholars
informed Gardner that Cyril Clemens was not to be trusted on such matters
and pointed out that Twain spent the entire period of possible collaboration
with MFA (basically the decade prior to the turn of the 20th century)
travelling in Europe rather than in Hartford. So Gardner stopped pursuing
that line of inquiry, which he had always considered unlikely, though
intriguing.

All of the above may be found in Bart Whaley and Jeff Busby's incredible
THE MAN WHO WAS ERDNASE. Transcripts of the letters MFA wrote
are included as Appendices. Those who favor MFA as author are prone to
bring in ghostwriter/editors, but if MFA did not write the book, such a
complication seems premature. David Alexander has persuasively argued
from internal evidence that the self-published book did not have an editor.
Busby conjectured that Bill Hilliar ghosted it, with the added complication
of James Harto contributing the legerdemain section. Time permitting, both
conjectures can be discussed at length in future postings.



Tabman | December 1st, 2003, 4:54 pm | link | filter

this would make for a killer indie film!! all the ingredients are there plus the
mystery. maybe shoot it from the perspective of all the suspected erdnase
characters or from your (richard) perspective as a professor indiana jones
type character looking for the truth. ill produce the sound track so now we
need a script writer, producer, director, actors, crew, equipment,
transportation, a psychic and of course lots of dinero.

Richard Hatch | December 1st, 2003, 7:03 pm | link | filter

After the Erdnase mystery was covered on the front page of the Wall Street
Journal three years ago, I was actually contacted by by a documentary
filmmaker about it. I gave him contact info for Martin Gardner and Jeff
Busby as he mostly wanted to option the film rights for the MFA story and I
didn't feel I had any right to that material. I know he spoke with Martin, but
later got the impression he never spoke with Jeff. In any case, as far as |
know, no money changed hands and no film was made. I believe he tried to
pitch it to the History Channel without success. I still hear from him
occasionally. Several others have also expressed an interest, but the focus
usually seems to be on the MFA story, since that is the most "romantic" and
so, presumably, the most "marketable" version. Two years ago BBC radio
did produce a 15 minute story on Erdnase featuring interviews with David
Alexander, Bart Whaley, Roger Crosthwaite and Darwin Ortiz. Darwin was
even featured performing the Erdnase color change on the radio!

Tabman | December 1st, 2003, 9:37 pm | link | filter

im not surprised that there was some buzzing about it after the wsj story.
color change on the radio!! thats a good one!!!! i guess ill get busy on the
script.

-=tabman

Richard Hatch | December 7th, 2003, 1:36 pm | link | filter
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Just a quick follow-up: The painting by Marshall D. Smith, illustrator of
Erdnase, mentioned earlier in this thread, sold at live auction today in Oak
Park, Illinois to an online bidder for $3,000 plus 22% online buyer's
premium plus other charges (shipping, 3% credit card charges if he or she
uses one) for a total cost of likely close to $3,7500. For now, the painting
may still be viewed at http://cgi.liveauctions.ebay.com/ws/eBa ...
2204907987

Todd Karr | January 12th, 2004, 8:48 am | link | filter

Hi, everyone
Very exciting developments on Erdnase.

I've uncovered information on a Midwest con-man named E. S. Andrews
who seems to fit the bill of our man. The dates, locations, and character fit
in place very well. I ran this past Richard Hatch, who feels it's definitely
promising. I am following some of the leads and will of course share the
details with everyone as soon as possible.

Matthew Field | January 12th, 2004, 12:41 pm | link | filter

Todd -- Very exciting! How did everybody else miss this guy?

Matt Field

Richard Hatch | January 12th, 2004, 1:41 pm | link | filter

Matt, wishing to "betray no confidences" limits what I can say at this time,
but I believe it is safe for me to say that Todd's new information is
extremely promising. It appears to be a previously unknown "E. S.
Andrews", who seems to be in about the right places at the right times in a
most intriguing line of work. That he was not on anyone's radar screen prior
to now is not all that surprising given the difficulty in tracking the pool of
candidates 100 years ago. What is more surprising (to me) is that such
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candidates are being found at all, at this late date! Todd has accessed a
previously untapped resource and may have hit paydirt, but much work
remains to be done and he is diligently pursuing it.

I spoke to Martin Gardner, now 89, this morning, and he is intrigued by the
development as well.

Bob Farmer | January 12th, 2004, 3:11 pm | link | filter

I am Erdnase.

Guest | January 12th, 2004, 3:39 pm | link | filter

newspapers in the Library of Congress I have just discovered mention of
Erdanse's Wife, May. She was a performer, of all things she did card

magic.Her full name was MAYONNAISE....She did sandwich
tricks.....Mike.... :p

Bill Mullins | January 12th, 2004, 3:47 pm | link | filter

Bob Farmer isn't Erdnase. Bob Farmer is Spartacus.

Pete McCabe | January 12th, 2004, 10:31 pm | link | filter

No, I am Spartacus!

Guest | January 13th, 2004, 4:16 am | link | filter

Originally posted by Mike Walsh II:
Her full name was MAYONNAISE....She did sandwich tricks.

I can't see this rumour spreading very far! :D

Todd Karr | January 14th, 2004, 1:22 pm | link | filter
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Hi, again

I've received a number of curious inquiries about the nature of the
information I've dug up. Below are some of the relevant facts, which are all
I'll reveal for now before I check other sources.

This person, E.S. Andrews, was reported in 1901 as perpetrating a rather
sophisticated scam in a Midwest town before fleeing. His company's base is
stated as Chicago.

In 1904, the same E.S. Andrews was arrested and tried for pulling the same
con job in a different state.

While in jail during the court process, a reporter interviewed Andrews, who
was stated to have used an assumed name prior to his arrest.

Andrews is described as a bright young man and his comments to the
reporter are lengthy, eloquent, clever, and mention legal knowledge and a

love of reading.

I am currently checking court records and other sources and will let
everyone know more when the facts are in.

Jeff Eline | January 14th, 2004, 1:59 pm | link | filter

Very interesting. Thanks for sharing.

AMCabral | January 14th, 2004, 2:06 pm | link | filter

Her full name was MAYONNAISE....She did sandwich tricks.....Mike

Certainly a most jarring revelation....keep a lid on it, will you?

-Tony
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Anthony Brahams | January 15th, 2004, 3:09 am | link | filter

Fill in on this.

AMCabral | January 15th, 2004, 5:15 am | link | filter

Yes, by all means, Schedd's some light on this subject...

-T

Bill Mullins | January 15th, 2004, 7:15 am | link | filter

Hellman, let's get back on topic.

Guest | January 18th, 2004, 9:52 pm | link | filter

Any more news on this exciting development?

Paul

Tabman | January 19th, 2004, 8:27 am | link | filter

Originally posted by Bob Farmer:
I am Erdnase.

yes you are and you would be perfect for the part of "the expert" in my film.
-=tabman

Bill Mullins | January 23rd, 2004, 3:09 pm | link | filter

The first edition Erdnase at the recent Swann Galleries auction went for
$900 plus 15% premium.

It was described as "London, 1902". Does that mean it was a British
printing?
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Guest | January 23rd, 2004, 4:29 pm | link | filter

Originally posted by Bill Mullins:
The first edition Erdnase at the recent Swann Galleries auction
went for $900 plus 15% premium.

It was described as "London, 1902". Does that mean it was a
British printing?

There are no known British printings, but this is a common bibliographer's
error. Mulholland made the same error, as did the bibliographers of
Milbourne Christopher's Library. It is no doubt due to the confusing "triple
copyright" statement (US, British and Canadian), which has led others to
suspect it was a Canadian imprint (there have been two Canadian printings,
but not the first edition). The first edition copy sold at Swann's was in
decent condition, so the price seems to be dropping a bit, though prices
were generally "down" on most items in this sale, which was attended by
less than 25 onsite bidders, according to credible first hand reports...

Guest | January 23rd, 2004, 11:27 pm | link | filter

It is clear to me that this is the single finest thread on the internet. I hope
this one continues moto perpetuo.

I now view this book with the same enthusiasm I had when I first started
trying to decode the Seargent Pepper album cover.

Brian Marks | January 24th, 2004, 10:34 am | link | filter

If you take a look at the Zapruder film under the right lighting conditions,
you can see a man with an umbrella doing an invisible SWE Shift. This
proves Erdanse was the second gunmen behind the grassy knoll. He looks
erily like Bob Farmer
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Richard Hatch | June 19th, 2004, 10:12 am | link | filter

Another Marshall D. Smith painting sold today at an auction and may be
viewed online at the following link:
http://cgiliveauctions.ebay.com/ws/eBa ... AMEWA%3AIT

It went for only $250 plus buyer's fees. Doesn't look to me anything like the
Erdnase illustrations (but then again, why should it?) and seems to be
identified only by the artist's initials: MDS.

Guest | June 19th, 2004, 12:10 pm | link | filter

Taken from "expert at the card table" dover books.foreward to the dover
edition.

"who was S.W Erdnace?Early on it was noticed that when this name is
spelled backward it becomes E.S.Andrews.Half a century ago I was
instrumental in tracking down the authors true identity.He was Milton
Franklin Andrews.(MFA),a native of hartford,Conn.,who left home as a
youth to become one of the nations most successful card swindlers.A man
with a violent temper and a fondness of prostitutes,he was wanted by the
police as a prime suspect the murder of Bessie Bouton,one of his many
girlfriends, in Cold Springs,Colorado.

In 1905,when the police finally located andrews,and broke into his
apartment, he shot himself and the women then living with him.He was 33".
skip a bit and -

"We know that Andrews paid a Chicago publisher to publish his bookin
1902.We also know that he paid a chicago artist,Marshall D. Smith,to
illustrate the book.I had the pleasure of locating the elderly smith when he
still lived in chicago.he told me how,as a young man he had gone to
Andrews' hotel room on a cold winter daty to make pencil sketches of the
gamber's hands as he held the cards above a felt-covered board that you see
in some of the drawings. But who did Andrews pay to edit his manuscript?
To this day the question remains unanswered. In "The Man Who Was
Erdnase", Whaley gives excellent reasons for thinking it was William John
Hilliar, an English magician who settled in America and who ghosted books
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by magicians T. Nelson Downs and Howard Thurston.

Whether Andrews actually killed Bessie Bouton we shall never know. It is
possible he was no more than a likely suspect. Ther is no doubt, however,
that his short life was dangerous and tormented. He must have known that
his book would be his only claim to undying fame. He was immensely
proud of his skills and his original contributions to card work and, as he
tells in his book, was frustrated by the necessity of keeping his talents
hidden. Surely that was why he concealed his last name in so simple a way
that it would be easy to discover.

Ther is controversy over how much material Andrews omitted- secrets he
preferred not to reveal- as well as the extent to which he may have
knowingly given inferior methods. In some cases Smitth' drawings are
misleading. For instance, the illustration for the slip cut shows how not to
perform this valuable move. The text itself does not support the picture. Nor
does the text describe the best technique. as all card magicians should
know, a slip cut is best made by pressing the index finger on the top card so
that, when the bottom half of the deck is cut forward, the car slides with it
to give the impression that the top half has been take. Then the habnd
comes back to pick up the top half. which has not moved, and place it on
the bottom half."

From the Immortal words of Martin Gardner.

I know that most of us have read or already known this bit of info but i

recently stumbled upon this interesting man/subject.
So if anything i1 hope this helped.-KARDZ

Bill Mullins | June 21st, 2004, 11:12 am | link | filter

For those interested in primary source material:

"The Man Who Was Erdnase" has some information about the arrest of
Milton Franklin Andrews, taken from contemporary newspaper reports.
Those interested in seeing the originals should search here:

UTAH Newspapers
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This is a project to digitize 19th and early 20th century Utah newspapers, in
a searchable format.

See HERE for an example.

Searching on Juggler, conjurer, conjuror, magician, gambler, card sharp, etc.
also leads to interesting articles.

Bob Coyne | June 21st, 2004, 1:52 pm | link | filter

What happened to the new Erndase candidate (an E.S. Andrews) that Todd
Karr uncovered? It sounded very promising!! But the last mention of that
was in January. Anything new on it? Has it panned out?

Bill Mullins | June 29th, 2004, 7:48 am | link | filter

Burton Sperber's privately published periodical, A Real Miracle, reprints
"The Story of Erdnase" by Wilford Hutchison and mentions "S. W. Erdnase,
Another View" by someone named Sawyer. Who is Sawyer? Is either the
original of the Hutchison book or the Sawyer book readily available? Is
there any real new info in the Sawyer book?

I am not wholly persuaded that M.F. Andrews was Erdnase. But (at least
according to Whaley/Busby/Gardner) some of his relatives (who were
laypeople in magic/gambling) and others (some of whom recognized the
significance of "Expert") believed he had published a book. If that book
wasn't "Expert", what was it? Since "The Man Who Was Erdnase" lays out
the case that Erdnase was Andrews, it doesn't really pursue this line of
inquiry -- has anyone else?

Todd Karr | June 29th, 2004, 9:48 am | link | filter

Hi, everyone. I've been waiting for court documents from the man I'm
checking out. The wheels of research turn slowly sometimes.
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Richard Lane | June 29th, 2004, 4:30 pm | link | filter
Bill:
S.W. Erdnase: Another View, copyright 1991 by Thomas A. Sawyer.

Self-published, 67 pages, card covers, plastic spine. Addresses the
conclusions of The Man Who Was Erdnase and the Andrews data from The
Annotated Erdnase. I've seen it priced between $25 and $75. Aladdin Books
used to stock it. They still have his other works.

From the introduction.
"If the present book does nothing more than encourage such further
discussion on this matter, then it will have served a useful purpose"

More an open letter than a monograph, Mr. Sawyer details any
inconsistencies or syllogisms he divines from those texts. He doesn't proffer
counter arguments, but sensibly cautions against assumptions and leaps of
faith.

The only new material is some wider context for the publishing efforts of
the Frederick J. Drake company and bibliographic aid to dating early
editions.

To borrow a phrase, food for thought and ground for further research, but it
noticeably predates the readily available work of Richard Hatch, (Magic

December 1999) David Alexander, (Genii January 2000) and the
contributions to this forum.

Considering the price to content ratio, I suggest only the truly hardcore
track it down.

Richard Hatch | June 30th, 2004, 11:15 am | Link | filter
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Originally posted by Bill Mullins:

Burton Sperber's privately published periodical, A Real Miracle,
reprints "The Story of Erdnase" by Wilford Hutchison and
mentions "S. W. Erdnase, Another View'" by someone named
Sawyer. Who is Sawyer? Is either the original of the Hutchison
book or the Sawyer book readily available? Is there any real new
info in the Sawyer book?

I am not wholly persuaded that M.F. Andrews was Erdnase. But
(at least according to Whaley/Busby/Gardner) some of his relatives
(who were laypeople in magic/gambling) and others (some of
whom recognized the significance of "Expert") believed he had
published a book. If that book wasn't "Expert", what was it? Since
"The Man Who Was Erdnase" lays out the case that Erdnase was
Andrews, it doesn't really pursue this line of inquiry -- has anyone
else?

The Sperber reprint was done because the originals are so scarce. I believe
there were only 12 copies of the original (I dont have my copy of the
Sperber reprint handy, but it gives the bibliographic details and lists the
whereabouts of known copies). The information in it is merely a summary
of Martin Gardners Milton Franklin Andrews (MFA) theory, as detailed in
TRUE magazine in January 1958. The Sawyer monograph questions that
theory, based on the evidence presented in Busbys THE MAN WHO WAS
ERDNASE (TMWWE) and Ortizs ANNOTATED ERDNASE. Sawyer, a
lawyer and conjuring bibliophile, concludes that the MFA theory, though
plausible, remains unproved. He does not examine competing theories, asat
the timethere were none. Sawyer was first to point out that the frontispiece
photo of MFA in TMWWE is not the same person shown in the morgue
photo of MFA and that the photos of MFA on pages 10, 20, 21, 119, 129,
and 144 of TMWWE are all versions (some touched up to show him clean
shaven and with a goatee) of the same photo, not independent images. He
also questions the testimony of Albertie Minkley, MFAs sister-in-law.
TMWWE makes much of her recollections, in Chapter 15, A Case of
Identity" (an imaginary cross examination of the principle players in the
identity issue), where Whaley has her say: When that nice Mr. Jay Marshall



showed me his copy of THE EXPERT I recognized it right away! Just like
the ones in the big pile of copies of dear Miltons own brand new book that
he kept in his room back in ought three [1903]. Keep in mind, this is an
invented testimony, not an actual statement made by Mrs. Minkley. If
accurate, it would constitute compelling evidence of MFAs authorship of
the book. The actual facts are somewhat different:

In early May 1956 Jay Marshall, after appearing on the annual Boston
Magicale show, visited his parents in Chicopee, Massachusetts and took
that opportunity to go to nearby Holyoke to see what he could dig up about
MFA, who lived there with his in-laws for several years at the turn of the
century. His visited the office of the HOLYOKE TRANSCRIPT-
TELEGRAM and got the editors son interested in the story. A small notice
appeared in the paper on May 10, 1956, Local Magician On Ed Sullivans
TV Hour Sunday, and the article mentioned that Jay was trying to contact
the family of MFA, a reputed card shark who may have written a book, a
belief the truth of which Marshall is attempting to ascertain. As a result of
the newspaper story, two family members got in touch. One, a niece of
MFA, provided some information about what happened to his wife and
daughter, but no information about his authorship. The other was Mrs.
Oscar W. Minkley (Albertie Walsh), sister of MFAs wife. Donald Dwight,
the editors son, wrote Jay on May 12, 1956, having spoken with Albertie. In
addition to relating some family information, he says that Mrs. Minkley
knew nothing about the book, but did say he was a college graduate (which
turns out to be untrue) and did write books or pamphlets and gave magic
exhibitions in the area. Before going to the next stage, keep in mind that
Mrs. Minkley, age 71 in 1956, was attempting to recall events from more
than 50 years earlier, prompted by a newspaper article that specifically
solicited information linking MFA to a book popular among magicians and
gamblers. Immediately after appearing on the Ed Sullivan show on May
13th, Jay Marshall called her, but made no notes of his initial conversation.
However, after returning to Chicago, he did call Martin Gardner, whose
typewritten notes (misdated May 11, 1956) indicate Mrs. Minkleys memory
had improved somewhat since speaking with the editors son, as she
apparently confirmed that Andrews wrote the book and said that he also
wrote sev. Pamphlets, privately printed, sold to gamblers for large sums. Jay



returned to the east coast to perform on Gary Moores television show (his
recollection of this in a letter written in December 1956 was that this was
about a month later, but the Holyoke newspaper article indicates he was to
appear on Moore's show on Monday, May 21st. Of course, it could have
been postponed or a later appearance) and took that opportunity to travel to
Holyoke to interview Mrs. Minkley. He did take notes of that conversation,
and called Gardner afterwards. Gardners typewritten notes (misdated March
20, 1956) say that the mss. he sold were probably typewritten by him, not
printed. She looked at book [a copy of Erdnase Jay brought with him],
recalled pictures, but remembered book as being thicker than it was.
Recalled that he had many copies of it on hand. She repeated that she
thought he had been to college. Jay transcribed his notes of the interview in
a letter to Gardner dated December 12, 1956. Unfortunately, the surviving
transcription in Gardners collection may be missing a second page or
second letter (the one page letter says continued at the bottom). Jay
Marshall probably has his original notes, which would be interesting to see,
as the surviving transcription makes no mention of the book or the
manuscripts. It does say She insists he was a college grad which we know
now to be inaccurate. That is the extent of the documentation I have seen of
Mrs. Minkleys testimony on this subject (she does report anecdotes about
his card tricks and other family information, all given in TMWWE). There
are a couple of very curious features of her reaction to the copy of the book
Jay showed her: She apparently recognized the illustrations, but
misremembered his book as being thicker. If Jay showed her a first edition
copy (as Gardner reports in an essay in THE ANNOTATED ERDNASE),
this memory could be explained by the passage of time, we tend to
misremember things we saw as a child as larger than they were. But in a
1990 phone interview with Bart Whaley (see footnote 15 to page 303 of
TMWWE), Jay recalled that hed shown her the Fleming edition, surely the
very thickest of all editions (Perhaps in light of this, TMWWE interprets
Gardners notes cited aboveas that she thought the edition Jay had was
thicker than the books MFA had. That was not Gardners understanding, as
shown by his essay, and his assumption that Jay had shown her a first
edition. The notes are open to either interpretation). Since she claimed to
recognize the illustrations, she must have looked at an open copy, indicating
more than passing acquaintance with the book. Does it strike anyone else as



strange that she wouldnt have looked at the title page and asked her brother-
in-law who Erdnase was? The name "ERDNASE" is clearly printed on the
spine of the first edition as well. The authors strange name, especially if
MFA claimed to her to have written the book (she never says he did), would
surely have left an impression, I would think As Sawyer points out, MFA
may have had stacks of books, but were they THE EXPERT? Were they
books he wrote? Perhaps she saw a copy of MODERN MAGIC. To a
laymansome fifty years laterhands manipulating cards might strike a
memory chord, even if drawn in very different styles (Curiously, Marshall
D. Smith, the named illustrator of the book, did NOT recognize the
illustrations when Gardner first showed him a copy of the book! Some take
this as evidence that he did not do them)

Heres how I see the Minkley testimony: She learns of Jay Marshalls interest
in the Holyoke newspaper and contacts the paper. The first person who
speaks to her about it reports that she knows nothing about the book, though
she does confirm MFAs interest in magic, and that he wrote some
manuscripts. She receives a long distance call (quite an exciting event for
many in the 1950s!) from Jay Marshall, immediately after hed performed
on ED SULLIVANS popular Sunday night television show, which shed
likely watched, having read about it in the paper. That must have been quite
exciting for her too, and she now confirms that her brother-in-law, MFA
wrote the book. When celebrity Jay Marshall takes a special trip from New
York to Holyoke to interview her after appearing on the Gary Moore show,
she does not disappoint him, claiming to recognize the books illustrations, if
not its physical features, and offering numerous anecdotes about MFA. How
seriously should this testimony that MFA actually wrote THE EXPERT be
taken?

I personally find the non-affirmation of MFAs older brother Alvin much
more troubling for the MFA theory. He was only too happy to meet with
Gardner in the fall of 1949. Gardners notes do not show Alvin had ever
heard about the book, though he knew quite a lot about MFAs gambling
activites. Their relationship was so close that it was Alvin who advised
MFA to go to Australia to avoid the police charges of murdering several
people (Alvin did not believe him guilty). Gardner conjectures that MFA



did not tell his family about the book because it might embarrass them. This
would seem to fly in the face of the authors clear pride of accomplishment
and strong sense of worth as expressed in the book (not to mention its
conflict with the recollection of Albertie Minkley, cited above. If she is to
be believed, he had no qualms about letting his in-laws know about the
book). Would a known card cheat and pool hustler and an accused multiple
murderer be embarrassed to tell his family about a book hed written?
Gardner sent Alvin Andrews a copy of THE EXPERT with a lengthy letter
dated November 7, 1949. Gardner says he is anxious to know if you think
the writing sounds like Milton. He received no reply. Now, if someone sent
me a copy of a book written by my late brother, whom the world believes to
have been a serial killer, but whose book shows had a redeeming side, Id
have surely acknowledged its receipt and commented on its voice! We dont
know why Alvin didnt bother to respond (he didnt die for several more
years), but possibly he wasnt convinced that MFA had anything to do with
the book, and regarded Gardner as a bit of a crank for thinking so
Admittedly, that is pure conjecture on my part.

A final note: I sent Gardner a copy of Sawyers book (the second, revised
and enlarged 87 page edition of 1997) and in his letter to me, dated 31
August 1999, he says: Thanks for your letter and the copy of the Sawyer
book which I did not even know existed. He raises good points, and I admit
that the identity of Erdnase is still an open question, lacking in any positive
documentary evidence that MF Andrews was the man. I would estimate my
belief at about 80 percent. Pratt is the major link. I dont believe he lied. He
was very reluctant to give me information about Andrews because he said it
would be hard on his brother My views on Pratts reliability and motives can
be found earlier in this thread.

Richard Lane | June 30th, 2004, 3:47 pm | link | filter

Pratt & photographs: A curiosity.

The footnote to the nicest photograph of Andrews in the frontispiece to The
Man Who Was Erdnase, mentions the rear notation, "Rose & Sands-
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Providence, R.I./ 234 5th Avenue." A bolster to the claim that Providence
resident Ed Pratt received the photograph from Andrews.

Here's another fine example from the Rose & Sands studio.

http://www.gabrielleray.150m.com/Archiv ... quest.html

Interesting to note that the NY studio at 234 5th Avenue, was a block and a
half from the Madison Square Club at 22 W. 26th. A short hop down to
John Morrisey's place at 5 W. 24th and not much further to the House With
The Bronze Door at 33 W. 23rd. At least 2 other gambling joints existed in
less than a five block radius, but those were by far the spiffiest, bar a
carriage ride down to 818 Broadway.

In 1910, outside 234 5th Avenue, heiress Dorothy Arnold vanished into thin
air, creating another infamous unsolved mystery. That place was jinxed.

Richard Hatch | June 30th, 2004, 4:40 pm | link | filter

Originally posted by Richard Lane:
Pratt & photographs: A curiosity.

The footnote to the nicest photograph of Andrews in the
frontispiece to The Man Who Was Erdnase, mentions the rear
notation, "Rose & Sands- Providence, R.I./ 234 5th Avenue." A
bolster to the claim that Providence resident Ed Pratt received the
photograph from Andrews.

On page 4 of this thread will be found my earlier posting on Pratt and the
frontispiece photograph. As noted there, the Rose & Sands studio was only
in existance for one year, allowing us to date the photo (or at least, its
frame!) with some certainty to 1900. Based on the notation (apparently in
Pratt's handwriting) on the back of the photo ("Age 24 [Corrected from 23],
August 7, 1900"), I am convinced this is a photo of Pratt's brother William,
who turned 24 the day before (coincidence?). Andrews, whose 2 other
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known photos differ markedly from this one, would have been 27 on that
day. In my opinion, there is no credible evidence that Pratt even knew
Andrews, since everything he told Gardner that was accurate (and some
things that were not) were in the "Malted Milk Murderer" article in Pratt's
possession (unbeknowst to Gardner).

I've been able to purchase several photos from this studio on eBay (though
none of Andrews!).

Pete Biro | June 30th, 2004, 6:33 pm | link | filter

Are you going to publish all these posts?

Glenn Bishop | September 9th, 2004, 8:08 pm | link | filter

This is the best thread that [ have read in a long time.

I do not feel that Erdnase was a card shark I feel that he was a magician. |
have met card sharks in the past and they seem to know only a few moves...

These moves they do very well - but magicians seem to want to know more
moves than a card shark. And card sharks really do not need to know a lot
of moves just WHEN to do them in a game.

Expert at the card table is filled with moves. It is ground breaking and there
has not been a book since that has done what Erdnase has done with his
book.

Another thing in the magic section is that in the routines Erdnase has all
sorts of bits of business in the routines. When he palms cards... Vernon
points these little bits of business out in Revelations...

These bits of business can only be developed by performing the magic
effects for people. In real time and under fire. This suggests to me that
Erdnase was a performer.
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As with his twelve card stock or fancy stock. It makes a great
demonstration of fake card cheating but no real card cheat would ever cheat
like that.

In the first few pages of the book he also talkes about how saloons used
look outs. He could have been a look out for a saloon. And could have been
around card players and card cheats for a long time.

Why would he write a book? I feel that it was promo and Erdnase was his
stage name. Magicians use stage names but he was also re-inventing
himself to become this other person that was the expert at the card table...

Micky McDoogle called himself "The Card Dective" and that was part of
his promo. And so were the books he wrote.

My other feeling is that if Erdnase was a card cheat why would he need the
money and write a book to get money?

If he was the card cheat of card cheats finding a game in 1902 would have

not have been a hard thing to do. And I feel that if he needed the money he
could have found someone to back him with a steak... If he was indeed the
card cheat of card cheats that is.

He could also do three card monte. Three card monte is the fastest way to
make a buck as far as con games go.

I learned Three card monte by reading Erdnase. And I also got tips later
from Buddy Farnan and Dai Vernon himself.

Looking at the research that Whit Haydn has done on three card monte.
And knowing about the game and watching people play it on the streets in
Chicago. The MOB is an important part of the swindle.

Back in 1902 they used a mob and a script... Yet reading the three card
monte routine in Erdnase there is no mention of using a Mob at all.



And that suggests to me that may have never done it on the streets. But the
way that he writes about it it would make a great demonstration for an
entertainer/card shark/magician to do to entertain during a show.

The book suggests to me that he was a magician and he was inventing a
persona... As the expert at the card table. And the book could have been
part of the promo.

Magicians write books and invent persona's to get publicity and to set
themselves up as experts in a field. Scarne, McDoogle, Ortiz, Forte have all
used books and video for this reason.

Selling the books and tapes makes a profit but not as much of a profit as a
booking - being an expert in a field can get a lot more money because it sets
them appart from the average magician that can do a few card tricks.

This 1s just a guess but in the first few pages of the book he talks about
people that were employed by saloons to watch for card cheats. Could this

book be part of him trying to set this up as a performing/consulting market?

And the add in the Sphinx for magician a second market and an attempt at
quick cash?

Todd Karr | September 10th, 2004, 11:04 am | link | filter

Quick update: I've obtained copies of the original court docket sheets for
the case of con man E.S. Andrews and there's not much more there than the
basic information I have already...not even a first or middle name! I may be
posting some of my info on the Web soon, so stay tuned!

Glenn Bishop | September 10th, 2004, 11:12 am | link | filter

Thank you Todd Karr. I have found your posts very interesting reading...

I look forward to reading more...
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Richard Hatch | September 30th, 2004, 11:41 pm | link | filter

Originally posted by Glenn Bishop:

Back in 1902 they used a mob and a script... Yet reading the three
card monte routine in Erdnase there is no mention of using a Mob
at all.

Glenn, this is not quite accurate. On page 121 of the standard editions
Erdnase writes about Monte: "In a confidence game, the corner of the Ace
is turned by a "capper," who seizes an opportunity when the careless (?)
dealer turns to expectorate, or on any pretext neglects his game for a
moment." This seems a clear reference to the mob aspect of the
"confidence" version of Monte. Erdnase does not advocate that one do this,
merely states it as a matter of fact. Indeed, the entire Monte section seems
out of place in the "card table artifice" section of the book, since he seems
to be clearly presenting it as entertainment, commending it to the amateur
as a source of much amusement. In that context, it seems more suited to the
"Legerdemain" section though perhaps he is merely acknowledging its
gambling origins by including it in the former section. In any case, I can
find no instance of Erdnase recommending any sleight or move as
something that has earned him money, but on several occasions he makes
references to having been the victim of card cheats. Indeed, he admits in the
introductory section that his interest in card manipulation stemmed from an
awareness of having been cheated. As I read it, his passion for play was
transformed into a passion for manipulation, i.e., his study of the latter
cured him of his compulsion for the former. But that is strictly conjecture
on my part. He makes fun of reformed gamblers in his famous preface
("The hypocritical cant of reformed (?) gamblers...") so it seems unlikely
that he regarded himself as one. As you point out (and as does Darwin Ortiz
in his ANNOTATED ERDNASE), if he were an unreformed gambler who
needed money, he wouldn't write a book, he'd find a game... Tony Giorgio
has pointed out numerous other instances in the text that argue against the
author having been a practicing card cheat. This leads many to believe he
was a magician, but his tone in the legerdemain section is that of an
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outsider: he's read books on magic and studied the performances of
magicians and wonders why they use the pass instead of blind shuffles, for
example. The fact that book came off the press in early March 1902 and
was not advertised in THE SPHINX (which was published in the same city
as the book) until November of that year (it received a brief mention in the
September issue) would suggest that he was not aware of how to reach that
particular market for his book initially (the ad was placed by the Vernelos,
publishers of the SPHINX, not by the author). So my best guess is that he
was a student of both branches of card manipulation, but just an armchair
practictioner of both. Perhaps he suffered from the failure of nerve he refers
to on page 23. I expect most of these questions will be answered when we
find out (if we do!) the author's true identity...

Glenn Bishop | October 8th, 2004, 10:11 am | link | filter

Originally posted by Richard Hatch:

Originally posted by Glenn Bishop:

[b]

Back in 1902 they used a mob and a script... Yet reading the
three card monte routine in Erdnase there is no mention of
using a Mob at all.

Glenn, this is not quite accurate. On page 121 of the standard editions
Erdnase writes about Monte: "In a confidence game, the corner of the Ace
is turned by a "capper," who seizes an opportunity when the careless (?)
dealer turns to expectorate, or on any pretext neglects his game for a
moment." This seems a clear reference to the mob aspect of the
"confidence" version of Monte. [/b]

Guest | October 8th, 2004, 10:00 pm | link | filter

Just wanted to clarify something that Glenn alluded to: Steve Forte is not a
magician who invented a persona for his act; Steve would be the first to tell
you that he's not an entertainer and has never tried to be. He has moves out
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the ying-yang but he's never considered himself a magician.

He 1s, however, the best cardshark I've ever met.

Guest | October 9th, 2004, 12:22 am | link | filter

Glenn Bishop is wrong about Erdnase and monte. Watching mobs in
Chicago in the 1970's is interesting but not contemporaneous with Erdnase's
experience. I would suggest Glenn reads "40 Year a Gambler on the
Mississippi" by George Devol before he makes assessments regarding
Erdnase's accuracy.

Hope this helps.

Glenn Bishop | October 9th, 2004, 9:08 am | link | filter

Buster Brown... To me it is not about being right or wrong when talking
about the mystery of Erdnase. Richard has done some fantastic work on this
subject. He is like someong digging at some tomb or old world dig -
digging up the past and the mystery. Each bit of theory or idea that is
uncovered is another step toward getting to the mystery.

I suggest you get Whit Haydn's three card monte DVD from the School Of
Scoundrels. This is the first DVD that shows how the mob works. And back
in the 1900's they did it this way.

There was open monte and closed monte.

Erdnase text on three card monte was one of the more interesting things that
I found in the book. I feel by reading it that he did it as a demo. The same
reason that he did the twelve card stack. A great demo. But I do not feel
(Having played cards) that a card shark would do it that way.

I am not interested in being right or wrong. I am only interested in what we
can bring to the table and try to find clue's.
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I think that Richard has done a fantastic job.

I have also posted in other threads on this subjects and If Erdnase was a
card shark he may have used three card monte as an after game. To be done
after the poker game was breaking up.

I have seen people cut to the high card as an after game. If a card shark
could do this he could win back some lost money. Or use this to cheat and
not have to cheat during the game.

But my thoughts on three card monte are that if you know three card monte
it is one of the fastest money makeing games or cons that there ever was.

Only cons like the thimble rig or the shell game do as well.

In fact it is often said about three card monte that it will make more money
for the con man faster than any other game...

If Erdnase could do three card monte why would he need to cheat at the
card table and "Need the Money" as the book said?

Again... It is not about being right or wrong it is about exploring the
mystery and bringing ideas to the table to talk about!

Glenn Bishop | October 9th, 2004, 9:31 am | link | filter

Originally posted by emeprod:

Just wanted to clarify something that Glenn alluded to: Steve
Forte is not a magician who invented a persona for his act; Steve
would be the first to tell you that he's not an entertainer and has
never tried to be. He has moves out the ying-yang but he's never
considered himself a magician.

He is, however, the best cardshark I've ever met.
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I have seen Steves work on video and I think that he is the best of the best. I
don't know Steve Forte... And I have no idea how he makes his money. But
he did make money on the video's that he did as John Scarne made money
on the books that he wrote. And Darwin Ortiz makes money on the books
and video's that he produces.

Darwin is also one ot the best and gets a good fee for a demo of card
sharping expo as well as doing magic.

I have no idea if Steve Forte does demo of card sharp methods but if he
does I would think that he is also getting top money for doing it...

To me a demo of card sharp methods is a show like a speaker. People work
hard in these markets to show that they are the at the top and they do this
today by writing books and doing video's...

Perhaps this was the reason Erdnase wrote the book... Perhaps not but it is a
theory and just another thing to look at in the mystery of Erdnase.

Guest | October 9th, 2004, 9:42 am | link | filter

I have great respect for Whit Haydn. Whit's a friend of mine. I haven't seen
the DVD, but I have his book on monte, which is excellent. If the DVD
shows a large mob, then that's fine. But I do think you need to read Devol's
book which contains numerous accounts of working monte with one or two
partners and sometimes alone.

I know Richard too, and I'm not sure why you kept mentioning him. For
what it's worth, Richard and I corresponded on Erdnase in the late nineties,
and I think his scholarship is excellent.

I agree, monte is lucrative. And you don't even have to be that good at it.
Paul Wilson and I both witnessed a tourist lose $1400 cash outside Caesar's
Palace about three years ago, and I have watched (and photographed) monte
mobs all over the world.
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cheers

Guest | October 9th, 2004, 11:23 am | link | filter

Well, I just got done reading this thread, it has been quite interesting.
Thanks to everyone who has contributed. Defintately given me some things
to think about with regards to magicians/gambling, etc. Also, I just love
reading history, or even speculation about history (but ssshhhh, don't tell my
friends).

One thing about the last post got me, however. The tourist losing $1400!
Funny, one of the things I'm studying/working on in magic the most is the
phsycological processes that go into everything, but one I haven't been able
to understand is gambling. It's one of those tests Mithrandir refers too. For
the last year now, I've been puzzled over gambling. You see, I got into a
Casino for the first time when I was 17 years old, with nearly $700 bucks in
my pocket. I played until I got kind of bored and left, down twenty bucks.
Since then I've returned a few times, trying various Casino's, etc with over a
grand on me, just in case 1 got that bug . I mean I wanted to feel it, find it,
understand it. No luck.

But hell, free booze, and shows, lol...
Seriously though, there is something there I'm having difficulty pinpointing,
but I think it may be important to what we do, and maybe to the way this

crazy world works...thoughts? I'll let you know if I scrape up anything
cogent...

Glenn Bishop | October 9th, 2004, 11:46 am | link | filter

Originally posted by Buster Brown:

I have great respect for Whit Haydn. Whit's a friend of mine. I
haven't seen the DVD, but I have his book on monte, which is
excellent. If the DVD shows a large mob, then that's fine.
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I agree, monte is lucrative. And you don't even have to be that
good at it. Paul Wilson and I both witnessed a tourist lose $1400
cash outside Caesar's Palace about three years ago, and I have
watched (and photographed) monte mobs all over the world.
cheers

Ask Whit Haydn about it. I talked with him about Erdnase and three card
monte in the close up Gallery at the Magic Castle...

And what we talked about - is why I feel this way about Erdnase and three
card monte. It is just a guess but it is just another guess or theory that we
bring to the table.

By the way the book you mention is on my list...

Robert Allen | October 9th, 2004, 11:51 am | link | filter

I'm sure there are different reasons people enjoy gambling, just as there are
different reasons people take recreational drugs. From my limited
experience I will note that winning in a casino and winning in the
stockmarket give you (or at least, me) precisely the same feeling of
euphoria. Conversely, loosing at either gives a feeling of depression.

While I enjoyed gambling when I did it, being a relative cheapskate I would
only play at games which gave me some chance of winning, or at least
breaking even. For me gambling was a sort of role playing; getting comped,
flashing the wad of money I never intended to actually gamble to the pit
bosses, not to mention as you note the drinking, eating, etc. I got to play the
role of someone who's respected because of their wealth and gambling skill.
I think that's what a lot of people get out of it - role playing. Before going to
Reno or Vegas (and even after coming back) I'd watch _Casino_ on DVD :)

Guest | October 9th, 2004, 12:09 pm | link | filter
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That is very interesting sir. I must admit that amongst my peers, and ranging
out to a few years older, (not too sure about the older demographics, on this
one), there is an increasing trend to "re-invent" onself, whenever one feels
like it, and a seeming lack of any notion that this might not be an ideal
concept.

So, beyond "what happens in Vegas stays in Vegas", you're saying that
people actually are expeiriencing a sort of real virtual reality or the chance
to be someone, or at least play the part of someone they're not?

Looking at the money Casino's make, the idea that people desperately wish
to not merely be entertained, but to shroud themselves in a cloak of fantasy
if you will, well, I'd say it bodes well for our business. :D And is yet
another proponent of creating an entire magical environment for someone,
like a seperate little demension when we perform, instead of being mere
tricks, or a puzzle. As they tell me Slydini did with his pins, where others
failed...

Sorry for going off topic, and sorry if some of this stuff seems like stating
the obvious. Sometimes little gliches in my thinking appear, and it is
important to capitilze on them, (I think) in whatever area they were
spawned from.

After all, I believe Erdnase tells us, "THE finished card expert considers

nothing too trivial that in any way contributes to his success", though
personally I picked that concept from the writings of Mr. Paul Chosse.

Larry Horowitz | October 9th, 2004, 12:39 pm | link | filter

As Richard mentions, on P.121 Erdnase uses the word "expectorate". This is
the exact same word the Devol uses in "Forty Years a Gambler on the
Mississippi".

The coincicence seems to great for Erdnase to have been writing from his
own Monte experience.


https://forums.geniimagazine.com/memberlist.php?mode=viewprofile&u=76
https://forums.geniimagazine.com/viewtopic.php?p=12658#p12658

Richard Hatch | October 9th, 2004, 1:04 pm | link | filter

Originally posted by Larry Horowitz:

As Richard mentions, on P.121 Erdnase uses the word
"expectorate'. This is the exact same word the Devol uses in
"Forty Years a Gambler on the Mississippi".

The coincicence seems to great for Erdnase to have been writing
from his own Monte experience.

Larry, that's most interesting!

Since several people have mentioned Devol's book (I believe Peter
Studebaker even included it on his "top ten" list in one of his lecture notes),
I thought I might point out that this 1887 classic is available as a 300 page
paperback reprint from numerous sources for just $12.95 plus shipping
(including H & R Magic Books www.magicbookshop.com

Do a search on "Devol" and it will show up.)

John Bodine | October 9th, 2004, 1:31 pm | link | filter

I might add that it appears as though the value of a second edition of "The
Expert at the Card Table" is approximately $760. It's just such a shame that
mid bid of $72 didn't win the auction. :)

johnbodine

Richard Hatch | October 9th, 2004, 10:15 pm | link | filter

Originally posted by John Bodine:

I might add that it appears as though the value of a second edition
of "The Expert at the Card Table" is approximately $760. It's just
such a shame that mid bid of $72 didn't win the auction. :)

johnbodine
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It should be noted that if either Jason England (the winning bidder) or I (the
underbidder) had not tried to "spike" this in the last few seconds, one of us
would have gotten it for just $107.50. Had neither of us bid, it would have
sold for just $72...

CHRIS | October 10th, 2004, 7:57 pm | link | filter

Originally posted by Richard Hatch:

Since several people have mentioned Devol's book (I believe Peter
Studebaker even included it on his "top ten" list in one of his
lecture notes), I thought I might point out that this 1887 classic is
available as a 300 page paperback reprint from numerous sources
for just $12.95 plus shipping.

"Forty Years a Gambler on the Mississippi" can also be had electronically

Chris Wasshuber
Lybrary.com preserving magic one book at a time.

Guest | October 10th, 2004, 8:30 pm | link | filter

Stuart,

Your question about understanding gambling/gamblers, is best discussed in
another thread or elsewhere.

But you may want to read the works of Dr. Robert Custer and others who
worked with compulsive/addictive gamblers.

I knew a number of those who worked in Vegas, who threw their salaries
away each week, who would call you, a "normie"...someone who couldn't,
(thankfully) understand the wishfull, delusional, magical thinking, that the
reality of math, would somehow, stop for them. I knew high-ranking casino
executives, whose business was to know how much revenue, the "games"
would generate by the hour, but still took THEIR salaries and blow it each
week, at the same games at the casino next door!
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Todd Karr | November 14th, 2004, 9:57 am | link | filter

Hi, everyone

I have decided to share my Erdnase research with the magic community in
the hope that we all can join forces to pursue some of these leads I've
uncovered on con man E. S. Andrews.

Go to wwwe.illusionata.com (this is the new Magical Past-Times site, which
I'm now editing) to read about Andrews, see the news articles, and check
the list of potential research topics that interested historians can try to chase.

As always, I'll stress that this may not be the man we're looking for. We
haven't found a deck of cards in his hands. But at least we may eliminate
one more candidate if this proves to be yet another false lead.

I'll welcome emails from anyone making progress on these leads!

Thank you and best wishes,
Todd

Bill Mullins | November 14th, 2004, 4:07 pm | link | filter

Todd's new info is very interesting, and it's great that he's sharing it (as well
as picking up Magic Past Times).

To follow up on one of his leads:

This site:

http://www.cdpheritage.org/newspapers/index.html

has a number of scanned Colorado newspapers. No reference to Charles
Brandon was found. There are too many references to "Andrews" (1600+
between 1900 and 1910) to say yet if any of them are relevant.

Todd Karr | November 15th, 2004, 5:42 pm | link | filter
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Thanks, Bill. The Colorado newspaper index is a promising resource...this
is exactly the kind of pooling of efforts that I think will prove productive in
tracking down Erdnase.

Don | November 15th, 2004, 7:03 pm | link | filter

Todd, that was very, very interesting to read. Great research, it sounds a lot
like it actually could be S W Andrews.

Gook luck.

Don | November 15th, 2004, 7:06 pm | link | filter

oops, 1 mean E S Andrews.

Todd Karr | November 16th, 2004, 7:32 am | link | filter

Thanks, Rage

Matthew Field | November 16th, 2004, 9:55 am | link | filter

Todd -- Phenominal! Many thanks for posting the results of your research,
and for taking over the "Magical Past-Times" site.

Matt Field

Todd Karr | November 16th, 2004, 12:54 pm | link | filter

Matt, thanks. I hope this all helps advance the Erdnase search so we can
give credit due to this unsung but outstanding author. As for MPT, I hope to
honor Gary Hunt's legacy and do a good job with it, including other
intriguing material soon.

Brad Jeffers | November 16th, 2004, 10:41 pm | link | filter
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Todd, Very interesting material. Keep up the good work!
By the way, how is the Mickey MacDougall book coming along?

Tommy | November 16th, 2004, 11:08 pm | link | filter

Mr Karr

Thank you.
A fine piece of work and very exciting theory. I hope you will get all the
help you need.

Just thinking of the cuff. The gent was convicted so unless he won an
appeal later he would have a criminal record. Did they not take photos and
fingerprints in those days?

I think it unlikely that he would have been given a jail term if it was his first
offence, but if he had then what prison would he most likely have gone to
from the court where he was convicted? Prisons often keep very good
records.

I do not suppose the gent was connected to Denver by any chance. I only
ask that because a lot of pro con men were at that time.

Todd Karr | November 17th, 2004, 9:26 am | link | filter

Brad: Thanks, and I don't have plans for a MacDougall book right now,
although the card detective would definitely be fascinating.

Mr. Cooper: The surviving court records are scant from that period, and
while I had hoped to get more from the Wisconsin police files, the docket
sheets are all I was provided with. This is where we need someone to go
there and check the records in person and see what actually still exists. I
also agree that prison records might be helpful, and I hope some of our
Wisconsin friends can help check this out.

You're right about a Denver connection. Check my article again at
www.illusionata.com where the press states Andrews' company is
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incorporated in Colorado. I hope business records still exist from that
period!

Tommy | November 17th, 2004, 11:33 am | link | filter

Re Denver. This was a guess from me. I am from the UK and do not know
my geography of the USA very well. However, Because of the Denver
connection, your man might well have been a member of the Blonger mob.
See here for a run down of these guys.
http://www.blongerbros.com/gang/cast/underworld.asp

Your man describes himself as Businesslike and I cannot think of a word
that could better describe the Erdnase work itself.

Businesslike

Definitions:

Exhibiting methodical and systematic characteristics that would be useful in
business

Not distracted by anything unrelated to the goal

Synonyms: earnest, efficient, purposeful

In the manner of one transacting business wisely and by right

methods. ; practical and efficient.

Serious and purposeful.

Regards
COOPER

Todd Karr | November 17th, 2004, 8:00 pm | link | filter

Cooper:

Exactly. And the Denver gang info is very interesting.

Bill Mullins | November 18th, 2004, 1:38 pm | link | filter
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The National Endowment for the Humanities and the Library of Congress
are about to digitize 30 million pages of American Newspapers. web page

Todd Karr | November 18th, 2004, 6:15 pm | link | filter

Bill: That's excellent news! It's amazing what you can find hidden in old
newspapers, and today's search engines makes researching names a matter
of a few seconds rather than months.

Todd Karr | November 22nd, 2004, 2:56 pm | link | filter

Thanks, Glenn. I've already begun receiving a number of tips.

Bob Farmer | November 22nd, 2004, 5:47 pm | link | filter

Back when "Erdnase" registered his copyright in Canada, the registration
was done at the Department of Agriculture (where, apparently, Vernon's
father worked). As part of the application, a copy of the book had to be
filed.

I figured the book and the application must still be somewhere. Canada
eventually created a copyright office and a lot of the records have been

shifted around.

However, I did find what appears to be an entry for an original edition
(there are other entries for later editions and reprints):

First, go to amicus.collectionscanada.ca
Or go to the Canada website and find Library and Archives Canada.
Here's the info:

Amicus No. 14561855
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LCCN numbers 76378049 //r952
LC Call No. GV1247.E66 1902

It seems to me that if this copy could be examined, along with the original
registration, some clues might emerge.

Bill Wheeler | November 22nd, 2004, 8:51 pm | link | filter

I had trouble opening amicus.collectionscanada.ca but perhaps this link will
help:

http://amicus.collectionscanada.ca/aawe ... &v=0&lvl=1

Noodling around on the above mentioned website, I found reference to S.R.
Erdnase ... perhaps this is his brother.

Or maybe we should be looking for James Andrers. ;)

Richard Hatch | November 22nd, 2004, 10:03 pm | link | filter

Bob, the copy you cited in Amicus did not show up for me when I did a
search of the "National Library Collections," only when I searched "The
Entire Amicus Database," so my guess is that it is not a copy submitted for
copyright purposes (since it should then be in the National Library
Collections, correct?), but a first edition elsewhere in Canada. The
Whitchurch-Stouffville Public Library in Ontario has a first edition in the
Art Latcham Magic Collection, so that might be the copy in question. Of
course, I could be wrong and it would be most exciting if the Amicus
reference is to a copy submitted by the author for copyright purposes. I
would be very interested to learn of any other first editions in Canada, and
elsewhere (my current count of first editions in public and private
collections is well over 60 copies but I suspect I know of less than half the
surviving copies at this point...). David Ben did recently check copyright
submissions for the period in question (as have others before him) and
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found no record of the book having been submitted for copyright in Canada,
despite the book's unusual, possibly unique triple copyright statement. The
"Stationer's Hall, London" copyright also seems not have been submitted,
though the American copyright forms and fees were filed properly and two
deposit copies sent to the Library of Congress in early March 1902.

Bill, the "S. R. Erdnase" is a reference to "Samuel R. Erdnase" under which
name the book's author is often referenced in bibliographies. This has been
traced back to a 1904 catalog of Frederick J. Drake, prior to their first
reprint of 1905. The catalog listing is curious in giving the incorrect number
of pages (204 rather than 205) and illustrations (45 rather than 101), so it
seems likely the "Samuel R." is a typo as well, though, of course, it could
also be a clue of some kind!

magicam | November 23rd, 2004, 2:32 am | link | filter

Dredging up a few matters discussed earlier in this wonderful thread

David Alexander opines that EATCT could not have been written for
money because of the up-front costs of publishing and the time delays in
obtaining profit, and later suggests that the book cost $40-$50 in equivalent
money in those days a high cost indeed. While I agree with Davids
implication that Erdnase probably could have made his money more
efficiently at cheating (assuming he was so good at cheating), given the
high cost of the book, it is not out of the question that Erdnase could have
initially expected a very tidy profit at the end of the day at sales of $2 per
copy (although subsequent price reductions suggest that sales may not have
been so good). Considering the poor quality of the first edition, I wouldnt be
surprised if the cost to print and bind the book was less than a dime per
copy yielding a huge profit margin, abnormally high even if the book was
wholesaled.

David also wrote: The use of a check indicates the publisher (Erdnase)
wanted proof of title, clear ownership of the material he was paying for.
Establishing clear title is important for what happened later and a
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check is the best evidence.

While we may never know why Erdnase used a check for payment to Smith
(assuming Smiths recollection was correct, and leaving us to wonder why
Erdnase would want to leave a paper trail), I disagree that a check is the
best evidence. A receipt would have been just as good. Moreover, a simple
check would indicate nothing more than payment for some sort of services
not necessarily ownership of the drawings. While some artists do indeed
sell ownership of their work, others merely sell the rights to use the artwork
(i.e., they grant a license for certain purposes or a specified period of time)
and retain ownership of their work.

David also wrote: It is also indirect evidence that McKinney had nothing
to do with "publishing" the book since, as an established printer, they
could have ordered the illustrations and paid for them directly.

To my mind, the act of commissioning and paying for the illustrations
directly would be the hallmark of a publisher, not a printer.

There has been some discussion and opinions given about whether or not
Erdnase was a magician or a gambler. Richard Hatch notes that Erdnase
made reference to Charlier in EATCT. This reference does not conclusively
prove anything, as Richard admits, but it does suggest (to me at least) that
Erdnase was very familiar with the conjuring literature of the day. Either
that, or Erdnase just happened upon the very few magic books published
prior to 1902 which mention Charlier: Hoffmanns translation of Robert-
Houdins Secrets of Conjuring and Magic (1878), Hoffmanns More Magic
(1889), and Charles Bertrams Isnt it Wonderful? (1896). What are the odds
that a hard-core gambler would have read these few magic books to the
exclusion of others, and somewhat carefully at that? And if Charlier was so
obscure in conjuring circles, how well known could he have been outside of
the conjuring fraternity? On the other hand, if J. N. Maskelynes assessment
is correct, then Charlier was a card sharp, for Maskelyne told Henry
Ridgely Evans that he (Maskelyne) purchased a set of marked cards from
Charlier in London in about 1873. So perhaps Erdnase was a gambler after
all and knew of Charlier from Charliers reputation as a cheat? I take credit



for none of the foregoing. You will find all of this information and more in
Eddie Dawes wonderful chapter on Charlier in Charles Bertram The Court
Conjurer (1997), published by the Chief Genii himself. The mere fact that
Erdnase knew about the extremely elusive and obscure Charlier seems to
support the argument that Erdnase had more than a passing interest in and
familiarity with magic.

In closing, these are just my thoughts. I'm not pretending to know anywhere
near as much about EATCT and its mysterious author as David, Richard,

and others who have contributed mightily to this thread.

Clay

Marco Pusterla | November 23rd, 2004, 5:49 am | Link | filter

Hi, everybody!
Clay said:

Maskelyne told Henry Ridgely Evans that he (Maskelyne) purchased a
set of marked cards from Charlier in London in about 1873.

While my message can have nothing to do whatsoever with Erdnase, one of
Charlier's marked cards pack is currently in The Magic Circle's museum, in
London (UK)... I don't recall if this is the same deck bought by Maskelyne,

but I do remember it is a very interesting deck indeed...

Ok, that's is... going back lurking ;)

Marco Pusterla - http:/www.mpmagic.co.uk

Richard Hatch | November 23rd, 2004, 8:18 am | link | filter
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Originally posted by Magicam:

Either that, or Erdnase just happened upon the very few magic
books published prior to 1902 which mention Charlier:
Hoffmanns translation of Robert-Houdins Secrets of Conjuring
and Magic (1878), Hoffmanns More Magic (1889), and Charles
Bertrams Isnt it Wonderful? (1896).

I believe Charlier is also mentioned in Hoffmann's 1889 Tricks with Cards,
though I don't have a copy I can check. He is mentioned by name in
Howard Thurston's Card Tricks (1901) and more importantly in Roterberg's
1897 New Era Card Tricks, which was almost certainly a source and
inspiration for Erdnase, as pointed out by Jeff Busby (Roterberg's book sold
very well for the same $2 cover price). Erdnase mentions his interest in
conjuring literature on page 126: "But so far as we can learn from the
exhibitions and literature of conjurers...". In his first (and primary) mention
of Charlier, Erdnase writes (p. 128): "This is known to conjurers as the
"Charlies [sic] Pass," and we presume was invented by the famous magician
of that name." I don't believe any other writer on conjuring at the time
would have refered to Charlier as a "famous magician" and the fact that
Erdnase misspells his name in this initial and primary reference (it is
spelled correctly in a latter passing reference) suggests to me that he was
not a magical "insider." It does not follow that he was necessarily a
professional gambler, but his familiarity with that world does seem more
intimate to me.

David Ben | November 23rd, 2004, 9:38 am | link | filter

The original "The Expert At The Card Table" was never submitted for
registration for copyright to the Government of Canada. I have examined all
entries bracketing the years in question - including those in the hand of
Vernon's father. I have also had on going discussions with the National
Archives and others regarding this issue as part of my research into the
Vernon biography.

I do believe, however, that I have solved the riddle of how, why, when,
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where, etc Vernon first came across this book and the connection it had to
his family. This will be explained in the book. (For those who are
interested, I am about 75,000 words into a 180,000 word project.)

As for editions submitted to Canada, all books submitted to the Government

of Canada at that time were eventually shipped to England and were
destroyed accidentally in a fire.

Terry Screen | November 23rd, 2004, 11:36 am | link | filter

I must say that I've found this whole topic absolutely

fascinating illuminating and a real live treasure hunt to boot.

It's given me a whole new perspective when reading EATCT.

My thanks to you all, and great job Mr. Karr with your contributions here
and with Magical Past-Times.

Gotta get back to the book!

Regards . .

Terry.

Tommy | November 23rd, 2004, 3:27 pm | link | filter

Just a thought or two.

Kokomo, 1901 E S Andrews, Same scam, same name!
Oshkosh, 1904 E S Andrews, Same scam, same name!
The Chicago 1907 E S Andrews, Same scam, same name!

I find it strange that a conman would want to use the same false name over

and again to play the same con trick. In other words why not use a different
false name.

After 1901, when his con comes to light, why not go to ground and emerge
under a new false name, and after the 1904 conviction why carry on in the
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Same name.

It tends to suggest to me, that it is not a false name. That E S Andrews was
prepared to front this con. That is, he does it, confident, that he can beat the
rap if arrested.

E S Andrews was indeed confident of winning the case in is jail house
interview but was convicted. However if that conviction was quashed on
appeal then it makes a bit of sense.

In that event his confidence in this legal loophole con might have grown
and he would have carried on doing it. We do not know, do we, if he won an
appeal. Also I note that there is no evidence that Tyler was convicted. I ask
as I am not sure.

I am aware of conmen here in England who use their own name over and
over, pulling a legal loophole con. Even though they are arrested time and
again they, do not get convicted. These con games are similar in nature to
the E S Andrews con; suffice to say that they are based on getting
permission from the owner to take his goods or cash. It results in a civil
case, rather than criminal one. They purposely use their real names because
using a false name might be evidence of criminal intent.

Turning to another idea: E S Andrew appears well educated in business and
might have gone to a business college. I do not know but perhaps there
were few such Colleges at that time. One place I heard mentioned is Bryant
& Stratton Business College. A long shot but maybe they have a student
record. Or any education records might be worth a look as he sounds to me
like a guy who had qualifications.

Regards
COOPER

PS Also why use this particular false name in reverse to write the S W
Erdnase book. Again it suggests E S Andrews would have been his real



name not a false one. What do you think, or have I got my facts wrong,
sorry if that is so.

magicam | November 23rd, 2004, 5:40 pm | link | filter

Richard Hatch wrote:

I believe Charlier is also mentioned in Hoffmann's 1889 Tricks with
Cards, though I don't have a copy I can check. He is mentioned by
name in Howard Thurston's Card Tricks (1901) and more importantly
in Roterberg's 1897 New Era Card Tricks, which was almost certainly
a source and inspiration for Erdnase, as pointed out by Jeff Busby
(Roterberg's book sold very well for the same $2 cover price). Erdnase
mentions his interest in conjuring literature on page 126: "But so far as
we can learn from the exhibitions and literature of conjurers...". In his
first (and primary) mention of Charlier, Erdnase writes (p. 128): "This
is known to conjurers as the "Charlies [sic] Pass," and we presume was
invented by the famous magician of that name." I don't believe any
other writer on conjuring at the time would have refered to Charlier as
a "famous magician" and the fact that Erdnase misspells his name in
this initial and primary reference (it is spelled correctly in a latter
passing reference) suggests to me that he was not a magical "insider."
It does not follow that he was necessarily a professional gambler, but
his familiarity with that world does seem more intimate to me.

Richard, as you have had your head into this problem for years, your
judgment is far better informed than mine. That said, given Erdnase's
penchant for misdirection, I do not find the one-time (intentional?)
misspelling of Charlier's name and the "famous magician" phrase as very
hearty evidence that Erdnase was unfamiliar with magic and magicians of
the day.

Even with the additional books you cite, this subset of magic books
mentioning Charlier is still quite small, although admittedly the titles you
mention do incorporate the word "Card[s]" in their titles, thus perhaps
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making them more prominent to one casually reviewing a magic dealer
catalog or a magic magazine. But what was Erdnase doing looking at such
catalogs or magazines? And even if he never saw such publications, as
insular as the magic community is, would it be unreasonable to guess that
he had friends/associates who were quite familiar with the magic literature
of the day (or at least its high points)? All in all, I cant help but suspect that
Erdnase was more familiar with magic than he admitted.

Clay



Richard Hatch | November 24th, 2004, 7:28 am | link | filter

A painting by Erdnase's illustrator, Marshall D. Smith, sold on eBay
yesterday for $499. Here's a link:
http://cgi.ebay.com/ws/eBayISAPI.dII?Vi ... RKEMEWA:IT

It had previously been listed at $999 and failed to find a bidder.

Bob Farmer | November 24th, 2004, 2:07 pm | link | filter

If you look closely, you can see the guy sitting down has a card palmed in
his right hand.

Tommy | November 24th, 2004, 3:00 pm | link | filter

Cool Ace of Spades door ! I want one.

:cool:

Richard Hatch | December 3rd, 2004, 10:57 am | link | filter

Another book illustrated by Marshall D. Smith, circa 1905, is currently on
eBay. He is not identified as the artist in the posting, but several of the
illustrations, including the cover illustration are shown. Here's a link:
http://cgi.ebay.com/ws/eBayISAPI.dII?Vi ... Track=true

Tommy | December 4th, 2004, 4:15 am | link | filter

Was the first edition printed by "Letterpress"?

For what it is worth. You can determine this by looking at the back of a
printed page and looking for a kind of embossing, in particular look at the
back of the illustrations. Letterpress is a relief printing process.

I have a little experience with letterpress and I can say it is not easy to
typeset a book without making a spelling mistake, even if you are a great
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speller. It is set up like mirror writing, that is it looks like a rubber stamp
but it is lead type. I am not sure when type setting machines came about but
small printers would set up the plate by hand as a rule and each and every
letter is a separate piece of type.

Also the illustrations would have been what are called Blocks and they can
be expensive. Some years ago I had a small block made and it cost me 50
and there are over 100 in the Erdnase book.

I am not sure when Litho printing came into use in the USA but that would
have been much cheaper. The plates are made by a photographic process
with litho and they are flat and leave no embossing.

PS I am saying it might not have been Erdnase that made the spelling
mistake but the printer.

Paul Gordon | December 27th, 2004, 10:58 pm | link | filter

Originally posted by Lance Pierce:

Regarding Erdnase, Richard Hatch pointed out to me once that
many of the illustrations in the book carry Erdnase's copyright
statement right beneath the drawing, but many of them don't.
There doesn't seem to be a discernable pattern as to why some do
and some don't, but all the drawings appear to be pretty close in
style.

Coupling this with the information gleaned from the interview
with the person who did the artwork for the book and how he
expressed his surprise because he didn't remember drawing so
many, does anyone have any theories to explain this? Did the artist
draw all the pictures that don't bear the copyright statement, and
was Erdnase also an excellent mimic with the pen who drew the
remaining pictures and put his copyright claim on them?

Lance
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I know I'm late in the day commenting on this, but:

My ex-wife (artist) thought that there were three different styles of
illustrations in the book. (I mentioned this to Richard Hatch when I met him
in USA back in 1998/9.) The 'copyrighted' ones were possibly the originals
and the others 'style copies' of those, but by two different hands. (My ex
wife [Joyce] commented on the small detail; knuckles, creases etc.)

AND - I have a publishing theory (as I am a publisher): If the author(s)
wanted to be anonymous, why choose Erdnase which is obviously Andrews
spelt backward? Red herring!?

AND - How did he copyright it with a false name? The publisher AND the
printer must have known something about him...NO publisher would
publish a book by an unknown, for fear of 'breach of copyright.! Who paid
the bills? Where did invoices go to?

I THINK that the publisher (Drake) must have been in on it; some kind of
joke/scam? I, for one, would NEVER accept a manuscript from an
unknown! ALSO - who would Drake pay the royalties/one-off fee to?

If you really wanted to be 100% anonymous, you'd have to NOT
copyright/record it at all. And, you'd have to probably print it yourself!
Hmm! Brings be back to Drake & McKinney...It makes you think.

MY THEORY is that the book is a 'house' piece of work; possibly a joke to
get us all thinking! That, it did, alright...Yes, the revolutionary sleights are
different - but, anyone could (and they do) publish esoteric moves that are
never demonstrated in person.

TROUBLE is: If one scorns Erdnase, one gets vilified! Daft, really. People
only want to believe what they want to believe. This is why we still have
the Kennedy/Monroe stories/theories! How dull it would be if the TRUTH
was that Oswald really did do it!

The book is NOT (I've searched) recorded at Kew Gardens (holding



Stationers Hall material) in England, as also pointed out by the late Alan
Kennaugh. That, I think, was another red-herring.

I LIKE the book, but I don't think it was written by a mysterious genius;
certainly not Milton Andrews. I think it's a complete red-herring...designed
to accomplish EXACTLY what it has accomplished...

Any thoughts, anyone?

Paul Gordon

Richard Hatch | December 28th, 2004, 8:37 pm | link | filter

Originally posted by Paul Gordon:

I THINK that the publisher (Drake) must have been in on it; some
kind of joke/scam? I, for one, would NEVER accept a manuscript
from an unknown! ALSO - who would Drake pay the
royalties/one-off fee to?

Just to clarify a bibliographic point: The first edition (March 1902) was not
published by Drake, but--according to the title page--was "published by the
author" whoever he may have been. Drake did not begin selling first edition
copies until sometime in 1903 (at the reduced price of $1) and did not begin
to issue its own editions until 1905 (initially at 50 cents in hardback and 25
cents in paperback). According to a Leo Rullman article in the Sphinx circa
1928, Drake claimed it had purchased the reprint rights outright and had
never paid royalties nor had subsequent contact with the mysterious author.
Which is not to say that Frederick J. Drake might not have known who the
author was. He is, after all, the one who suggested to Sprong and/or Vernon
that they read "S. W. Erdnase" in reverse. Of course, the "Mr. Andrews"
Drake dealt with might not have been using his real name in his dealing
with Drake or the presumed original printer McKinney (who was also
selling copies of the book) or with Marshall D. Smith, the illustrator. Which
makes sense if he did indeed wish to remain anonymous. I personally don't
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think he did require or desire such anonymity, as if he did, putting the real
name "M. D. Smith" on the titlepage as illustrator, which added no value to
the book, would have to be seen as a huge risk to his anonymity. The fact
that it took more than 40 years for someone like Martin Gardner to think of
tracking down Smith is an accident of history. Anyone could easily have
done so early in 1902 and likely quickly tracked down the author based on
Smith fresh recollections of when and where they met, which bank the
check in payment for the illustrations was written on, the name he used, etc.

Steve V | December 28th, 2004, 8:41 pm | link | filter

I saw a show on PBS where they have 'History Detectives'. Call 'em up and
let them use their amazing resources to see what they can come up with. At
minimum it should be interesting.

Steve V

Brad Jeffers | December 28th, 2004, 11:59 pm | link | filter

If you really wanted to be 100% anonymous, you'd have to NOT
copyright/record it at all.

I don't think the author would have required or desired "100%" anonymity.
He simple didn't want his true name to appear on the cover of a book
dealing with advantage play - a book that would most likely be read by
people he had previously encountered, or may later encounter at the card
table.

In his dealings with Drake, Smith and others, he would have no need to use
a pseudonym.

MY THEORY is that the book is a 'house' piece of work; possibly a
joke to get us all thinking.

An interesting theory.
Absurd - but interesting.
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Jim Morton | December 29th, 2004, 8:13 am | link | filter

Originally posted by Steve V:

I saw a show on PBS where they have 'History Detectives'. Call
'em up and let them use their amazing resources to see what they
can come up with. At minimum it should be interesting.

Steve V

Steve, I was thinking exactly the same thing.

Has anyone has checked the copyright? (I apologize if this has already been
covered. This thread has gotten so substantial that I'm sure I've missed some
salient points along the way.) Anyone can put the word "copyright" on a
book. That doesn't mean that a copyright was ever actually filed.

Jim

Jim Maloney dupl | December 29th, 2004, 8:26 am | link | filter

Originally posted by Jim Morton:

Has anyone has checked the copyright? (I apologize if this has
already been covered. This thread has gotten so substantial that
I'm sure I've missed some salient points along the way.) Anyone
can put the word "copyright" on a book. That doesn't mean that a
copyright was ever actually filed.

All I could find when doing a quick search on the Copyright Office's
website was the claim for the 1995 Dover edition.

-Jim
Richard Hatch | December 30th, 2004, 8:51 pm | link | filter
Originally posted by Jim Morton:

Has anyone has checked the copyright? (I apologize if this has already
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been covered. This thread has gotten so substantial that I'm sure I've
missed some salient points along the way.) Anyone can put the word
"copyright" on a book. That doesn't mean that a copyright was ever
actually filed.

[/QB]

I believe this is covered earlier in the thread, so will just make a quick
resume here: The 4 page copyright application for the first edition was
received at the US Copyright Office in mid-February 1902. The copyright
holder is identified as the author, S. W. Erdnase, and his address is given c/o
James McKinney and Company, printers in Chicago at their business
address. The author's name is not identified as a pseudonym (it was not
required to be so identified). He is listed as being an American national.
Two deposit copies were received at the copyright office in early March (I
believe March 8th), 1902, so the book was off the presses and presumably
available for sale at that point. There was no recorded transfer or renewal of
copyright, so the book became public domain 28 years later in 1930. Those
who have checked in Canada and the UK have found no evidence that the
work was submitted for copyright protection in either nation, despite the
book's claims to have done so.

Richard Hatch | January 13th, 2005, 1:18 pm | link | filter

Jason England just snagged a hard to find edition of Erdnase on eBay.
Here's a link to it:

Card Secrets Exposed

This is one of several variants under this title published by Powner for K. C.
Card Company. This one has 206 pages, page 206 being Paul Fleming's
introduction to the Hoffmann section, even though that is omitted from this
edition. That would date this circa 1945. In TMWWE (pp. 336-338), Jeff
Busby refers to these variants, advertised by KC as early as 1939, as
"fictional," implying they never existed, an indication of their scarcity.

Guest | January 19th, 2005, 5:02 pm | link | filter
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There have been numerous attempts to identify mysteries surrounding the
book The Expert at the Card Table. Here are some personal observations on
one of the greatest books on sleight of hand ever written. Some who read
and post in this thread may find my observations of interest. I have some
clues from the book that I have not found put forth before. Some of you
may be able to expand on them.

The book was published in 1902. My opinion is that the work reflected in
the book more closely resembles the kind of table work seen in the era of
1875, possibly a decade before or after, but around that time.

To paint a picture of the 1870s, one would see the era of Butch Cassidy and
the Sundance Kid on the western side of the United States. This was the
time of Wyatt Earp and the gunfight at the O.K. Coral. Basically the only
areas where education was a standard was in the New York, Boston, and
Baltimore areas. Therefore, it is my assertion that the author came from one
of these areas or possibly Europe.

The author was very well educated. Some claim there was a ghostwriter.
Maybe, but if the book was written by the author, he was very well
educated. This may seem a bit in depth, but it is very important to the point
I am going to make later on. This person probably associated with people
much like himself- aristocrats. However, based on the book, I would say
that the author was playing with cowboys, miners, farmers, a bar crowd,
and prospectors- not people like himself. Again, these are some of the
observations I have made through the clues I am going to submit later. You
can take them for what they are worth.

M.D. Smith, the illustrator, recollected to Martin Gardener that the man he
met in the Chicago hotel room brought with him a board which to place on
his lap, and asked him to draw pictures from life. Other people suggested
that Erdnase might have been the inventor of the close-up mat. When M.D.
Smith illustrated, he didnt know what he was getting into, he just wanted to
do a good job for what he was being paid for. M.D. Smith said to Martin
Gardener that he recollected that he was asked to draw from life in a hotel
room. I disagree with this. I think the illustrations came from photographs.



Here is why- if you look at illustrations 5, 6, 8, 10, 13,44, 45, 56, 63, and
64, all have reflections. What I mean by this is that the hands were
performing maneuvers for the photographer above a varnished tabletop. If it
would have been a green board or mat, the illustrator would not have shown
as great of detail as to show reflection. My assertion is that the illustrator
drew based on photos of the operator working at a varnished type tabletop
from a saloon, and not the type of tabletop one would find at an aristocrat
hall or fancy banquet hotel.

The tabletops in saloons were fashioned to accommodate drinking.
Therefore, if beer was spilled, it could be easily wiped up. Aristocrat
society made their money in the hotels. The saloons encouraged an
atmosphere to have people drinking, playing pool, and card games.

This is why Erdnase did not go into great detail about working with the
riffle shuffle. Instead he worked with the working man overhand shuffle. On
a table without felt, the cards were difficult to pick up from the table to
utilize a riffle shuffle.

On page 24, Erdnase suggested that the best way to practice was to sit up
straight at a card table, adjacent to a mirror with cards in hand. Once again,
Erdnase mentions a card table. I would imagine that Erdnase was sitting at
the card table, not with a close-up mat, performing the manipulations for a
camera.

To be continued....
Stay tuned...

Guest | February 10th, 2005, 11:50 pm | link | filter

Amazing. I started this thread Feb. of 2003 and today, two years later, it is
still alive and kickin!

I have totally enjoyed reading all of the responses on this thread and reading
all of this great stuff rekindles the passion I have for this great book.
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Thank you and please, keep them coming!

Roberto

Richard Hatch | February 11th, 2005, 8:22 am | link | filter

Hi Roberto, thanks for starting this thread!

I'm currently (among other things!) trying to track the first identification of
S. W. Erdnase = E. S. Andrews, i.e., who recognized this first and got the
word out. I think most of us know of the Vernon story about learning from
his friend J. C. Sprong in Chicago that publisher Frederick J. Drake had told
Sprong the man's real name was Andrews. Vernon then pestered Drake to
reveal more, but Drake would only tell him to read the name backwards.
Versions of this are in both the Diaconis preface to REVELATIONS and
Vernon's Genii column. Vernon's personal questioning of Drake seems to
have been when Vernon was cutting silhouettes at the Chicago World's fair
in the early 1930s, but Sprong's interaction with Drake was likely earlier.
The bibliography in THE MAN WHO WAS ERDNASE says that Mickey
MacDougal's 1939 GAMBLER'S DON'T GAMBLE may have been the
first to publish the E. S. Andrews identification, but I have found three
earlier published references, all in THE SPHINX, all by bookseller Leo
Rullman. The earliest I have is November 1928. He does not annouce it as
though this is exciting news, so I assume it was not at the time, though it
seems surprising that Vernon would not have known about it, were that the
case, given his great interest in the book and its author.

Does anyone know of earlier references?

A 1962 issue of THE MAGICAL BOOKIE makes reference to a first
edition copy of Erdnase that has, "inscribed in longhand" on the second
flyleaf "S. W. Erdnse = E. S. Andrews". It seems doubtful that this is a copy
inscribed by the author, but I'd sure love to look at this copy! Anyone know
its present whereabouts?

Bill Mullins | February 11th, 2005, 2:14 pm | link | filter
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For what it's worth, the Chicago Daily Tribune reported between late Dec
1902 and Jan 1903 on the bankruptcy proceedings of one James McKinney.
I don't know if this is the printer, but since the date falls between the initial
release under the imprint of McKinney and subsequent sales by Drake, this
may be relevant.

I've got enough info that someone who knows how to work the archives of
the Chicago/Cook County court system could pull the file, probably.

Also, Todd Karr's article of last November mentioned a Mr. Andrews who
scammed while working for the Charles Branden Commercial Co. I've
found another article where they were at work, in the Jan 31 1903
Davenport Iowa Daily Republican. Andrews is not mentioned in this one,
but it is the same company, again up to no good.

The CBC was incorporated in Illinois on Dec 19, 1905. The Secretary of
State of Illinois may have info from this act.

Richard Hatch | February 11th, 2005, 9:05 pm | link | filter

Bill, great work! I think if you'll recheck the January 1903 Davenport
reference that you kindly shared with me, you'll note that "Andrews" is
mentioned and was, in fact, arrested there as well, though presumably
released rather than held for trial, based on the report. But that may still
yield an arrest record with more information on him...

The James McKinney in the bankruptcy petition of January 30th, 1903 is
the printer, as his address is given as 73 Plymouth Place in Chicago, which
was McKinney's address and the address used by Erdnase in registering the
copyring in care of James McKinney. According to the bankruptcy petition,
"an inventory of the property" was available for inspection. I wonder if such
a document might still exist? It would be interesting to see if the inventory
included copies of Erdnase (and how many!) and who bought the assets. It
may not be a coincidence that the price of the book was dropped from $2 to
$1 the following month and that Frederick J. Drake began advertising first
edition copies later in 1903. (Drake's own earliest known printing is dated


https://forums.geniimagazine.com/memberlist.php?mode=viewprofile&u=181
https://forums.geniimagazine.com/viewtopic.php?p=12707#p12707

1905 and was supposedly made from the original first edition plates).
Anyone in Chicago who can track down the court records?

Todd Karr | February 12th, 2005, 7:44 am | link | filter

Bill: Many thanks for digging up this additional information on the Brandon
Company scams!

Guest | February 15th, 2005, 9:58 pm | link | filter

I find all this history of who Erdnase was fasinating and respect the guys
doing the detective work as much as I respect Erdnase himself.

To me, even considering where to start is very daunting and way beyond my
abilities, I take my hat off to you all and thank you for sharing your
thoughts and findings.

while I do find this side of the book interesting and I am fasnated how it
came to exist, to me it remaims secondary to the material itself.

For these reasons I am afraid I can offer nothing to the search. I would
however like to argue (in a friendly way) Glenn Bishops claims about the
twelve card (fancy) stock being something that would never be used by a
card cheat.

"As with his twelve card stock or fancy stock. It makes a great
demonstration of fake card cheating but no real card cheat would ever cheat
like that."

Glenn Bishop.
The variable number stock (titled twelve card stock for illastrive purposes)

is very useful, how it is used and why it is wrote up like it is must be
understod before a quote such as the one above is thrown out.
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We term this example a fancy stock, as it is very rarely that an opertunity
occurs for selecting three sets of Four of a Kind; but the procedure is the
same for two sets, or for sets of three, or pairs, or, infact, for the stocking of
any number of kind, with sleight variation in the calculation.

Erdnase.

It is in the description of this stock that Erdnase takes the student away
from the mimicking of taught examples and into the understanding of the
procedure that is necessary for a card player to use it to full advantage.

It's not just a fake useless procedure used to accomlish this teaching though.
If we look at the idea of using this stock with sets of three or two cards (or
combinations of four's, three's and/or two's) we can see that the description
of obtaining four is needed to gain the necessary understanding.

The sleight variation in the handling mentioned in the text is basic and is
the first step to understanding the shuffle.

If using the shuffle to have three cards fall to the dealer (with three sets of
three on top) the nine cards being run at the very start are changed to seven
and the rest of the shuffle may be done the same. This means that the first
card of the three will fall to the dealers hand on the third round rather than
the second as with the four card version.

If using the shuffle to have two cards fall to the dealer (with three sets of
two on top) the nine cards being run originally are changed to five, this
means that the first card of the two will fall to the dealers hand on the fourth
round rather than the second as with the four card version or the third round
with three.

Thus; the shuffle can then be seen instantly as very useful to the true card
cheat. He gets his cards and has knowlwege of plenty of the top cards (eight
in the example in the book) after the deal and going into the draw without
any need for markings or for glimpsing anything.



I'm sure the multiple possibilites of gaining this knowlege before and while
getting involved in the draw can be seen from here.

Aspects such as; Erdnase's like of decks with no work put in, his dislike of
cold decking, every single word of the stock and cull shuffling, the
wonderful palms that were designed to work specifically following an
overhand shuffle and with the purpose of holding out for the cut, and his
understanding of just how useful the bottom deal is that make me believe
strongly that Erdnase was nothing other than a card cheat of the highest
order.

David.

Tommy | March 2nd, 2005, 8:04 pm | link | filter

Coterie.

This might be pure coincidence but I just wonder if this Coterie of
confidence men and Exclusive Coterie is connected in some way. The use
of this word Coterie which is not a word I read often and the connection
with card cheating seems interesting, so thought I would put it up.

Denver Times July 14, 1901

BLONGER IN A STEW

Crack Bunco Man Will Be Rearrested Tomorrow.

HE WORKED A BRITISHER

But the Traveler Had "Brawses" on His Trunk and Sped Along After
Blonger Had Been Made to Cough Up.

A new complaint will be filed tomorrow by the district attorney against Lou
Blonger, the head of a coterie of confidence [men?]. Blonger was arrested
last week on a complaint signed by George Ritter, who charged him with
enticing him into a brace poker game and swindling him out of $300.
Justice Rice was aroused from his slumbers at 2 o'clock by Ritter and an
officer, and a warrant secured for Blonger.
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Cooper

Bill Mullins | March 4th, 2005, 8:23 pm | link | filter

Probably just a coincidence. "Coterie" is a word which, while not obsolete,
has fallen from favor over the last hundred years.

Richard Hatch | March 4th, 2005, 10:09 pm | link | filter

A painting by Marshall D. Smith, illustrator of THE EXPERT, sold at
auction today and can be viewed here:
Marshall D. Smith Painting

Tommy | March 5th, 2005, 5:49 am | link | filter

Mr Hatch it seems from this that Marshall Smith is more well known to
magicians than the Art World, they do not deem it worth a mention that
Marshall Smith was the illustrator of the of the Erdnase book or are
unaware of this fact. I do not know if this interests you but it seems they are
looking for help for his biography. See below:

http://www.askart.com/adopt.asp

These Notes from AskART represent the beginning of a possible future
biography for this artist. Please click here if you wish to help in its
development:

A Chicago and New Orleans painter known for street scenes, Marshall

Smith exhibited in the 1930s at the Art Institute of Chicago. He was also a
WPA artist.

Richard Lane | April 3rd, 2005, 6:07 pm | link | filter

In the interest of completeness:
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The Charles Branden Commercial Co. is not mentioned in any volume of
the Marvyn Scudder Manual of Extinct or Obsolete Companies, or the
Robert D. Fisher Manual of Valuable and Worthless Securities.

Did anyone chase down the certificate of incorporation from the Illinois
vaults?

Richard Hatch | April 4th, 2005, 4:14 pm | link | filter

Another book illustrated by Marshall D. Smith is currently on eBay. It is
missing a page, but I assume all the Smith illustrations are there. Here's a
link:

Marshall D Smith illustrated book on eBay

Richard Hatch | April 25th, 2005, 5:58 am | link | filter

Here's another book illustrated by Marshall D. Smith on eBay, showing
some of his illustrations:

Jack Henderson Down South on eBay

Warning: The cover illustration (by Smith) is no longer "politically correct"
and might be offensive to some. Perhaps that is also why it is fetching such
a high price, with reserve not yet met!

Richard Hatch | May 14th, 2005, 5:37 pm | link | filter

Here's another painting attributed to Marshall D. Smith being auctioned off
tomorrow in Oak Park, Illinois:

Marshall D Smith Painting

Opening bid of just $200...

Bill Mullins | May 16th, 2005, 8:15 am | link | filter

It looks like the Smith painting only brought $225.
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Brian Marks | May 16th, 2005, 5:37 pm | link | filter

Eardnase, so who is he?

Jonathan Townsend | May 17th, 2005, 4:53 am | link | filter

Originally posted by Brian Marks:
Eardnase, so who is he?

That would be Lobe Eardnase, a cousin of the illustrious author of Expert at
the Card Table.

El Mystico | May 17th, 2005, 9:35 am | link | filter

Author of "Expert at the Ear Surgeon's table"

Guest | June 1st, 2005, 1:06 am | Link | filter

Would it please be possible for someone to briefly rattle out the names of
those already under the Erdnase spotlight? Ie who's already been looked at?

I have a name that so far fits the bill; dates, place, and he has a strong
literary background. Like the aforementioned Andrews in this post
however, no pack of cards found yet. Would really appreciate knowing if
he's been targeted yet and/or dismissed as nothing.

Thank you.

Guest | June 1st, 2005, 4:04 am | link | filter

Hello everyone, I've thoroughly enjoyed reading this topic thus far, and I'd
like to add my thoughts:

I had the honor of meeting with Darwin Ortiz the day before yesterday and
we had an interesting discussion about who Erdnase was. He informed me
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that the Chicago bank that issued M.D. Smith's check (for payment of the
illustrations) was later bought out by a larger bank which today still
maintains account information from 1902. The source that gave Ortiz this
information, which he did not disclose to me, has not contacted Darwin
with follow up information. Only a few legal formalities needed to take
place before the account information could be given out, but that's the last
Ortiz heard of the investigation.

I shared my theory to Darwin about Theodore Hardison possibly being
Erdnase. The fact that Hardison's manuscript "Poker" directly plagiarises
phrases and illustrations from Expert at the Card Table is not my sole
reason for this belief. "Poker" was self published by Hardison in 1914,
around the time Erdnase couldn't be contacted anymore for his payments. (I
believe Drake accepted payments at this point, but if you read this entire
thread, I'm sure you'll discover who exactly pocketed the rest of the profits)
Hardison added the spread, the strike second, and the greek deal, which
many (including Vernon) suspect was purposely left out of Expert for
certain reasons. | believe "Poker" was written partially as a sequel: another
attempt to disclose the same information and make more money.

If "Poker" is read with the mindset of the author writing a sequel, and who
thought he was treated unfairly in the profits of his first book, the text takes
a new meaning:

"as the novice begins his career in the game, and is fortunite enough to
enjoy a few good winnings, his natural ambition, as it is with all "Young
America' is to go higher"

-Theodore Hardison

Also I think it 1s interesting to note that the letters E-R-D-N-A-S-E can be
found in the name "Theodore Hardison", which both I and Darwin believe
to be a pseudonym.

be well,
Jeff Wessmiller



P.S This is merely a theory that I've dreamt up. Anyone that can provide
information that would prove me wrong would be appreciated, and
probably help me sleep better at night.

Guest | June 1st, 2005, 4:51 am | link | filter

Hi Jeff great to read more from you - hope you're in good health + whatnot.
(Might make it down in August after all!)

I can't confess to having read Hardison's publication, and I must apologise
for the following, only adding to more brainfood at night, but there are a
number of inconsistencies:

Granted, the letters exist within his name, though as do T-H-O-D-O-H-R-I,
with no apparent reason for them being left out. Does anyone here share the
view that often the NAME is overstudied and analysed? It presumably
wasn't meant as a puzzle/pseudo/century-long-brain-itch but rather a way to
slyly take the heat off his real name (for his safety) without going crazy into
word-games. Reversing a name seems pretty logical, certainly if it works
and reads as well as "Erdnase" and not ... Zitro (actually pretty neat :D ),
Etrof, or what have you. Who spends such time and effort to write such a
beautiful piece of work, only to then use a name that is in no way related?
No doubt he'd brag about the book and show it to some close ones - he must
have had some friends.

The fact that E.S.Andrews fits perfectly is often viewed as though it doesn't
matter - like Gardner with M.F.Andrews - what's the point in assuming it's
Andrews if you're going to ignore E and S and substitute two different
ones?? There are several hundred E.S.Andrews available on online census
records, each of them surely deserving more credit and time (since they
match perfectly what we're looking for - the NAME) than names that
simply contain SOME letters that match? This is no disrespect but it just
beats me why people don't take such a solid lead more seriously.

Furthermore - why would Hardison write one book under a pseudo, only
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then to write a "sequel" under his real name, claiming no credit to the
original? Could the paraphrasing not be simply because EATCT was a well-
read book at the time with solid well-written material? Much as works
published today cross-reference and quote from other writers' works?

Again, would appreciate thoughts on the "making money" comment since (I
believe touched on earlier) is spending months writing a book really the
best way to make money? Surely a man of his talent, requiring money,
could find faster more effective methods?

None of this, again, is meant as disrespectful or hole-picking, just further
angles on what we have. I'm awaiting replies from the people in the US I've
contacted regarding the name I mentioned above - a little more information
this way and I'll post it all up for public viewing here.

Nothing for certain by any means, but the name, place and date all fit
pretty snug.

In thought,
D.

Guest | June 1st, 2005, 5:13 am | link | filter

(PS the info is: E.S.Andrews (have precise forenames), born within 5 years
of 1850 (have precise date), worked in NC* (have precise town) at about
the turn of the century, and worked for a newspaper, rather high-up the
pecking order).

*EDIT: Please forgive ignorant Brit - misread somewhere & was of the
angle that Chicago was within NC. :whack: Still, he could've travelled...

Guest | June 1st, 2005, 7:14 am | link | filter

Hi Drum (DMC), tried e-mailing you, but the e-mail address in your profile
ain't working.
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We never did meet up.....

Dave

Guest | June 1st, 2005, 8:04 am | link | filter

Hey Dave -

You know was reading an email yesterday + meant to write...! <<Diluting
interesting topic>> It's Drummond(REMOVE)Magic@ Yahoo.co.uk.
Travelling in Asia until August but definitely when back.

Guest | June 1st, 2005, 8:45 pm | link | filter

More information as of this morning - he was at age 27 a PRINTER. If he
wanted to jump around legalities without leaving a trace, this might well
allow for it. Mmmm it deepens.

Bill Mullins | June 5th, 2005, 5:46 pm | link | filter

From the "Daily Knave" column in the _Oakland Tribune_, 5 Sept 1956, p.
E-29.

"S. W. Erdnase was for half a century a name to conjure with. Since the
1902 publication of The Expert at the Card Table dozens of persons have
attempted to penetrate the psuedonym which cloaked the identity of the
author of this famous book which outlined the methods of professional
gamblers.

It was not difficult to conclude that his name was Andrewsbut what was the
given name? Who was he?

For 50 years Erdnase' Chicago publisher was plagued with inquiries, but
always professed that his records failed to reveal the author's true identity.
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Erdnase' book was, when published, a sensation among the ace-in-the-hole
boys; and it has remained one of the great textbooks for gamblers and
sleight-of-handsters. It was the first textbook to reveal the best methods of
the second deal, the shift, the bottom deal, false cuts, and other subterfuges
of the card cheats.

What was more important, the book was written with a curiously detached
cynicism, rather well pointed up by the author's prefatory remarks.

In effect, Erdnase counseled that card cheats cheated no one but themselves.

He contended that the passion for play had seduced many a man who, had
he spent the same wit and energy in earning an honest living, could have
amassed a considerable fortune.

He had not written his book, he noted, for moralistic reasons. His book,
"will not make the innocent vicious, or transform the pastime player into a
professional; or make the fool wise or curtail the annual crop of suckers; but
whatever the results may be, if it sells it will accomplish the primary motive
of the author, as he needs the money."

Now, after half a century, it is claimed that Erdnase' identity has been
learned.

His name is said to have been Milton C. Andrews, and he is thought to be
buried in San Mateo County. Paradoxically, the disclosure has been made
not through the efforts of his compatriots, the gamblers, but by two sleight-
of-hand experts, Martin Gardner and Jay Marshall - to whom, cheating at
cards is absolutely unthinkable."

From the same column, one week later (p. E-21)

"After 50 years, the story of the man who wrote The Expert at the Card
Table is being pieced together, little by little.



"There was a Milton C. Andrews," writes An Old-Time Oaklander, "who
was in the public prints around 1907. He was a proiessional gambler and
super-crook, who gained the friendship of one Ellis, an Australian jockey
on a voyage from Australia to San Francisco.

"Ellis had considerable coin of the realm which Andrews knew about. On
arrival Andrews invited Ellis to his apartment in Berkeley where he beat
him up and left him for dead; but Ellis recovered and later Andrews was
traced by reason of the fact that he ate only health foods and was captured
at a health food store in San Francisco." "

Pete Biro | June 5th, 2005, 6:57 pm | link | filter

My memory tells me that the Daily Knave in the Oakland Tribune was
written by Fred Braue.

Braue was also using the pseudonym "Aunt Elsie" as he edited the
children's page.

Before I was into magic I won a contest run by the Oakland Tribune and
when I called and asked for "Aunt Elsie" a man answered, explaining that

was a pseudonym and he was the editor, a Mr. Braue.

Small World, eh?

Bill Mullins | June 7th, 2005, 7:19 am | link | filter

Did Braue have anything to do with Real Estate? There is a column in the
Oakland Tribune called "Realty Review" written by him.

Pete Biro | June 7th, 2005, 9:34 am | link | filter

NOt that I know of... but you don't have to be "in" something to write about
it... just be a good researcher and writer. Which Braue seems to have been.
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Bob Farmer | June 7th, 2005, 1:00 pm | link | filter

According to an article which appeared in the Oakland paper, Braue did
write real estate and business columns.

Richard Hatch | July 3rd, 2005, 8:05 pm | link | filter

I realize this might more properly belong in the marketplace section, but
frankly I thought this thread needed "bumping up" so am mentioning it here
instead! I've just posted a copy of Martin Gardner's THE GARDNER-
SMITH CORRESPONDENCE on eBay. This documents Gardner's first
contact with Marshall D. Smith, Erdnase's illustrator, reproduces his notes
from his initial interview with Smith, and their subsequent correspondence
on this topic. It was a reading of this correspondence that lead me initially
to question the Milton Franklin Andrews' theory, since Smith's eyewitness
testimony, if credible, seemed to contradict that theory on several points
(most notably MFA's age and height). Anyone interested in this topic
should begin by reading Bart Whaley, Jeff Busby, and Martin Gardner's
MAN WHO WAS ERDNASE, then follow up by reading Ortiz's
ANNOTATED ERDNASE (which reproduces the Gardner-Pratt
correspondence) and this booklet. Limited to only 250 numbered copies and
published in 1999 (to preserve the correspondence and publicize our sale of
the original letters on eBay. It, along with Gardner's first edition EXPERT,
signed on the title page by Smith, sold as a lot for more than $10,000 in
early 2000), it recently went out of print and is starting to fetch high prices
on eBay (about a week ago a copy sold there for $41). I've bundled this
copy (#207) to a pristine copy of the K. C. Card Company edition of THE
EXPERT, likely printed for KC by Frost Publishing in Chicago in the late
1930s (see listing for more bibliographic details). Here's a link to the
auction for those wanting more details:

Gardner-Smith Correspondence on eBay

Glenn Bishop | July 6th, 2005, 11:04 am | link | filter
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Originally posted by david walsh:

For these reasons I am afraid I can offer nothing to the search. I would
however like to argue (in a friendly way) Glenn Bishops claims about
the twelve card (fancy) stock being something that would never be
used by a card cheat.

"As with his twelve card stock or fancy stock. It makes a great
demonstration of fake card cheating but no real card cheat would ever
cheat like that."

Aspects such as; Erdnase's like of decks with no work put in, his
dislike of cold decking, every single word of the stock and cull
shuffling, the wonderful palms that were designed to work specifically
following an overhand shuffle and with the purpose of holding out for
the cut, and his understanding of just how useful the bottom deal is
that make me believe strongly that Erdnase was nothing other than a
card cheat of the highest order.

David. [/QB]

To use the twelve card fancy stock in a five handed game of poker by a card
cheat would involve getting four sets of three of a kind in order - at total of
a twelve cards in order and controlling them as a slug - then getting the
winning hand on the bottom - and doing some kind of a stocking of the
wining hand on the bottom.

Then deal out the cards having the dealer or the shark get the winning hand
leaving the slug of twelve cards in sets of threes to be dealt on the draw.
While a card game was in play!

I don't know but wouldn't easier if Erdnase just added the winning hand to
the slug that was dealt on the draw - and use the false shuffle and false deals
to keep control and deal the cards of choice on the draw? - If it were a real
game!

Having the slug going from the lowest set of three of a kind to the highest



would give Erdnase the strongest hand after the draw.

Also I do not feel that culling 3-4 sets of three of a kind while a game is in
play is an easy thing to do for the lone poker cheat. This is why I feel that
Erdnase was a magician - because the twelve card stock makes a great
demonstration - and would sell his book. But to use it in a card game - there
are better and easier methods for a card cheat to use to set up a cooler on a
mark!

A cold deck - if he wanted this choice of hands as the cooler?

Now if Erdnase could do this and what you say. Why did he NEED the
money?

Guest | July 9th, 2005, 4:39 pm | link | filter

Hi Glenn,

Its hard to tell but I think you may misunderstand the description of the
stock in the book. Before I go into why, part of what makes me believe
Erdnase was a cheat from reading this move in particular is in the following
phrase:

"We term this example a fancy stock, as it is very rarely that an opportunity
occurs for selecting three sets of Four of a Kind; but the procedure is the
same for two sets, or for sets of three, or pairs, or, infact, for the stocking of
any number of kind, with sleight variation in the calculation."

In this I see the point being made that the opportunity to obtain this four of
a kind being rare, but more so that he knows that the opportunity to do
anything with it is also a rare event. On the surface I can see why someone
would think that the move (if used directly as the example Erdnase uses to
teach the move) would only be of use for a show of skill.

Erdnase says that he knows the event occurring to be in a position to do this
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is rare, he knows from card playing experience that getting three sets of
four of a kind in order to the top of the deck isnt an easy feat. From his
words about the procedure being done with lesser amounts of cards of kind
I also believe he knew that being in the event to use such a thing is also
rare.

The following is partly why Im not sure you are getting the text right:

Its in your mention of the bottom of the deck in your last post; the bottom
of the deck never comes into play.

For a moment I11 hypothetically assume it is to be done with three sets of
four of a kind in the desired order and for five players, Ill also
hypothetically assume they have been culled to the top in the desired
position.

There is no need to get the winning hand (or any known cards) to the
bottom, the idea is that all three sets of four sit on top of the deck, they are
stocked in relation to the top and the winning hand is dealt to the dealer
leaving the other two sets of four as the new top cards of the deck ready to
do as the dealer pleases on the draw.

To take the move further than the books example; and Erdnase clearly knew
this was possible. It would take a book of its own to cover the true
possibilities of his stock shuffle:

To use the twelve card fancy stock in a five handed game (or any handed
game) doesnt necessarily mean culling (by whatever means) three sets of
four of a kind to the top, there are many variations of sets of four, three,
two, sets of three and two or even a large stock of no particular numbered
sets.

This will come clearer as you read but the reason being is that the sets of
two, three or four dont even have to be of kind.

Imagine you gathered the cards ready for the deal memorising the order of



the top eight cards of the deck.

You do the twelve card fancy stock and deal, you know none of the cards in
the other players hands or in your own hand (until you look of course) but
you do know the top eight cards of the deck before you go into the draw.

Many a successful card cheat has ruled out the need to stock and this is
partly due to the need to cull ready to stock. They may use marked cards
(edgework, pegs etc.) or glimpses to get the information thy need and that
this stock offers. So this stock used like I said above then offers this
information with no need to glimpse and with no work in the deck.

Playing regularly, with no mechanics other than this shuffle, offers a
massive advantage that couldnt be beaten by straight play. If you add a
second deal or if you were to add a cull it can of course be more powerful.
Im sure the second deal speaks for itself, as for the cull, and for illustration
purposes:

You cull four aces and have them as the lowest set of four in the twelve, the
top two sets of four are just sets of four for the purpose of describing the
move. They are in-fact eight totally random cards, these you memorise as in
the previous example. You do the twelve card fancy stock getting four aces
on the deal and also knowing the first eight cards going into the draw.

A card player reading the description of this stock can instantly see this
advantage and can instantly see that the three sets of four is just the surface.
Im pretty sure Erdnase (as a card player) would have known this when
writing it.

Of course, if you are playing at a game where you can get away with
dealing yourself four aces there is little need to know the draw cards. As
Erdnase did with the stock in his book, I have only used it to illustrate the
procedure.

The example before that one was of course one of actual use, as is the
above one but with different cards, perhaps like the following:



On gathering the cards you see a five of hearts, a six of clubs and a seven of
spades, all sitting nicely beside each other. Within the distance of the next
nine cards is a four of clubs and an eight of diamonds (not necessarily
beside each other), you just have to position the three beside each other to
be part of the lowest set of four and remember the positions of the other two
that lie within nine cards (above) and shuffle as though you are stocking
twelve for three sets of four (or three sets of three if they are within six
cards) and you get your five, six, seven on the deal and know the positions
from the top of the deck for the other two cards of your straight.

As for a cold deck being a better and easier move, it certainly isnt better and
Erdnase states quite clearly his thoughts on that and the easier issue:

Of course an exchange may be made by sleight-of-hand, but the player who
can accomplish this feat successfully is generally well versed in the higher
orders of card-table artifice, and will dispense with such make-shifts as cold
decks or any kind of prepared cards.

I agree with him.

If you read through the description again you will also find that there isnt
really any mention of setting up a cooler on a mark. The closest that comes
to it is:

If the dealers set is the highest of the three it matters little to him how the
draw i1s made, as none of the players can get a higher hand.

All it really says is that its a stock to get the dealers hand to the dealer and
the other cards on top of the deck for the draw to do as suits the situation
best.

I can easily see that with the mention of three sets of four of a kind at the
start, and then with this statement at the end it could look to some that
perhaps it is a shuffle to deal three people all four of a kinds or something
similar.



As with the book itself; it is way deeper than just that, part of the beauty of
every aspect of this book is what lies beneath its surface.

As for Erdnase needing the money, I dont particularly take this seriously. It
could be a sarcastic joke or something as mentioned by some. I even
remember once when I started to write a book, the amount of money I
thought to be involved was massive compared to what I later found out to
be the reality, it was a gradual decrease of expectation along the years of
writing.

I dont think the statement can be one to be taken as proof that he wasnt a
cheat.

Anyway, I think the devil wrote it, he must still be making money off it.

David.

Larry Horowitz | July 10th, 2005, 3:38 pm | link | filter

O K. Here is an odd thought, I really don't know if it warrents any merit.....

It has always been thought that the writing style and vocabulary used by the
author has denoted an education and possibly finer upbringing. Yet, all
gambling references in the book refer to Poker. I believe at the turn of the
century Poker would have been considered a low-brow game.

Does it signify anything that there is no reference to cheating at Gin,
Bridge, Pinnochle or any other game played with "x" dollars per point?
Certainly, there are known stories of cardsharp's working the cruise ships
traversing the Atlantic.

Guest | July 10th, 2005, 5:20 pm | link | filter
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Hi Darren,

Dai Vernon has been noted for saying that it's all there in black and white. I
don't know to what extent he took this, I'm sure some of the older members
here who knew or met him would know more about his thoughts here.

There is the odd mistake that comes clear the more the book is studied, but
other than that; when I read the book I see everything to be there in black
and white. But with a book that (to me) has obviously been wrote by
someone who practiced what he preached there has to be under the surface
information, it can't not be there.

It would be impossile for an author of this work to put everything he knew
about everything included on paper, especially when it comes to moves
such as the cull and stock shuffles.

While I can see Dai Vernon's thinking behind it all being there; I can also
see that it's only so much of what the author knew that is there. While
reading between the lines may not be neccessary to learn the moves, it can
certainly offer a fuller understanding of what is going on.

I suppose there are no two people the same, and different people will see
different parts of any quality text in a different clearness, perhaps Dai
Vernon just seen this stuff clearer than anyone else, and that wouldn't be
surprising.

From any level; I believe the book deserves a massive respect and thought
i1s well worth putting into it, so I do both.

Larry, at the turn of the century I have no idea what poker would have been
considered as, either over here or in the States. Sorry to jump in and reply to
your thought without knowing, perhaps if what you say is true there could
be something in it.

First I have to add somehting here. The book really does reek of poker and
draw poker at that. It can clearly be seen that the thinking behind the



majority of the book is tackling problems that occur in draw. The cut and
the draw have been thought out massively by whoever wrote this book.

It is't the only game mentioned in the book though.

There is mention of Whist, Hearts, Poker, Cribbage, Euchre, Coon Can,
Penukle, All Fours, Piquet and Euchre.

Back to your thought; as I said, I have no idea of how poker was looked
apon at the time, the book is obviously not a quick throw together of moves
worked out for the latest fad game though. We have read here that the book
may have been written long before being published. Whether it was or not;
the moves were definately not freshly thrown together for a quick
publication.

Perhaps you are right and draw poker was becoming low brow, maybe if
this wasn't the case the book wouldn't have been published at that time.

I don't have a clue really, I was just interested in the possiblity when I read
your thought. Hopefully someone here knows more about the history of the

game and can help out.

David.

Richard Hatch | July 10th, 2005, 5:47 pm | link | filter

Originally posted by Larry Horowitz:

Yet, all gambling references in the book refer to Poker. I believe at
the turn of the century Poker would have been considered a low-
brow game.

Does it signify anything that there is no reference to cheating at
Gin, Bridge, Pinnochle or any other game played with "x" dollars
per point?
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Poker is referenced only four times (on pages 9, 70 and 115), and relatively
in passing, whereas Euchre is more prominently featured (also mentioned
four times, if one does not count the two section headings and the two table
of contents reiterations). And the only game I know of that the author
explicity admits to having played is Cassino (p.p. 116-117), at which he
sheepishly admits to having had a "protracted run of 'hard luck'" which he
only later learned was due to a "short deck." In addition to the games
mentioned in the text as cited above by David Walsh (Whist, Hearts, Poker,
Cribbage, Coon Can, Penukle, All Fours, Piquet and Euchre) the author
mentions Faro three times on page 18 (though his earlier reference on page
14 to having "bucked the tiger voluntarily" is almost certainly an admission
to having played that game as well) and, perhaps most famously, an entire
section is devoted to three card monte, though that is hardly a real game!

I do think it 1s instructive to examine the games mentioned and what they
might tell us about the author. Some (Gazzo, for example) have attempted
to use them to date the original manuscript (when were the games cited
popular?) and perhaps fix the age of the author, but I am not aware of much
success in that direction. I also think the writing style ought to tell us much
about the author: the kind of works he read, perhaps his academic history
and background. But I am not personally able to do much with that kind of
literary "profiling." Although many have assumed that the style pre-
supposes a higher education, I would point out that many fine writers of the
period did not have such a background, Mark Twain being a prime example.

Guest | July 10th, 2005, 6:34 pm | link | filter

There certainly is mention of many games in there, and I know no gamblers
who know and play only a single game.

But even without specific mention of name I also see a massive draw poker
influence in the work, but it could just be that out of all the games

mentioned I only know that and hearts.

David.
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Larry Horowitz | July 10th, 2005, 7:43 pm | link | filter

It would appear that I am mistaken. Once again I shall read the book,(for
the umpteenth time), and pay a little more attention.

David Alexander | July 10th, 2005, 9:01 pm | link | filter

Larry wrote:O.K. Here is an odd thought, I really don't know if it warrents
any merit.....

It has always been thought that the writing style and vocabulary used by the
author has denoted an education and possibly finer upbringing. Yet, all
gambling references in the book refer to Poker. I believe at the turn of the
century Poker would have been considered a low-brow game.

Larry,

I wrote an 8,000 word article, the cover story of the January 2000 Genii that
profiles a candidate for the identity of Erdnase that takes this aspect into
account in the creation of a profile. Clearly, the writer was university
educated. He was also skilled in solving problems and articulating his
solutions in writing, something that does not come easily or quickly, but
with experience and practice.

While Mark Twain was a "fine writer," his was not the style of a university-
educated writer. His was the style of a popular writer who learned his craft
writing for newspapers of the day.

David Alexander

Richard Hatch | July 10th, 2005, 11:18 pm | link | filter

Originally posted by David Alexander:
Clearly, the writer was university educated.


https://forums.geniimagazine.com/memberlist.php?mode=viewprofile&u=76
https://forums.geniimagazine.com/viewtopic.php?p=12741#p12741
https://forums.geniimagazine.com/memberlist.php?mode=viewprofile&u=136
https://forums.geniimagazine.com/viewtopic.php?p=12742#p12742
https://forums.geniimagazine.com/memberlist.php?mode=viewprofile&u=181
https://forums.geniimagazine.com/viewtopic.php?p=12743#p12743

I'm probably naive in thinking that such literary profiling is not as scientific
as DNNA matching. It seems to me that such profiling is, at best, probablistic
in nature, with the degree of probability unspecified ("Clearly" implies
100% certainty on this issue). Perhaps Mark Twain was not the best
example, but there are many others. Joseph Conrad wrote in a very dense
prose style without benefit of a college education and English was not his
first or even his second language. Herman Melville left school at age 12 and
certainly wrote sophisticated American prose. My point is simply that I do
not believe we can know with certainty that the mysterious author "S. W.
Erdnase" necessarily attended college. One might argue that it is likely, but
to say that it is "certain" likely excludes some interesting candidates,
including possibly the actual author.

I highly recommend David's excellent GENII article to anyone interested in
this topic, but I don't think that the profile developed there must be accepted
uncritically. Here's an example of how I believe the profiling is based on
probabilities rather than certainty: In that article, David argues that the
author is college educated and therefore from a well-to-do family and
therefore a Northerner, since the wealth of the South was destroyed during
the Civil war. I apologize if I have oversimplified the argument, but I think
that is essentially what is stated (please correct me if I am wrong!). If we
turn that logic around, it implies that no one from the South went to college
for several generations, which I find very hard to believe.

Certainly one is more likely to sound college educated if one actually has
the benefit of such an education, but I think we all know people who sound
better educated than they are and others who sound less sophisticated than
their backgrounds would suggest. Con men, in particular (and I am not
suggesting that the author necessarily was a con man!), are often able to
pass themselves off as doctors, lawyers, even judges and surgeons, without
any formal higher education at all (Frank Abagnale, of CATCH ME IF
YOU CAN, being a recent example of the type). Personally, I find such
profiling fascinating and a useful guide, but I do not yet find it compelling.
In this specific case, I think it is not a question of whether the author was
"well educated" (I would characterize all the authors cited as being "well
educated", in my opinion), but how he came by that education: was he self
taught, as the majority of his generation were, or did he have benefit of
higher institutional education? I consider it still an "open" question. And



though it is not likely entirely relevant here, I'm reminded of a quote
attributed to Mark Twain:
"I have never let my schooling interfere with my education."

Pete Biro | July 11th, 2005, 9:05 am | link | filter

Perhaps S.W. wrote poorly but had an educated feller setting the type and
editing? :)

Jonathan Townsend | July 11th, 2005, 9:32 am | link | filter

Originally posted by Pete Biro:
Perhaps S.W. wrote poorly but had an educated feller setting the
type and editing? :)

Pete, that approach makes more sense than searching for a single author for
the text. Houdini and Downs were not the best of writers, yet who they
were does come across in what is known of their writing. Likewise we have
some of Karl Germain's words in longhand to consider.

I hold that "ERDNASE" is a composite work, with at least two components
and perhaps more than a few hands in the writing. In some ways I find the
work analogous to Mary Shelly's Frankenstein where the author purports to
one agenda and identity ...

With a nod to Mr. Hatch above, I'd be surprised if a textual analysis could

produce anything close to DNA type match/mismatch results with similar
confidence levels.

Glenn Bishop | July 11th, 2005, 9:51 am | link | filter

Originally posted by david walsh:
Hi Glenn,

Its hard to tell but I think you may misunderstand the description
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of the stock in the book.

The following is partly why Im not sure you are getting the text
right:

This will come clearer as you read but the reason being is that the
sets of two, three or four dont even have to be of kind.
David.

First of all it is wrong to make these above assumptions about the text in
Erdnase. Not only do I find it insulting but I also find it very closed minded.
Have you ever used this 12 card fancy stock on a real game of cards? Have
you ever played cards like draw poker or five card stud?

I don't claim to be an expert at cards or magic.

But you might try and set up a safe game and try out the moves as I have.
Because this is how I came to this idea toward the 12 card fancy stock in
Erdnase. I still think it makes a great demonstration to sell the book. But I
do not see Erdnase or any card shark using the 12 card fancy stock in any
real game of cards. As with many moves in this book.

And I have met with a few advantage players and sessioned with them.

He doesnt expose the hop or the gamblers palm and the palming is only on
the magicians FULL palm. I also feel that Erdnase might have been
employed as a spotter in the gambling halls of his day and then decided to
write a book to help him do lectures and perhaps make more money. If he
was successful at that it is lost in time for now - until someone finds the
clues.

Guest | July 11th, 2005, 10:52 am | link | filter

Glenn,
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I can assure you no insult was meant, Im not sure what it is thats insulted
you, but none was meant in any part of what I said.

Its hard to tell from your quoting of my post what you refer to, this is
because you have taken a few bits from here and there and quoted them
together, and as a result misquoted me. I never put them in that order or in
that relation, so again Im not sure what has offended you.

All T have done is seen your first mention of the use of the shuffle (in
February) and offered a change of thought from someone who knows
otherwise. Then in your more recent description of using the stock it seems
to me that you have read it wrong or dont understand it. Again I mean no
insult or harm in anyway by saying this, I just mean (and meant) to offer
help. Perhaps you do understand the example given in the book and it just
hasnt come across that way in your post, it is possible but it doesnt look that
way.

I can assure you that I understand the description exactly as written and I
also understand the real world use of the shuffle to a fuller extent. I think I
made this clear enough in my examples in my reply post. Perhaps if you do
understand the move correctly you could take the time to check these out
and see where I am coming from.

Perhaps you could read the Erdnase text again and see if perhaps I am right
and you havent picked it up correctly. Perhaps even do this and if you have
understood it read your post again and see why it looks like you dont
understand it to someone who does when reading it.

The bottom of the deck being in play is somewhere in particular that you
should take note on when doing this.

Im also glad you mention the full palm and the hop in the text. They are
very related.

The palms have been designed to immediately follow on from an overhand
shuffle, they flow so beautifully from the shuffle to the cut and to the cut



replacement with the cards actually being palmed for such a very little time.

These palms have been designed specifically for one purpose only, to
combat the cut.

There is mention of holding out during the deal, but even this is related. The
palms flow from the shuffie to the cut and to the deal in perfect naturalness
and complete econemy.

If you run an overhand shuffle, even an honest one, and pause for an instant
as the cards are about to be adjusted into dealing position and look where
they are, they sit in perfect position for the bottom palm first method
(preferably with addition from the final paragraph) to be done as they are
moved to a dealing position. No cop or gamblers palm could be made this
economical, natural and uniform with the honest counterpart for this use. If
you look at the top palm first method you will also see the exact same, the
timing of the palm is a little different but the action is the same, the honest
adjustment from shuffle to dealers grip, the bottom palm under this cover
and the top palm as the same all look identical, they flow and they fit in
with the strictest of card table surroundings. Its details like this that make
me believe that Erdnase wasnt just knowle